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Dear Fellow Shareholders,
2020 was certainly a year of grief for both our nation 
and the world as we saw countless lives lost to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. But once again the self storage 
sector and our company demonstrated resilience in 
the face of economic disruption. The strength of our 
team and our differentiated Participating Regional 
Operator (PRO) structure proved beneficial in both 
mitigating the downside pressure on earnings in 2020 
and delivering a strong recovery in the fourth quarter 
of the year. We finished 2020 with solid internal 
growth in the fourth quarter in addition to having 
our busiest quarter ever in terms of wholly-owned 
acquisitions. Further, we continued our track record 
of increasing our common stock dividend twice per 
year, to a level representing 84% growth since our 
IPO in April 2015.
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In 2020, we invested over $550 million in the acquisition of self storage properties 
and welcomed a new PRO, Blue Sky Self Storage, to the NSA family. We also 
delivered sector-leading double-digit growth in core FFO per share, in part due to 
the successful internalization of our largest PRO, SecurCare. These strong results 
drove an 11.7% total return for NSA shares in 2020, greatly outpacing total 
returns of the MSCI US REIT index (RMZ), which declined 7.6%. 

Our momentum in the fourth quarter has continued into 2021 as occupancy 
remains near all-time highs, and our revenue management strategies continue 
to drive results. We believe the current migration trends to sunbelt, suburban 
and secondary markets—what we call the “Triple S Migration”—will continue 
for the foreseeable future, which provides a nice tailwind to our portfolio 
fundamentals, given our significant exposure to these markets.  

With 2020 marking our five-year anniversary as a public company, it is worth 
highlighting our fundamental outperformance since our IPO compared to our 
publicly traded storage peers. Most notably, during that time, NSA has delivered 
the highest total shareholder return, core FFO per share growth and same store 
NOI growth of our public self storage REIT peers. And we are confident that we 
can continue to deliver excellent results for the foreseeable future.

We are encouraged by the trends currently driving growth in self storage 
demand, including: work from home, learn from home, a booming housing 
market and pandemic-driven business needs. We think these drivers will 
continue to fuel self storage demand throughout the year. Further, 2021 is 
shaping up to be a favorable year for external growth as there is a healthy 
volume of properties coming to market.

Here is what you can expect from us in 2021:

• Continued robust external growth via our multi-faceted acquisition strategy, 
facilitated by our ten PRO acquisition teams in addition to our corporate 
acquisition team;

• Further evolution of our technology platform to drive efficiencies and 
revenue maximization;

• Maintenance of a conservative balance sheet and access to multiple 
sources of capital to support external growth; and

• Continued corporate responsibility, environmental stewardship, social 
responsibility and shareholder driven corporate governance policies.  

Our dedication to our core values of Integrity, Accountability, Humility and 
Compassion forms the foundation of how we operate as a company.   
We look forward to continuing our service as prudent stewards of your  
capital, while keeping the interests of all stakeholders in mind.

In closing, we thank our team members nationwide for their dedication  
and perseverance through a challenging year, our PROs for their leadership, 
our Board of Trustees for their valued counsel and you, our investors, for your 
continued support.

1 Since NSA’s IPO on April 23, 2015 through December 31, 2020.
2Storage Sector Peer Average represents the simple average of CUBE, EXR, LSI and PSA.

Total Shareholder Return (Since IPO–2020)1

Avg. Quarterly Core FFO per Share Growth (2Q15–2020)

Avg. Quarterly SS NOI Growth (2Q15–2020)

50%

2%

1%

0%

0%

0%

National Storage 
Affiliates

National Storage 
Affiliates

National Storage 
Affiliates

Storage Sector 
Peer Average2

Storage Sector 
Peer Average2

Storage Sector 
Peer Average2

100%

4%

2%

150%

6%

3%

200%

8%

4%

250%

10%

5%

300%

12%

6%

14%

7%

Growth in Core FFO per Share2 and  
Dividend per Share

Total Return Performance1

Multi-Faceted Acquisition Strategy  
Drives Growth

More Growth in StoreESG Highlights

IN
D

EX
 V

A
LU

E

PERIOD ENDING

CORE FFO PER SHARE2 DIVIDEND PER SHARE

$0.10

125

$0.05

100

12/31/2012/31/1912/31/1812/31/1712/31/1612/31/15

Q
4-

15

Q
2-

15

Q
2-

16

Q
2-

17

Q
2-

18

Q
2-

19

Q
2-

20

Q
4-

16

Q
4-

17

Q
4-

18

Q
4-

19

Q
4-

20

$0.15

150

175

$0.20

200

$0.25

225

250

$0.30

275

$0.40

$0.50
$0.45

$0.35

300

NATIONAL STORAGE AFFILIATES

1  Assumes $100.00 invested on December 31, 2015, with dividends reinvested. The Performance Graph will 
not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing by NSA under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that NSA specifically 
incorporates the same by reference. 

2  The table above contains a non-GAAP financial measure, Core FFO per share, which is defined in our most recent Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Core FFO per share is presented 
because our management believes it helps investors understand our business, performance and ability to earn and 
distribute cash to our shareholders by providing perspectives not immediately apparent from earnings per share (loss). 
It is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties. The presentation of Core FFO per 
share herein is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information 
prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative measure of liquidity. 
In addition, our definition and method of calculating this measure may be different from those used by other companies, 
and, accordingly, may not be comparable to similar measures as defined and calculated by other companies that do not 
use the same methodology as us. Reconciliations of Core FFO per share to its most directly comparable GAAP measure 
for the three months ended March 31 in each annual period from 2016 through 2020 and the three months ended June 
30, September 30 and December 31 in each annual period from 2015 through 2020 are publicly available on the SEC’s 
website as Exhibit 99.1 on Current Reports on Form 8-K pursuant to Item 2.02, which NSA has furnished to the SEC for 
each applicable quarter end referenced above.

DIVERSITY & INCLUSION
Approximately 58% of our over 
900 employees are women and 
approximately 28% self identified as 
racially or ethnically diverse.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Our ESG steering committee was 
formed in 2019 and reports to the 
CNCG committee of the Board.  
We remain committed to enhancing 
the diversity of our Board of Trustees 
— 27% of our trustees are diverse 
based on gender or race.

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT
NSA provides effective, efficient,  
and engaging learning solutions that 
help our employees train for today, 
learn for tomorrow, and develop for 
the future.

ENERGY SAVINGS
We have completed LED lighting 
retrofit projects at more than 500 
of our properties since October 
2018, with estimated annual energy 
savings of more than 11 million 
kilowatt-hours.

CHARITY INITIATIVES
NSA donates $1 per rental at 
participating stores to Feeding 
America, a nationwide network of 
food banks that feeds more than 40 
million people through food pantries 
and meal programs in communities 
across the U.S. and leads the nation 
in the fight against hunger.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

National Storage Affiliates Trust and its consolidated subsidiaries (the "Company", "NSA," "we," "our", and 
"us") make forward-looking statements in this report that are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward-
looking statements include information about possible or assumed future results of our business, financial condition, 
liquidity, results of operations, plans and objectives. When we use the words "believe," "expect," "anticipate," 
"estimate," "plan," "continue," "intend," "should," "may," or similar expressions, we intend to identify forward-
looking statements.

The forward-looking statements contained in this report reflect our current views about future events and are 
subject to numerous known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions, and changes in circumstances that may 
cause our actual results to differ significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. One of the 
most significant factors is the ongoing and potential impact of the current outbreak of COVID-19 on the economy, 
the self storage industry and the broader financial markets, which may have a significant negative impact on the 
Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The Company is unable to predict whether the 
continuing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic will trigger a further economic slowdown or a recession and to what 
extent the Company will experience disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic. The current outbreak of 
COVID-19 has also impacted, and is likely to continue to impact, directly or indirectly, many of the other important 
factors below and the risks described under Item 1A below, and the Company's subsequent filings under the 
Exchange Act. 

Statements regarding the following subjects, among others, may be forward-looking:

• market trends in our industry, interest rates, the debt and lending markets or the general economy;

• our business and investment strategy;

• the acquisition of properties, including those under contract, and the ability of our acquisitions to 
achieve underwritten capitalization rates and our ability to execute on our acquisition pipeline;

• the internalization of retiring participating regional operators ("PROs") into the Company;

• the timing of acquisitions;

• our relationships with, and our ability and timing to attract additional, PROs;

• our ability to effectively align the interests of our PROs with us and our shareholders;

• the integration of our PROs and their managed portfolios into the Company, including into our financial 
and operational reporting infrastructure and internal control framework;

• our operating performance and projected operating results, including our ability to achieve market rents 
and occupancy levels, reduce operating expenditures and increase the sale of ancillary products and 
services;

• our ability to access additional off-market acquisitions;

• actions and initiatives of the U.S. federal, state and local government and changes to U.S. federal, state 
and local government policies and the execution and impact of these actions, initiatives and policies;

• the state of the U.S. economy generally or in specific geographic regions, states, territories or 
municipalities;

• economic trends and economic recoveries;

• our ability to obtain and maintain financing arrangements on favorable terms;

• general volatility of the securities markets in which we participate;

• the negative impacts from the continued spread of COVID-19 on the economy, the self storage industry, 
the broader financial markets, the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
and the ability of the Company's tenants to pay rent;

• changes in the value of our assets;

• projected capital expenditures;

• the impact of technology on our products, operations, and business;
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• the implementation of our technology and best practices programs (including our ability to effectively 
implement our integrated Internet marketing strategy);

• changes in interest rates and the degree to which our hedging strategies may or may not protect us from 
interest rate volatility;

• impact of and changes in governmental regulations, tax law and rates, accounting guidance and similar 
matters;

• our ability to continue to qualify and maintain our qualification as a real estate investment trust for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes ("REIT");

• availability of qualified personnel;

• the timing of conversions of each series of Class B common units of limited partner interest 
("subordinated performance units") in NSA OP, LP (our "operating partnership") and subsidiaries of 
our operating partnership into Class A common units of limited partner interest ("OP units") in our 
operating partnership, the conversion ratio in effect at such time and the impact of such convertibility on 
our diluted earnings (loss) per share;

• the risks of investing through joint ventures, including whether the anticipated benefits from a joint 
venture are realized or may take longer to realize than expected;

• estimates relating to our ability to make distributions to our shareholders in the future; and

• our understanding of our competition.

The forward-looking statements are based on our beliefs, assumptions and expectations of our future 
performance, taking into account all information currently available to us. Forward-looking statements are not 
predictions of future events. These beliefs, assumptions, and expectations can change as a result of many possible 
events or factors, not all of which are known to us. Readers should carefully review our financial statements and the 
notes thereto, as well as the sections entitled "Business," "Risk Factors," "Properties," and "Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," described in Item 1, Item 1A, Item 2 
and Item 7, respectively, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the other documents we file from time to time with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. If a change occurs, our business, financial condition, liquidity and results 
of operations may vary materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking 
statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made. New risks and uncertainties arise over time, and it is not 
possible for us to predict those events or how they may affect us. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each 
factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ 
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Except as required by law, we are not obligated 
to, and do not intend to, update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise.

PART I
Item 1. Business

General

National Storage Affiliates Trust is a fully integrated, self-administered and self-managed real estate investment 
trust organized in the state of Maryland on May 16, 2013. We have elected and we believe that we have qualified to 
be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 
2015. We serve as the sole general partner of our operating partnership subsidiary, NSA OP, LP (our "operating 
partnership"), a Delaware limited partnership formed on February 13, 2013 to conduct our business, which is 
focused on the ownership, operation, and acquisition of self storage properties located within the top 
100 metropolitan statistical areas ("MSAs") throughout the United States. As of December 31, 2020, we held 
ownership interests in and operated a geographically diversified portfolio of 821 self storage properties, located in 
36 states and Puerto Rico, comprising approximately 52.0 million rentable square feet, configured in approximately 
413,000 storage units. According to the 2021 Self-Storage Almanac, we are the sixth largest owner and operator of 
self storage properties in the United States based on number of properties, self storage units, and rentable square 
footage. We completed our initial public offering in 2015 and our common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par 
value per share ("common shares") are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "NSA."
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Our executive chairman of the board of trustees and former chief executive officer, Arlen D. Nordhagen, co-
founded SecurCare Self Storage, Inc. in 1988 to invest in and manage self storage properties. While growing 
SecurCare to over 150 self storage properties, Mr. Nordhagen recognized a market opportunity for a differentiated 
public self storage REIT that would leverage the benefits of national scale by integrating multiple experienced 
regional self storage operators with local operational focus and expertise. We believe that his vision, which is the 
foundation of the Company, aligns the interests of our participating regional operators ("PROs"), with those of our 
public shareholders by allowing our PROs to participate alongside our shareholders in our financial performance and 
the performance of our PROs' "managed portfolios", which means, with respect to each PRO, the portfolio of 
properties that such PRO manages on our behalf. A key component of this strategy is to capitalize on the local 
market expertise and knowledge of regional self storage operators by maintaining the continuity of their roles as 
property managers.

We believe that our structure creates the right financial incentives to accomplish these objectives. We require 
our PROs to exchange the self storage properties they contribute to the Company for a combination of OP units and 
subordinated performance units in our operating partnership or subsidiaries of our operating partnership that issue 
units intended to be economically equivalent to the OP units and subordinated performance units issued by our 
operating partnership ("DownREIT partnerships"). OP units, which are economically equivalent to our common 
shares, create alignment with the performance of the Company as a whole. Subordinated performance units, which 
are linked to the performance of specific managed portfolios, incentivize our PROs to drive operating performance 
and support the sustainability of the operating cash flow generated by the self storage properties that they manage on 
our behalf. Because subordinated performance unit holders receive distributions only after portfolio-specific 
minimum performance thresholds are satisfied, subordinated performance units play a key role in aligning the 
interests of our PROs with us and our shareholders. Our structure thus offers PROs a unique opportunity to serve as 
regional property managers for their managed portfolios and directly participate in the potential upside of those 
properties while simultaneously diversifying their investment to include a broader portfolio of self storage 
properties. We believe our structure provides us with a competitive growth advantage over self storage companies 
that do not offer property owners the ability to participate in the performance and potential future growth of their 
managed portfolios.

We believe that our national platform has significant potential for continued external and internal growth. We 
seek to further expand our platform by continuing to recruit additional established self storage operators as well as 
opportunistically partnering with institutional funds and other institutional investors in strategic joint venture 
arrangements while integrating our operations through the implementation of centralized initiatives, including 
management information systems, revenue enhancement, and cost optimization programs. We are currently engaged 
in preliminary discussions with additional self storage operators and believe that we could add one to three more 
PROs in addition to the PROs we have currently, which will enhance our existing geographic footprint and allow us 
to enter regional markets in which we currently have limited or no market share. 

On March 31, 2020, we closed on the merger and internalization of the management platform of SecurCare Self 
Storage, Inc. and its controlled affiliates ("SecurCare"), which prior to the merger and internalization was our largest 
PRO. As a result of the merger, we no longer pay any fees or reimbursements to SecurCare and distributions on the 
series of subordinated performance units related to SecurCare's managed portfolio were discontinued. Prior to the 
merger and internalization, SecurCare provided property management services to 217 of our properties located in 
California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, 
South Carolina and Texas. As part of the internalization, we offered and provided employment to most of 
SecurCare's employees, including its president and chief executive officer, David Cramer, and its other key persons, 
to manage SecurCare's portfolio of properties as members of our existing property management platform. Effective 
March 31, 2020, Mr. Cramer replaced Steven B. Treadwell as our chief operating officer and executive vice 
president. 

Our Property Management Platform 

Through our property management platform, we direct, manage and control the day-to-day operations and 
affairs of certain consolidated properties and our unconsolidated real estate ventures under our iStorage and 
SecurCare brands. As of December 31, 2020, our property management platform managed and controlled 282 of our 
consolidated properties and 177 of our unconsolidated real estate venture properties.
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We earn certain customary fees for managing and operating the properties in the unconsolidated real estate 
ventures and we facilitate tenant insurance and/or tenant warranty protection programs for tenants at these properties 
in exchange for half of all proceeds from such programs. 

Our PROs 

The Company had ten PROs as of December 31, 2020: Kevin Howard Real Estate Inc., d/b/a Northwest Self 
Storage and its controlled affiliates ("Northwest"), Optivest Properties LLC and its controlled affiliates ("Optivest"), 
Guardian Storage Centers LLC and its controlled affiliates ("Guardian"), Move It Self Storage and its controlled 
affiliates ("Move It"), Arizona Mini Storage Management Company d/b/a Storage Solutions and its controlled 
affiliates ("Storage Solutions"), Hide-Away Storage Services, Inc. and its controlled affiliates ("Hide-Away"), an 
affiliate of Shader Brothers Corporation d/b/a Personal Mini Storage ("Personal Mini"), Southern Storage 
Management Systems, Inc. d/b/a Southern Self Storage ("Southern"), affiliates of Investment Real Estate 
Management, LLC d/b/a Moove In Self Storage ("Moove In") and Blue Sky Self Storage, a strategic partnership 
between Argus Professional Storage Management and GYS Development LLC ("Blue Sky").

 To capitalize on their recognized and established local brands, our PROs continue to function as property 
managers for their managed portfolios under their existing brands (which include various brands in addition to those 
discussed below). Over the long-run, we may seek to internalize our PROs and brand or co-brand each location as 
part of NSA. 

• Northwest, which is headquartered in Portland, Oregon, is our PRO responsible for covering the northwest 
region. Northwest provided property management services to 84 of our properties located in Idaho, Oregon 
and Washington as of December 31, 2020. Northwest is led by Kevin Howard, a former member of our 
board of trustees, who founded Northwest over 30 years ago and is recognized in the industry for his 
successful track record as a self storage specialist in the areas of design and development, operations and 
property management, consultation, and brokerage.

• Optivest, which is based in Dana Point, California, is one of our PROs responsible for covering portions of 
the northeast and southwest regions. Optivest managed 69 of our properties located in Arizona, California, 
Massachusetts, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Mexico and Texas as of December 31, 2020. Optivest is run 
by its co-founder, Warren Allan, who has more than 25 years of financial and operational management 
experience in the self storage industry and is recognized as a self storage acquisition and development 
specialist. 

• Guardian, which is based in Irvine, California, is one of our PROs responsible for covering portions of the 
southern California and southwest regions. Guardian managed 55 of our properties located in California, 
Arizona and Nevada as of December 31, 2020. Guardian is led by John Minar, who has nearly 40 years of 
self storage acquisition, rehabilitation, ownership, operations and development experience.

• Move It, which is based in Dallas, Texas, is one of our PROs responsible for covering portions of the Texas 
and southeast markets. Move It managed 45 of our properties located in Alabama, Florida, Louisiana, 
Mississippi, Tennessee and Texas as of December 31, 2020. Move It is led by its founder, Tracy Taylor, 
who has more than 40 years of experience in self storage development, acquisition and management, and is 
currently on the board of directors for the Large Owners Council of the Self Storage Association and is a 
former Chairman of the Self Storage Association.

• Storage Solutions, which is based in Chandler, Arizona, is our PRO responsible for covering portions of the 
Arizona and Nevada markets.  Storage Solutions managed 10 of our properties in Arizona and Nevada as of 
December 31, 2020. Storage Solutions is led by its founder, Bill Bohannan, who is one of the largest 
operators in Phoenix and has more than 35 years of self storage acquisition, development and management 
experience. Mr. Bohannan is recognized in the industry as a self storage acquisition, development and 
management specialist.

• Hide-Away, which is based in Sarasota, Florida, is our PRO responsible for covering the western Florida 
market.  Hide-Away managed 22 of our properties in western Florida as of December 31, 2020. Hide-Away 
is led by its founder, Steve Wilson, one of the early developers of the self storage business, who served for 
more than 35 years as the President of Hide-Away and its related entities, and is a former Chairman of the 
Self Storage Association. 
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• Personal Mini, which is based in Orlando, Florida, is our PRO responsible for covering portions of the 
central Florida market. Personal Mini managed eight of our properties in central Florida as of December 31, 
2020. Personal Mini is led by Marc Smith, a self storage investor who has been involved in all facets of the 
self storage business. Mr. Smith is a past Chairman of the Self Storage Association, and also previously 
served as president of the Southeast Region of the Self Storage Association.

• Southern, which is based in Palm Beach Gardens, Florida, is one of our PROs responsible for covering 
portions of Arizona and the southeast region, including New Orleans, the Florida Panhandle, southern 
Georgia, and Puerto Rico. Southern managed 32 of our properties in Arizona, Louisiana, the Florida 
Panhandle, southern Georgia, and Puerto Rico as of December 31, 2020. Southern is led by Bob McIntosh 
and Peter Cowie, who are active real estate operators with more than 30 years of self storage experience. 

• Moove In, which is based in York, Pennsylvania, is our PRO responsible for covering portions of the 
northeast region, including portions of Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, and New Jersey. Moove In managed 
16 of our properties in Connecticut, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Massachusetts, and New Jersey as of 
December 31, 2020. Moove In is led by John Gilliland, a past Chairman of the Self Storage Association.

• Blue Sky, which is a strategic partnership between Argus Professional Storage Management and GYS 
Development LLC and is based in the mountain west, is our PRO responsible for covering portions of 
Kansas, Georgia and Texas. Blue Sky managed four of our properties in Kansas and Texas as of 
December 31, 2020. Blue Sky is led by Lee Fredrick, Ben Vestal and Michael Perry, who have extensive 
experience in acquisition, development and management of self storage properties.

We benefit from the local market knowledge and active presence of our PROs, allowing us to build and foster 
important customer and industry relationships. These local relationships provide attractive off-market acquisition 
opportunities that we believe will continue to fuel additional external growth. 

We believe our structure allows our PROs to optimize their established property management platforms while 
addressing financial and operational hurdles. Before joining us, our PROs faced challenges in securing low cost 
capital and had to manage multiple investors and lending relationships, making it difficult to compete with larger 
competitors, including public REITs, for acquisition and investment opportunities. Our PROs were also limited in 
their ability to raise growth capital through the sale of assets, a portfolio refinancing, or capital contributions from 
new equity partners. Serving as our on-the-ground acquisition teams, our PROs now have access to our broader 
financing sources and lower cost of capital, while our national platform allows them to benefit from economies of 
scale to drive operating efficiencies in a rapidly evolving, technology-driven industry. 

Our Consolidated Properties

We seek to own properties that are well located in high quality sub-markets with highly accessible street access 
and attractive supply and demand characteristics, providing our properties with strong and stable cash flows that are 
less sensitive to the fluctuations of the general economy. Many of these markets have multiple barriers to entry 
against increased supply, including zoning restrictions against new construction and new construction costs that we 
believe are higher than our properties' fair market value. As of December 31, 2020, we owned a geographically 
diversified portfolio of 644 self storage properties, located in 33 states and Puerto Rico, comprising approximately 
39.3 million rentable square feet, configured in approximately 309,000 storage units. Of these properties, 276 were 
acquired by us from our PROs, 367 were acquired by us from third-party sellers and one was acquired by us from 
the 2016 Joint Venture (as defined in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8). A complete listing 
of, and additional information about, our self storage properties is included in Item 2 of this report. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we acquired 77 consolidated self storage properties, of which 11 
were acquired by us from our PROs and 66 were acquired by us from third-party sellers. The following is a 
summary of our 2020 consolidated acquisition activity (dollars in thousands):

Table of Contents
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2018 Joint Venture

As of December 31, 2020, our 2018 Joint Venture (as defined in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements 
in Item 8), in which we have a 25% ownership interest, owned and operated 103 self storage properties containing 
approximately 7.8 million rentable square feet, configured in over 64,000 storage units and located across 17 states. 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, our 2018 Joint Venture acquired one self storage property containing 
less than 0.1 million rentable square feet, configured in approximately 600 storage units, which was combined and is 
being operated together with one of the 2018 Joint Venture's existing properties.

2016 Joint Venture

As of December 31, 2020, our 2016 Joint Venture (as defined in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements 
in Item 8), in which we have a 25% ownership interest, owned and operated a portfolio of 74 properties containing 
approximately 4.9 million rentable square feet, configured in approximately 40,000 storage units and located across 
13 states. During the year ended December 31, 2020, our 2016 Joint Venture acquired two self storage properties 
containing less than 0.1 million rentable square feet, configured in approximately 500 storage units and located in 
one state.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe our unique PRO structure combined with our property management platform allows us to 
differentiate ourselves from other self storage operators, and the following competitive strengths enable us to 
effectively compete against our industry peers:

High Quality Properties in Key Growth Markets.    We held ownership interests in and operated a 
geographically diversified portfolio of 821 self storage properties, located in 36 states and Puerto Rico, comprising 
approximately 52.0 million rentable square feet, configured in approximately 413,000 storage units as of 
December 31, 2020. Over 75% of our consolidated portfolio is located in the top 100 MSAs, based on our 2020 net 
operating income ("NOI"). We believe that these properties are primarily located in high quality growth markets that 
have attractive supply and demand characteristics and are less sensitive to the fluctuations of the general economy. 
Many of these markets have multiple barriers to entry against increased supply, including zoning restrictions against 
new construction and new construction costs that we believe are higher than our properties' fair market value. 
Furthermore, we believe that our significant size and the overall geographic diversification of our portfolio reduces 
risks associated with specific local or regional economic downturns or natural disasters. 

Differentiated, Growth-Oriented Strategy Focused on Established Operators.    We are a self storage REIT 
with a unique structure that supports our differentiated external growth strategy. Our PRO structure appeals to 
operators who are looking for access to growth capital while maintaining an economic stake in the self storage 
properties that each manages on the Company's behalf. These attributes entice operators to join the Company rather 
than sell their properties for cash consideration. Through our PRO structure, we seek to attract operators who are 
confident in the future performance of their properties and desire to participate in the growth of the Company. We 
have successfully recruited established operators across the United States with a history of efficient property 
management and a track record of successful acquisitions. Our structure and differentiated strategy have enabled us 
to build a substantial captive pipeline from existing operators as well as potentially create external growth from the 
recruitment of additional PROs.

Integrated Platform Utilizing Advanced Technology for Enhanced Operational Performance and Best 
Practices.    Our national platform allows us to capture cost savings through integration and centralization, thereby 
eliminating redundancies and utilizing economies of scale across the property management platforms of us and our 
PROs. As compared to a stand-alone operator, our national platform has greater access to lower-cost capital, reduced 
Internet marketing costs per customer lead, discounted property insurance expense, and reduced overhead costs. In 
addition, the Company has sufficient scale for various centralized functions, including financial reporting, the 
operation of call centers, expanding cell tower leasing, a national credit card processing program, marketing, 
information technology, legal support, and capital market functions, to achieve substantial cost savings over smaller, 
individual operators.

Our national platform utilizes advanced technology for our data warehouse program, Internet marketing, our 
centralized call centers, financial and property analytic dashboards, revenue optimization analytics and expense 
management tools to enhance operational performance. These centralized programs, which are run through our 
Technology and Best Practices Group, are positively impacting our business performance, and we believe that they 
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will continue to be a driver of organic growth going forward. We will continue to utilize our Technology and Best 
Practices Group to help us benefit from the collective sharing of key operating strategies among our PROs in areas 
like human resource management, local marketing and operating procedures and building tenant insurance-related 
arrangements.

Aligned Incentive Structure with Shareholder Downside Protection.    Our structure promotes operator 
accountability as subordinated performance units issued to our PROs in exchange for the contribution of their 
properties are entitled to distributions only after those properties satisfy minimum performance thresholds. In the 
event of a material reduction in operating cash flow, distributions on our subordinated performance units will be 
reduced before or disproportionately to distributions on our common shares held by our common shareholders. In 
addition, we expect our PROs will generally co-invest subordinated equity in the form of subordinated performance 
units in each acquisition that they source from a third-party seller, and the value of these subordinated performance 
units will fluctuate with the performance of their managed portfolios. Therefore, our PROs are incentivized to select 
acquisitions that are expected to exceed minimum performance thresholds, thereby increasing the value of their 
subordinated equity stake. We expect that our shareholders will benefit from the higher levels of property 
performance that our PROs are incentivized to deliver.

Our Business and Growth Strategies

By capitalizing on our competitive strengths, we seek to increase scale, achieve optimal revenue-producing 
occupancy and rent levels, and increase long-term shareholder value by achieving sustainable long-term growth. Our 
business and growth strategies to achieve these objectives are as follows:

Maximize Property Level Cash Flow.    We strive to maximize the cash flows at our properties by leveraging 
the economies of scale provided by our national platform, including through the implementation of new ideas 
derived from our Technology and Best Practices Group. We believe that our unique PRO structure, centralized 
infrastructure and efficient national platform will enable us to achieve optimal market rents and occupancy, reduce 
operating expenses and increase the sale by our PROs of ancillary products and services, including tenant insurance, 
of which we receive a portion of the proceeds, truck rentals and packing supplies.

Acquire Built-in Captive Pipeline of Target Properties from Existing PROs.    We have an attractive, high 
quality potential acquisition pipeline (our "captive pipeline") of over 170 self storage properties valued at 
approximately $1.8 billion that will continue to drive our future growth. We consider a property to be in our captive 
pipeline if it (i) is under a management service agreement with one of our PROs, (ii) meets our property quality 
criteria, and (iii) is either required to be offered to us under the applicable facilities portfolio management agreement 
or a PRO has a reasonable basis to believe that the controlling owner of the property intends to sell the property in 
the next seven years.

Our PROs have management service agreements with all of the properties in our captive pipeline and hold 
controlling and non-controlling ownership interests in some of these properties. With respect to each property in our 
captive pipeline in which a PRO holds a controlling ownership interest, such PRO has agreed that it will not transfer 
(or permit the transfer of, to the extent possible) any interest in such self storage property without first offering or 
causing to be offered (if permissible) such interest to us. In addition, upon maturity of the outstanding mortgage 
indebtedness encumbering such property, so long as occupancy is consistent with or exceeds average local market 
levels, which we determine in our sole discretion, such PRO has agreed to offer or cause to be offered (if 
permissible) such interest to us. With respect to captive pipeline properties in which our PROs have a non-
controlling ownership interest or no ownership interest, each PRO has agreed to use commercially reasonable good 
faith efforts to facilitate our purchase of such property. We preserve the discretion to accept or reject any of the 
properties that our PROs are required to, or elect to, offer (or cause to be offered) to us. 

Access Additional Off-Market Acquisition Opportunities.    Our PROs and their "on-the-ground" personnel 
have established an extensive network of industry relationships and contacts in their respective markets. Through 
these local connections, our PROs are able to access acquisition opportunities that are not publicly marketed or sold 
through auctions. Our structure incentivizes our PROs to source acquisitions in their markets from third-party sellers 
and consolidate these properties into the Company. Other public self storage companies generally have acquisition 
teams located at their central offices, which in many instances are far removed from regional and local markets. We 
believe our operators' networks and close familiarity with the other operators in their markets provide us clear 
competitive advantages in identifying and selecting attractive acquisition opportunities. 
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Recruit Additional New PROs in Target Markets.    We intend to continue to execute on our external growth 
strategy through additional acquisitions and contributions from future PROs in key markets. We believe there is 
significant opportunity for growth through consolidation of the highly fragmented composition of the market. We 
believe that future operators will be attracted to our unique structure, providing them with lower cost of capital, 
better economies of scale, and greater operational and overhead efficiencies while preserving their existing property 
management platforms. We intend to add one to three additional PROs to complement our existing geographic 
footprint and to achieve our goal of creating a highly diversified nationwide portfolio of properties focused in the top 
100 MSAs. When considering a PRO candidate, we consider various factors, including the size of the potential 
PRO's portfolio, the quality and location of its properties, its market exposure, its operating expertise, its ability to 
grow its business, and its reputation with industry participants. 

Strategic Joint Venture Arrangements.    We intend to continue to opportunistically partner with institutional 
funds and other institutional investors to acquire attractive portfolios utilizing a promoted return structure.  We 
believe there is significant opportunity for continued external growth by partnering with institutional investors 
seeking to deploy capital in the self storage industry. We intend to leverage our property management platform to 
provide property and asset management services for future strategic joint ventures, generating additional operating 
profits and third party fee income. In addition, we consider the 75% third-party interest in our unconsolidated real 
estate ventures, which currently own 177 properties, to present a potential acquisition opportunity. This 75% third-
party share of gross real estate assets is approximately $1.5 billion based on the historical book value of the joint 
ventures. Were we to pursue an acquisition of these interests, it could potentially drive our future growth.

Our Financing Strategy

We expect to maintain a flexible approach in financing new property acquisitions. In general, we expect to fund 
our property acquisitions through a combination of borrowings under bank credit facilities (including term loans and 
revolving facilities), property-level debt, issuances of OP equity and public and private equity and debt issuances.

As of December 31, 2020, our unsecured credit facility provided for total borrowings of $1.275 billion (the 
"credit facility"). The credit facility consists of the following components: (i) a revolving line of credit (the 
"Revolver") which provides for a total borrowing commitment up to $500.0 million, under which we may borrow, 
repay and re-borrow amounts, (ii) a $125.0 million tranche A term loan facility (the "Term Loan A"), (iii) a $250.0 
million tranche B term loan facility (the "Term Loan B"), (iv) a $225.0 million tranche C term loan facility (the 
"Term Loan C"), and (v) a $175.0 million tranche D term loan facility (the "Term Loan D"). As of December 31, 
2020, we had the entire amounts drawn on Term Loan A, Term Loan B, Term Loan C and Term Loan D and we had 
$174.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the Revolver, and the capacity to borrow an additional $320.3 
million under the Revolver while remaining in compliance with the credit facility's financial covenants. As of 
December 31, 2020, we have an expansion option under the credit facility, which, if exercised in full, would provide 
for a total credit facility of $1.750 billion.

We have a credit agreement with a syndicated group of lenders for a term loan facility that matures in June 2023 
(the "2023 Term Loan Facility") and is separate from the credit facility in an aggregate amount of $175.0 million. As 
of December 31, 2020 the entire amount was outstanding under the 2023 Term Loan Facility with an effective 
interest rate of 2.83%. We have an expansion option under the 2023 Term Loan Facility, which, if exercised in full, 
would provide for total borrowings in an aggregate amount of $400.0 million. 

We have a credit agreement with a lender for a term loan facility that matures in December 2028 (the "2028 
Term Loan Facility") and is separate from the credit facility and 2023 Term Loan Facility in an aggregate amount of 
$75.0 million. As of December 31, 2020 the entire amount was outstanding under the 2028 Term Loan Facility with 
an effective interest rate of 4.62%. We have an expansion option under the 2028 Term Loan Facility, which, if 
exercised in full, would provide for total borrowings in an aggregate amount up to $125.0 million. 

We have a credit agreement with a lender for a term loan facility that matures in April 2029 (the "2029 Term 
Loan Facility") and is separate from the credit facility, 2023 Term Loan Facility and 2028 Term Loan Facility in an 
aggregate amount of $100.0 million. As of December 31, 2020 the entire amount was outstanding under the 2029 
Term Loan Facility with an effective interest rate of 4.27%. 

The credit facility, 2023 Term Loan Facility, 2028 Term Loan Facility, and 2029 Term Loan Facility each 
contain the same financial covenants and customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, 
could limit the Company's ability to make distributions or certain investments, incur debt, incur liens and enter into 
certain transactions. 
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On August 30, 2019, our operating partnership issued $100.0 million of 3.98% senior unsecured notes due 
August 30, 2029 (the "2029 Notes") and $50.0 million of 4.08% senior unsecured notes due August 30, 2031 (the 
"2031 Notes") in a private placement to certain institutional investors. 

On October 22, 2020, our operating partnership issued $150.0 million of 2.99% senior unsecured notes due 
August 5, 2030 (the "2030 Notes") and $100.0 million of 3.09% senior unsecured notes due August 5, 2032 (the 
"2032 Notes" and together with the 2029 Notes, 2030 Notes and 2031 Notes, the "Senior Unsecured Notes") in a 
private placement to certain institutional investors. 

The Senior Unsecured Notes are subject to customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other 
things, limit the Company's ability to make distributions or certain investments, incur debt, incur liens and enter into 
certain transactions.

We expect to employ leverage in our capital structure in amounts determined from time to time by our board of 
trustees. Although our board of trustees has not adopted a policy which limits the total amount of indebtedness that 
we may incur, it will consider a number of factors in evaluating our level of indebtedness from time to time, as well 
as the amount of such indebtedness that will be either fixed and variable-rate, and in making financial decisions, 
including, among others, the following:

• the interest rate of the proposed financing;

• the extent to which the financing impacts our flexibility in managing our properties;

• prepayment penalties and restrictions on refinancing;

• the purchase price of properties we acquire with debt financing;

• our long-term objectives with respect to the financing;

• our target investment returns;

• the ability of particular properties, and the Company as a whole, to generate cash flow sufficient to cover 
expected debt service payments;

• overall level of consolidated indebtedness;

• timing of debt maturities;

• provisions that require recourse and cross-collateralization;

• corporate credit ratios including debt service coverage, debt to total market capitalization and debt to 
undepreciated assets; and

• the overall ratio of fixed- and variable-rate debt.

Our indebtedness may be recourse, non-recourse or cross-collateralized. If the indebtedness is non-recourse, the 
collateral will be limited to the particular properties to which the indebtedness relates. In addition, we may invest in 
properties subject to existing loans secured by mortgages or similar liens on our properties, or may refinance 
properties acquired on a leveraged basis. We may use the proceeds from any borrowings to refinance existing 
indebtedness, to refinance investments, including the redevelopment of existing properties, for general working 
capital or for other purposes when we believe it is advisable.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

In the future, we may adopt a dividend reinvestment plan that will permit shareholders who elect to participate 
in the plan to have their cash dividends reinvested in additional common shares.

Regulation

General

Generally, self storage properties are subject to various laws, ordinances and regulations, including those 
relating to lien sale rights and procedures, public accommodations, insurance, and the environment. Changes in any 
of these laws, ordinances or regulations could increase the potential liability existing or created by tenants or others 
on our properties. Laws, ordinances, or regulations affecting development, construction, operation, upkeep, safety 
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and taxation requirements may result in significant unanticipated expenditures, loss of self storage sites or other 
impairments to operations, which would adversely affect our cash flows from operating activities.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the "ADA"), all places of public accommodation are 
required to meet certain federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. A number of additional 
U.S. federal, state and local laws may also require modifications to our properties, or restrict certain further 
renovations of the properties, with respect to access thereto by disabled persons.  The ADA or these other laws may 
also apply to our website.  For additional information on the ADA, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to 
Our Business—Costs associated with complying with the ADA may result in unanticipated expenses."

Insurance activities are subject to state insurance laws and regulations as determined by the particular insurance 
commissioner for each state in accordance with the McCarran-Ferguson Act, as well as subject to the Gramm-
Leach-Bliley Act and the privacy regulations promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission pursuant thereto. 

Under various U.S. federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, owners and operators of real estate 
may be liable for the costs of investigating and remediating certain hazardous substances or other regulated materials 
on or in such property. The Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as 
amended ("CERCLA") and comparable state laws typically impose strict joint and several liabilities without regard 
to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such substances or materials. The 
presence of such substances or materials, or the failure to properly remediate such substances, may adversely affect 
the owner's or operator's ability to lease, sell or rent such property or to borrow using such property as collateral. 
Persons who arrange for the disposal or treatment of hazardous substances or other regulated materials may be liable 
for the costs of removal or remediation of such substances at a disposal or treatment facility, whether or not such 
facility is owned or operated by such person. Certain environmental laws impose liability for release of asbestos-
containing materials into the air and third-parties may seek recovery from owners or operators of real properties for 
personal injury associated with asbestos-containing materials.  Certain environmental laws also impose liability, 
without regard to knowledge or fault, for removal or remediation of hazardous substances or other regulated 
materials upon owners and operators of contaminated property.  Moreover, the past or present owner or operator of a 
property from which a release emanates could be liable for any personal injuries or property damages that may result 
from such releases, as well as any damages to natural resources that may arise from such releases. Certain 
environmental laws impose compliance obligations on owners and operators of real property with respect to the 
management of hazardous materials and other regulated substances. For example, environmental laws govern the 
management of asbestos-containing materials and lead-based paint. Failure to comply with these laws can result in 
penalties or other sanctions. In connection with the ownership, operation and management of our current or past 
properties and any properties that we may acquire and/or manage in the future, we could be legally responsible for 
environmental liabilities or costs relating to a release of hazardous substances or other regulated materials at or 
emanating from such property.  In order to assess the potential for such liability, we conduct an environmental 
assessment of each property prior to acquisition and manage our properties in accordance with environmental laws 
while we own or operate them. We have engaged qualified, reputable and adequately insured environmental 
consulting firms to perform environmental site assessments of all of our properties prior to acquisition and are not 
aware of any environmental issues that are expected to materially impact the operations of any property. For 
additional information on environmental matters and regulation, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our 
Business—Environmental compliance costs and liabilities associated with operating our properties may affect our 
results of operations."

Property management activities are often subject to state real estate brokerage laws and regulations as 
determined by the particular real estate commission for each state.

REIT Qualification

We have elected and we believe that we have qualified to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended, (the "Code"), commencing with our taxable year ended on December 31, 2015. We generally 
will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our net taxable income to the extent that we distribute annually all 
of our net taxable income to our shareholders and maintain our qualification as a REIT. We believe that we have 
been organized and have operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT 
under the Code, and we expect that our intended manner of operation will enable us to continue to meet the 
requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT. To qualify, and maintain our qualification, as a REIT, we 
must meet on a continuing basis, through our organization and actual investment and operating results, various 
requirements under the Code relating to, among other things, the sources of our gross income, the composition and 
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values of our assets, our distribution levels and the diversity of ownership of our shares. If we fail to qualify as a 
REIT in any taxable year and do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we will be subject to U.S. federal 
income tax at regular corporate rates and may be precluded from qualifying as a REIT for the subsequent four 
taxable years following the year during which we failed to qualify as a REIT. Even if we qualify for taxation as a 
REIT, we still may be subject to some U.S. federal, state and local taxes on our income or assets. In addition, subject 
to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, a portion of our business is conducted through, and a portion of our 
income is earned by, one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs"), which are subject to U.S. federal corporate 
income tax at regular rates. Distributions paid by us generally will not be eligible for taxation at the preferential U.S. 
federal income tax rates that currently apply to certain distributions received by individuals from taxable 
corporations, unless such distributions are attributable to dividends received by us from a TRS. 

U.S. Federal Income Tax Legislation

On December 22, 2017, Congress enacted H.R. 1, also known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 ("TCJA").  
The TCJA made major changes to the Internal Revenue Code, including the reduction of the tax rates applicable to 
individuals and subchapter C corporations, a reduction or elimination of certain deductions (including new 
limitations on the deductibility of interest expense), permitting immediate expensing of capital expenditures and 
significant changes in the taxation of earnings from non-U.S. sources.  The effect of the significant changes made by 
the TCJA remains uncertain, and additional administrative guidance is still required in order to fully evaluate the 
effect of many provisions. In addition, final regulations implementing certain of these new rules have not yet been 
issued and additional changes or corrections may still be forthcoming. While we do not currently expect this reform 
to have a significant impact to the Company's consolidated financial statements, stockholders are urged to consult 
with their tax advisors regarding the effects of the TCJA or other legislative, regulatory or administrative 
developments on an investment in the Company's common stock. 

Competition

We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities for customers and acquisitions 
of self storage properties and other assets, including national, regional, and local owners, operators, and developers 
of self storage properties. We compete based on a number of factors including location, rental rates, security, 
suitability of the property's design to prospective tenants' needs, and the manner in which the property is operated 
and marketed. We believe that the primary competition for potential customers comes from other self storage 
properties within a three to five mile radius. We have positioned our properties within their respective markets as 
high-quality operations that emphasize tenant convenience, security, and professionalism.

We also may compete with numerous other potential buyers when pursuing a possible property for acquisition, 
which can increase the potential cost of a project. These competing bidders also may possess greater resources, or 
have a lower cost of capital, than us and therefore be in a better position to acquire a property. However, our use of 
OP units and subordinated performance units as transactional currency allows us to structure our acquisitions in tax-
deferred transactions. As a result, potential targets who are tax-sensitive might favor us as a suitor.

Our primary national competitors in many of our markets for both tenants and acquisition opportunities include 
local and regional operators, institutional investors, private equity funds, as well as the other public self storage 
REITs, including Public Storage, CubeSmart, Extra Space Storage Inc. and Life Storage, Inc.  These entities also 
seek financing through similar channels to the Company. Therefore, we will continue to compete for institutional 
investors in a market where funds for real estate investment may decrease.

Human Capital

We seek to foster a diverse and inclusive work environment that values each individual team member’s talents 
and contributions, while channeling those efforts toward our common core values of integrity, accountability, 
humility and compassion. Our success relies on the the general professionalism of our and our PRO's site managers 
and staff which are contributing factors to a site's ability to successfully secure rentals, retain tenants and maintain 
clean and secure self storage properties. We seek to increase employee retention and well-being and our team 
members enjoy a robust benefit package that includes medical, dental, vision, life insurance, 401K with matching 
employer contribution and a performance-based bonus incentive plan. We also seek to promote diversity among our 
employees and management team. As of December 31, 2020, approximately 58% of our employees were women 
and 33% of our senior management team (Director level and above) were women, including Tamara Fischer, our 
President, Chief Executive Officer and member of our Board of Trustees.
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As of December 31, 2020, we had 924 employees, which includes employees of our property management 
platform but does not include persons employed by our PROs. As of December 31, 2020, our PROs, collectively, 
had approximately 760 full-time and part-time employees involved in management, operations, and reporting with 
respect to our self storage property portfolio.

Available Information

We file registration statements, proxy statements, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on 
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those statements and reports with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Investors may obtain copies of these statements and reports by accessing 
the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Our statements and reports and any amendments to any of those statements and 
reports that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission are available free of charge as soon as reasonably 
practicable on our website at www.nationalstorageaffiliates.com. The information contained on our website is not 
incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our common shares are listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the symbol "NSA." 

Item 1A. Risk Factors

 An investment in our common shares involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision, you 
should carefully consider the following risk factors, together with the other information contained in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K. If any of the risks discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K occurs, our business, 
financial condition, liquidity and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. 

Risks Related to our Business

Adverse economic or other conditions in the markets in which we do business and more broadly associated with 
the real estate industry could negatively affect our occupancy levels and rental rates and therefore our operating 
results and the value of our self storage properties.

Our operating results are dependent upon our ability to achieve optimal occupancy levels and rental rates at our 
self storage properties. Adverse economic or other conditions in the markets in which we do business, particularly in 
our markets in California, Texas, Florida, Oregon, Georgia, Arizona and North Carolina, which accounted for 
approximately 20%, 13%, 11%, 10%, 6%, 6% and 5%, respectively, of our total rental and other property-related 
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020, may lower our occupancy levels and limit our ability to maintain or 
increase rents or require us to offer rental discounts. No single customer represented a significant concentration of 
our 2020 revenues. However, our property portfolio, consists solely of self storage properties and is therefore subject 
to risks inherent in investments in a single industry. The following adverse developments, among others, in the 
markets in which we do business may adversely affect the operating performance of our properties: 

• business layoffs or downsizing, industry slowdowns, relocation of businesses and changing demographics; 

• periods of economic slowdown or recession, declining demand for self storage generally or in a particular 
area or the public perception that any of these events may occur; 

• local or regional real estate market conditions, such as competing properties or products, the oversupply of 
self storage, or vacancies or changes in self storage space market rents; 

• perceptions by prospective tenants of the safety, convenience and attractiveness of our properties and the 
neighborhoods in which they are located; and

• other events affecting or shifting consumer discretionary spending. 

Any of the above events may reduce our rental revenues, impair our operating results, and reduce our ability to 
satisfy our debt service obligations and make cash distributions to our shareholders, and the effect of the foregoing 
may be greater than it would be were our investments not limited to a single industry. 
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We may not be successful in identifying and consummating suitable acquisitions, adding additional suitable new 
PROs, or integrating and operating such acquisitions, including integrating them into our financial and 
operational reporting infrastructure and internal control framework in a timely manner, which may impede our 
growth.

Our ability to expand through acquisitions is integral to our business strategy and requires us to identify suitable 
acquisition candidates or investment opportunities that meet our criteria and are compatible with our growth 
strategy. We may not be successful in identifying suitable properties or other assets that meet our acquisition criteria 
or in consummating acquisitions on satisfactory terms or at all. Failure to identify or consummate acquisitions will 
slow our growth, which could in turn adversely affect our share price.

For the potential acquisitions in our captive pipeline, we have not entered into negotiations with the respective 
owners of these properties and there can be no assurance as to whether we will acquire any of these properties or the 
actual timing of any such acquisitions. Each captive pipeline property is subject to additional due diligence and the 
determination by us to pursue the acquisition of the property. In addition, with respect to the captive pipeline 
properties in which our PROs have a non-controlling ownership interest or no ownership interest, the current owner 
of each property is not required to offer such property to us and there can be no assurance that we will acquire these 
properties. 

Our ability to acquire properties on favorable terms and successfully integrate and operate them, including 
integrating them into our financial and operational reporting infrastructure in a timely manner, may be constrained 
by the following significant risks:

• we face competition from national, regional and local owners, operators and developers of self storage 
properties, which may result in higher property acquisition prices and reduced yields; 

• we may not be able to achieve satisfactory completion of due diligence investigations and other customary 
closing conditions; 

• we may fail to finance an acquisition on favorable terms or at all; 

• we may spend more time and incur more costs than budgeted to make necessary improvements or 
renovations to, and to integrate and operate, acquired properties; and

• we may acquire properties subject to liabilities without any recourse, or with only limited recourse, with 
respect to unknown liabilities such as liabilities for clean-up of undisclosed environmental contamination, 
tax liabilities, claims by persons dealing with the former owners of the properties and claims for 
indemnification by general partners, trustees, officers and others indemnified by the former owners of the 
properties.  

The contributors of properties may make limited representations and warranties to us about the properties and 
may agree to indemnify us up to a specified amount for a certain period of time following the closing for breaches of 
those representations and warranties. However, any resulting liabilities identified may not fall within the scope or 
time frame covered by the indemnification, and we may be required to bear those liabilities, which may materially 
and adversely affect our operating results, financial condition and business. 

We face competition for tenants.

We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities for tenants, including national, 
regional and local owners, operators and developers of self storage properties. Actions by our competitors may 
decrease or prevent increases in the occupancy and rental rates, while increasing the operating expenses of our 
properties. 

Increases in taxes and regulatory compliance costs, including as a result of changes in law or property 
reassessments, may reduce our income and adversely impact our cash flows.

Increases in income or other taxes generally are not passed through to tenants under leases and may reduce our 
net income, funds from operations ("FFO"), cash flows, financial condition, ability to pay or refinance our debt 
obligations, ability to make cash distributions to shareholders, and the trading price of our securities.  

In addition, the value of our properties may be reassessed for property tax purposes by taxing authorities 
including as a result of our acquisition activities. For example, our property taxes could increase due to changes in 
tax rates or removal of limitations on the amount by which our property taxes or property reassessments may 
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increase. For example, in November 2020, there was an initiative in California, which did not pass, to remove 
certain limits on annual real estate tax increases of assessed value of real property. To the extent a similar future 
initiative is successful, it would increase the assessed value and/or tax rates applicable to self storage properties in 
California. We currently have 83 consolidated properties and 12 unconsolidated properties in California. 
Accordingly, the amount of property taxes we pay in the future may increase substantially from what we have paid 
in the past or from what we expected in connection with our underwriting activities, which could adversely impact 
our operating results, cash flow, and our ability to pay any expected dividends to our shareholders.  

Similarly, in response to facing severe budgetary problems, many states and jurisdictions are considering or 
implementing changes in laws such as increasing sales taxes, increasing the potential liability for environmental 
conditions existing on properties, increasing the restrictions on discharges or other conditions, or mandating paid 
family leave for employees, which may result in significant unanticipated expenditures, which could result in similar 
adverse effects.

Our storage leases are relatively short-term in nature, which exposes us to the risk that we may have to release 
our units and we may be unable to do so on attractive terms, on a timely basis or at all.

Our storage leases are relatively short-term in nature, typically month-to-month, which exposes us to the risk 
that we may have to re-lease our units frequently and we may be unable to do so on attractive terms, on a timely 
basis or at all. Because these leases generally permit the tenant to leave at the end of the month without penalty, our 
revenues and operating results may be impacted by declines in market rental rates more quickly than if our leases 
were for longer terms. In addition, any delay in re-leasing units as vacancies arise would reduce our revenues and 
harm our operating results.

Security breaches through cyber-attacks, cyber-intrusions, or other methods could disrupt our information 
technology networks and related systems.

We and our PROs are increasingly dependent upon automated information technology processes and Internet 
commerce, and many of our and their tenants come from the telephone or over the Internet. Moreover, the nature of 
our and our PROs' business involves the receipt and retention of certain personal information about such tenants. In 
many cases, we and our PROs also rely significantly on third-party vendors to retain data, process transactions and 
provide other systems services. Our networks and operations could be disrupted, and sensitive data could be 
compromised, by physical or electronic security breaches, targeted against us, our PROs, our vendors or other 
organizations, including financial markets or institutions, including by way of or through cyber-attacks or cyber-
intrusions over the Internet, malware, computer viruses, attachments to e-mails, phishing, employee theft or misuse, 
or inadequate security controls. Although we make efforts to protect the security and integrity of our networks and 
systems, there can be no assurance that these efforts and measures will be effective or that attempted security 
breaches or disruptions would not be successful, as such attacks and breaches may be difficult to detect (or not 
detected at all) and are becoming more sophisticated. In such event, we may experience business interruptions; data 
loss, ransom, misappropriation, or corruption; theft or misuse of confidential or proprietary information; or litigation 
and investigation by tenants, governmental or regulatory agencies, or other third parties, which could result in the 
payment of fines, penalties and other damages. Such events could also have other adverse impacts on us, including 
breaches of debt covenants, other contractual or REIT compliance obligations, or late or misstated financial reports, 
and significant diversion of management attention and resources. As a result, such events could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and harm our business reputation or 
have such effects on our PROs.

Costs associated with complying with the ADA may result in unanticipated expenses. 

Under the ADA and other federal, state and local laws, we are required to meet certain requirements related to 
access and use by disabled persons. Noncompliance with the ADA could result in the imposition of fines or an 
award of damages to private litigants and also could result in an order to correct any non-complying feature, which 
could result in substantial capital expenditures. If one or more of our properties or website is not in compliance with 
the ADA or similar laws, then we would be required to incur additional costs to bring the property or website into 
compliance. If we incur such costs and they are substantial, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, 
per share trading price of our common shares and our ability to satisfy our debt service obligations and to make cash 
distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.
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Environmental compliance costs and liabilities associated with operating our properties may affect our results of 
operations.

Under various U.S. federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, owners and 
operators of real estate may be liable for the costs of investigating and remediating certain hazardous substances or 
other regulated materials on or in such property.  No assurances can be given that existing environmental studies 
with respect to any of our properties reveal all environmental liabilities, that any prior owner or operator of our 
properties did not create any material environmental condition not known to us, or that a material environmental 
condition does not otherwise exist as to any one or more of our properties. There also exists the risk that material 
environmental conditions, liabilities or compliance concerns may have arisen after the review was completed or may 
arise in the future. Finally, future laws, ordinances or regulations and future interpretations of existing laws, 
ordinances or regulations may impose additional material environmental liability.

We and certain of our PROs have tenant insurance- and/or tenant protection plan-related arrangements that are 
in some cases subject to state-specific governmental regulation, which may adversely affect our results.

We and certain of our PROs have tenant insurance- and/or tenant protection plan-related arrangements with 
regulated insurance companies and our tenants. Some of our PROs earn access fees in connection with these 
arrangements.  We receive a portion of the fees from these PROs. The tenant insurance and tenant protection plan 
businesses, including the payments associated with these arrangements, are in some cases subject to state-specific 
governmental regulation. State regulatory authorities generally have broad discretion to grant, renew and revoke 
licenses and approvals, to promulgate, interpret and implement regulations, and to evaluate compliance with 
regulations through periodic examinations, audits and investigations of the affairs of insurance industry participants. 
Although these arrangements are managed by our property management platform and/or certain of our PROs who 
have developed marketing programs and management procedures to navigate the regulatory environment, as a result 
of regulatory or private action in any jurisdiction in which we operate, we may be temporarily or permanently 
suspended from continuing some or all of our tenant insurance- and/or tenant protection plan-related activities, or 
otherwise fined or penalized or suffer an adverse judgment, which could adversely affect our business and results of 
operations.

Privacy concerns could result in regulatory changes that may harm our business.

Personal privacy has become a significant issue in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Many jurisdictions in 
which we operate have imposed or in the future may impose restrictions and requirements on the use of personal 
information by those collecting such information. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, which 
became effective as of January 1, 2020, together with the recently enacted California Privacy Rights Act, provides 
consumers with expansive rights and control over personal information obtained by or shared with certain covered 
businesses. Changes to law or regulations or the passage of new laws affecting privacy, if applicable to our business, 
could impose additional costs and liability on us and could limit our use and disclosure of such information.

Uninsured losses or losses in excess of our insurance coverage could adversely affect our financial condition, 
operating results and cash flow.

We maintain comprehensive liability, fire, flood, earthquake, wind (as deemed necessary or as required by our 
lenders), extended coverage and rental loss insurance with respect to our properties. Certain types of losses, 
however, may be either uninsurable or not economically insurable either in total or in part (due to location or 
otherwise), such as losses due to earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, riots, acts of war or terrorism. Should an 
uninsured loss occur, we could lose both our investment in and anticipated profits and cash flow from a property. In 
addition, if any such loss is insured, we may be required to pay significant amounts on any claim for recovery of 
such a loss prior to our insurer being obligated to reimburse us for the loss, or the amount of the loss may exceed our 
coverage for the loss. We currently self-insure a portion of our commercial insurance deductible risk through our 
captive insurance company. To the extent that our captive insurance company is unable to bear that risk, we may be 
required to fund additional capital to our captive insurance company or we may be required to bear that loss. As a 
result, our operating results may be adversely affected.

Illiquidity of real estate investments could significantly impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the 
performance of our properties.

Because real estate investments are relatively illiquid and we have agreed and may in the future agree to certain 
transfer restrictions with respect to our properties, our ability to promptly sell one or more properties in our portfolio 
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in response to changing economic, financial and investment conditions is limited. The real estate market is affected 
by many factors, such as general economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and other factors, 
including supply and demand, that are beyond our control. We cannot predict whether we will be able to sell any 
property for the price or on the terms set by us or whether any price or other terms offered by a prospective 
purchaser would be acceptable to us. We also cannot predict the length of time needed to find a willing purchaser 
and to close the sale of a property. In addition, we may be required to expend funds to correct defects or to make 
improvements before a property can be sold. We cannot assure you that we will have funds available to correct those 
defects or to make those improvements. 

Our business could be harmed if key personnel terminate their employment with us.

Our success depends, to a significant extent, on the continued services of Arlen D. Nordhagen, Tamara D. 
Fischer, David Cramer and Brandon S. Togashi and the other members of our senior management team. We have 
entered into employment agreements with Mr. Nordhagen, Ms. Fischer, Mr. Cramer and Mr. Togashi and these 
employment agreements provide for an initial one-year term of employment and automatic one-year extensions 
thereafter unless either party provides at least 90 days' notice of non-renewal. Notwithstanding these agreements, 
there can be no assurance that any of them will remain employed by us. The loss of services of one or more 
members of our senior management team could harm our business and our prospects.

We invest in strategic joint ventures that subject us to additional risks.

Some of our investments are, and in the future may be, structured as strategic joint ventures. Part of our strategy 
is to opportunistically partner with institutional funds and other institutional investors to acquire attractive portfolios 
through a promoted return structure. These arrangements are driven by the magnitude of capital required to complete 
the acquisitions and maintain the acquired portfolios. Such arrangements involve risks not present where a third 
party is not involved, including the possibility that partners or co-venturers might become bankrupt or otherwise fail 
to fund their share of required capital contributions. Additionally, partners or co-venturers might at any time have 
economic or other business interests or goals different from us and or in competition with us.

Joint ventures generally provide for a reduced level of control over an acquired project because governance 
rights are shared with others. Accordingly, certain major decisions relating to joint ventures, including decisions 
relating to, among other things, the approval of annual budgets, sales and acquisitions of properties, financings, and 
certain actions relating to bankruptcy, are often made by a majority vote of the investors or by separate agreements 
that are reached with respect to individual decisions. In addition, such decisions may be subject to the risk that the 
partners or co-venturers may make business, financial or management decisions with which we do not agree or take 
risks or otherwise act in a manner that does not serve our best interests. Because we may not have the ability to 
exercise control over such operations, we may not be able to realize some or all of the benefits that we believe will 
be created from our involvement. At times, we and our partners or co-venturers may also each have the right to 
trigger a buy-sell arrangement, which could cause us to sell our interest, or acquire our partners' or co-venturers' 
interest, at a time when we otherwise would not have initiated such a transaction. If any of the foregoing were to 
occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer as a result.

The current outbreak of COVID-19 or the future outbreak of any other highly infectious or contagious diseases, 
could adversely impact or cause significant disruption to our financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

We face various risks related to pandemics, epidemics and other outbreaks of highly infectious or contagious 
diseases, including the current global outbreak of COVID-19. As a result of the significant adverse impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic to economic activity across the globe, the COVID-19 pandemic, and any future outbreak of 
another disease, could adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows due to, among 
other factors, the following: 

• our tenants may be unable to meet their obligations to us in full, or at all, or may seek modifications of such 
obligations, which could increase uncollectible receivables and cause subsequent reductions in revenue; 

• reduced economic activity could result in a prolonged recession, which could negatively impact consumer 
discretionary spending, a reduction in move-ins at our stores or increase uncollectible receivables; 

• governmental or health and safety requirements or recommendations could compel a complete or partial 
closure of, or other operational issues at, our properties or prohibit us from charging late fees, conducting 
auctions and increasing prices; 
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• a general decline in business activity and demand for property acquisitions, expansions, and the addition of 
new PROs and/or joint venture partners; 

• interrupted availability of, including the potential for a negative health impact on, our or our PRO's 
personnel, could result in a deterioration in our ability to ensure business continuity;  

• the inability of other third-party vendors we rely on to conduct our business to operate effectively and 
continue to support our business and operations; 

• difficulty accessing debt and equity capital on attractive terms, or at all, and severe disruption or instability 
in the financial markets or a deterioration in credit and financing conditions may affect our access to capital 
necessary to fund our business; and 

• the financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including potential decreases in cash from operations 
resulting therefrom, could negatively impact our future compliance with the financial covenants in our debt 
agreements and result in a default and potential acceleration of indebtedness, which could negatively 
impact our ability to make additional borrowings under our revolving credit facility and pay dividends. 

The factors described above, as well as additional factors that we may not currently be aware of, could 
materially negatively impact our ability to collect rent and could lead to termination of leases by tenants, tenant 
defaults, tenant bankruptcies, decreases in demand for storage space at our properties, difficulties in accessing 
capital, impairment of our tangible or intangible assets and other impacts that could materially and adversely affect 
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, to the extent the COVID-19 pandemic or a 
future outbreak of another disease adversely affects our business and financial results it may heighten other risks 
described in the Risk Factors section in the Annual Report.

Risks Related to Our Structure and Our Relationships with Our PROs

Some of our PROs have limited experience operating under our capital structure, and we may not be able to 
achieve the desired outcomes that the structure is intended to produce. 

Some of our PROs have limited experience operating under our capital structure. As a means of incentivizing 
our PROs to drive operating performance and support the sustainability of the operating cash flow from the 
properties they manage on our behalf, we issued each PRO subordinated performance units aimed at aligning the 
interests of our PROs with our interests and those of our shareholders. The subordinated performance units are 
entitled to distributions exclusively tied to the performance of each PRO's managed portfolios but only after 
minimum performance thresholds are satisfied. Our issuance of such units, however, may have been and could be 
based on inaccurate valuations and thus misallocated, which would limit or eliminate the effectiveness of our 
intended incentive-based program. 

We are restricted in making certain property sales on account of agreements with our PROs that may require us 
to keep certain properties that we would otherwise sell.

The partnership unit designations related to our subordinated performance units provide that, until March 31, 
2023, our operating partnership may not sell, dispose or otherwise transfer any property that is a part of the 
applicable self storage property portfolio relating to a series of subordinated performance units without the consent 
of the partners (including us) holding at least 50% of the then outstanding OP units and the consent of partners 
holding at least 50% of the then outstanding series of subordinated performance units that relate to the applicable 
property, except for sales, dispositions or other transfers of a property to wholly owned subsidiaries of our operating 
partnership. This restriction may require us to keep certain properties that we would otherwise sell, which could 
have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, cash flow and ability to execute our business 
plan. In addition, we may enter into agreements with future PROs that contain the same or similar restrictions or that 
impose such restrictions for different periods.

Our ability to terminate our facilities portfolio management agreements ("FPMAs") and asset management 
agreements ("AMAs") with a PRO is limited, which may adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan.

We may elect to terminate our FPMAs and AMAs with a PRO and transfer property management 
responsibilities over the properties managed by such PRO to us (or our designee), (i) upon certain defaults by a PRO 
as set forth in these agreements, or (ii) if the PRO's properties, on a portfolio basis, fail to meet certain pre-
determined performance thresholds for more than two consecutive calendar years or if the operating cash flow 
generated by the properties of the PRO for any calendar year falls below a level that will enable us to fund minimum 
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levels of distributions, debt service payments attributable to the properties, and fund the properties' allocable 
operating expenses. Consequently, to the extent a PRO complies with these covenants, standards, and minimum 
requirements, we may not be able to terminate the applicable FPMAs and AMAs and transfer property management 
responsibilities over such properties to us (or our designee) even if our board believes that such PRO is not properly 
executing our business plan and/or is failing to operate its properties to their full potential. Moreover, transferring 
the management responsibilities over the properties managed by a PRO may be costly or difficult to implement or 
may be delayed, even if we are able to and believe that such a change in portfolio and property management would 
be beneficial to us and our shareholders.

We may less vigorously pursue enforcement of terms of agreements entered into with our PROs because of 
conflicts of interest with our PROs.

Our PROs are entities that have contributed self storage properties to us in exchange for ownership interests in 
us. As part of each transaction, our PROs make limited representations to us regarding the entities, properties and 
other assets to be acquired by us in the contribution and generally agree to indemnify us for 12 months after the 
closing of the contribution for breaches of such representations. Such indemnification is limited, however, and we 
are not entitled to any other indemnification in connection with the contributions. In addition, following each 
contribution from a PRO, the day-to-day operations of each of the managed properties will be managed by the PRO 
who was the principal of the applicable property portfolios prior to the contribution. In addition, certain key persons 
of our PROs are members of our board or our PRO advisory committee. Consequently, we may choose not to 
enforce, or to enforce less vigorously, our rights under these agreements and any other agreements with our PROs 
due to our desire to maintain our ongoing relationship with our PROs, which could adversely affect our operating 
results and business.  

We own self storage properties in some of the same geographic regions as our PROs and may compete for tenants 
with other properties managed by our PROs.

Pursuant to our FPMAs, each PRO has agreed that, without our consent, the PRO will not, and it will cause its 
affiliates (other than Blue Sky's sub-manager) not to, enter into any new arrangements for the management of 
additional self storage properties within any PRO's assigned territory. However, we have not and will not acquire all 
of the self storage properties of our PROs. We will therefore own self storage properties in some of the same 
geographic regions as our PROs, and, as a result, we and our PROs may compete for tenants. This competition may 
affect our ability to attract and retain tenants and may reduce the rental rates we are able to charge, which could 
adversely affect our operating results and business.

Our PROs may engage in other activities, diverting their attention from the management of our properties, which 
could adversely affect the execution of our business plan and our operating results.

Our PROs and their employees and personnel are in the business of managing self storage properties. We have 
agreed that our PROs may continue to manage properties not included in our portfolio, and our PROs are not 
obligated to dedicate any specific employees or personnel exclusively to the management of our properties. As a 
result, their time and efforts may be diverted from the management of our properties, which could adversely affect 
the execution of our business plan and our operating results.

When a PRO elects or is required to "retire" we may become exposed to new and additional costs and risks.

Under our FPMAs, after a two-year period following the initial contribution of their properties to us, a PRO 
may elect, or be required, to "retire" from the self storage business. Upon a retirement event, management of the 
properties will be transferred to us (or our designee) in exchange for OP units with a value equal to four times the 
average of the normalized annual EBITDA from the management contracts related to such PRO's managed portfolio 
over the immediately preceding 24-month period. As a result of this transfer, we may become exposed to new and 
additional costs and risks. Accordingly, the retirement of a PRO may adversely affect our financial condition and 
operating results. For example, in connection with our internalization of a retiring PRO, there can be no assurance 
that we will be able to retain such retiring PRO's employees, successfully hire new employees, or effectively 
integrate such employees and the retiring PRO's property management platform into our or another PRO's property 
management platform.
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Our contribution transactions were generally not negotiated on an arm's-length basis and may not be as 
favorable to us as if they had been negotiated with unaffiliated third parties.

We did not conduct arm's-length negotiations with certain of the parties involved regarding the terms of our 
contribution transactions, including the contribution agreements, FPMAs, sales commission agreements, AMAs and 
registration rights agreements. In the course of structuring such transactions, certain members of our senior 
management team and other contributors had the ability to influence the type and level of benefits that they received 
from us. Accordingly, the terms of such transactions may not solely reflect the best interests of us or our 
shareholders and may be overly favorable to the other party to such transactions and agreements.

Conflicts of interest could arise with respect to certain transactions between the holders of OP units and 
subordinated performance units, which include our PROs, on the one hand, and us and our shareholders, on the 
other.

Conflicts of interest could arise with respect to the interests of holders of OP units and subordinated 
performance units, on the one hand, which include members of our senior management team, PROs, and trustees 
and us and our shareholders, on the other. Certain business combinations, the sale, disposition or transfer of certain 
of our assets or the repayment of certain indebtedness that may be desirable to us and our shareholders could have 
adverse tax consequences to such unit holders. In addition, under Maryland law, our trustees and officers have duties 
to the Company in connection with their management of the Company, however, under Delaware law, as a general 
partner, we have fiduciary duties to our operating partnership and to the limited partners in connection with the 
management of our operating partnership. Our duties as a general partner may come into conflict with the duties of 
our trustees and officers to the Company and our shareholders and we are not required to resolve such conflicts in 
favor of either the Company or the limited partners in our operating partnership. Further, there can be no assurance 
that any procedural protections we implement to address these or other conflicts of interest will result in optimal 
outcomes for us and our shareholders.

The partnership agreement of our operating partnership contains provisions that may delay, defer or prevent a 
change in control.

The partnership agreement of our operating partnership provides that subordinated performance unit holders 
holding more than 50% of the voting power of the subordinated performance units must approve certain change of 
control transactions involving us unless, as a result of such transactions, the holders of subordinated performance 
units are offered a choice (1) to allow their subordinated performance units to remain outstanding without the terms 
thereof being materially and adversely changed or the subordinated performance units are converted into or 
exchanged for equity securities of the surviving entity having terms and conditions that are substantially similar to 
those of the subordinated performance units (it being understood that we may not be the surviving entity and that the 
parent of the surviving entity or the surviving entity may not be publicly traded) or (2) to receive for each 
subordinated performance unit an amount of cash, securities or other property payable to a holder of OP units had 
such holder exercised its right to exchange its subordinated performance units for OP units without taking into 
consideration a specified conversion penalty associated with such an exchange. In addition, in the case of any such 
change of control transactions in which we have not received the consent of OP unit holders holding more than 50% 
of the OP units (other than those held by us or our subsidiaries) and of subordinated performance unit holders 
holding more than 50% of the voting power of the subordinated performance units (other than those held by us or 
our subsidiaries), such transaction is required to be approved by a companywide vote of limited partners holding 
more than 50% of our outstanding OP units in which OP units (including for this purpose OP units held by us and 
our subsidiaries) are voted and subordinated performance units (not held by us and our subsidiaries) are voted on an 
applicable as converted basis and in which we will be deemed to vote the OP units held by us and our subsidiaries in 
proportion to the manner in which all of our outstanding common shares were voted at a shareholders meeting 
relating to such transaction. These approval rights could delay, deter, or prevent a transaction or a change in control 
that might involve a premium price for our common shares or otherwise be in the best interests of our shareholders.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the "MGCL") and of our bylaws and our 
declaration of trust could inhibit a change in our control and have an adverse impact on the price of our shares. 

The MGCL, our bylaws and our declaration of trust contain provisions that may discourage, delay or make 
more difficult a change in our control. We are subject to the Maryland Business Combination Act. Our board has 
adopted a resolution exempting from the Maryland Business Combination Act any business combinations between 
us and (1) any other person, provided that the business combination is first approved by our board (including a 
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majority of disinterested trustees), (2) Arlen D. Nordhagen and any of his affiliates and associates and (3) any person 
acting in concert with the foregoing. As a result, such persons may be able to enter into business combinations with 
us that may not be in the best interests of our shareholders without compliance by us with the moratorium 
supermajority vote requirements and other provisions of the statute. If this resolution is repealed or our board does 
not approve a business combination, the Maryland Business Combination Act may discourage third parties from 
trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating such an offer. 

The Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act provides that holders of "control shares" of a Maryland real estate 
investment trust acquired in a "control share acquisition" have no voting rights with respect to such shares except to 
the extent approved by our shareholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be 
cast on the matter, excluding votes entitled to be cast by the acquirer of control shares, our officers and our trustees 
who are also our employees. Our bylaws exempt from the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act acquisitions of 
our shares by any person. If we amend our bylaws to repeal the exemption from the Maryland Control Share 
Acquisition Act, the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act also may make it more difficult for a third party to 
obtain control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating such an offer. 

We have also adopted other measures that may make it difficult for a third party to obtain control of us, 
including provisions of our declaration of trust and bylaws limiting the liability of our present and former trustees 
and officers to us and our shareholders for money damages to the maximum extent permitted under Maryland law, 
requiring us to indemnify our present and former trustees and officers for actions taken in their official capacities, 
permitting (subject to the rights of holders of any class or series of preferred shares) removal of a trustee, with or 
without cause, only by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast generally in the 
election of trustees, and authorizing our board (without shareholder approval) to classify or reclassify our shares in 
one or more classes or series, to cause the issuance of additional shares and to amend our declaration of trust to 
increase or decrease the number of shares that we have authority to issue. These provisions, as well as other 
provisions of our declaration of trust and bylaws, may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control 
that might otherwise be in the best interests of our shareholders.

Restrictions on ownership and transfer of our shares may restrict change of control or business combination 
opportunities in which our shareholders might receive a premium for their shares.

In order for us to qualify as a REIT for each taxable year, no more than 50% in value of our outstanding shares 
may be owned, directly or constructively, by five or fewer individuals during the last half of any calendar year, and 
at least 100 persons must beneficially own our shares during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months, or 
during a proportionate portion of a shorter taxable year. "Individuals" for this purpose include natural persons, 
private foundations, some employee benefit plans and trusts, and some charitable trusts. To assist us in preserving 
our REIT qualification, among other purposes, our declaration of trust generally prohibits, among other limitations, 
any person from beneficially or constructively owning more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares, whichever is 
more restrictive, of our aggregate outstanding shares of all classes and series, the outstanding shares of any class or 
series of our preferred shares or our outstanding common shares. These ownership limits and the other restrictions 
on ownership and transfer of our shares contained in our declaration of trust could have the effect of discouraging a 
takeover or other transaction in which holders of our common shares might receive a premium for their shares over 
the then prevailing market price or which holders might believe to be otherwise in their best interests. Our board of 
trustees has established exemptions from these ownership limits which permits certain of our institutional investors 
to hold up to 20% of our common shares and up to 25% of our preferred shares.

Risks Related to Our Debt Financings

There are risks associated with our indebtedness.

Our level of debt and the limitations imposed on us by our debt agreements could have significant adverse 
consequences, including the following: 

• our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments; 

• to satisfy our debt obligations, we may be forced to dispose of one or more of our properties, possibly on 
disadvantageous terms; 

• our debt level could place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors with less debt; and
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• we may violate our restrictive covenants or otherwise default on our obligations, which may entitled our 
creditors to accelerate our debt obligations, foreclose on our properties securing our debt, enforce our 
guarantees and/or trigger default on our other indebtedness.  

Disruptions in the financial markets could affect our ability to obtain debt financing on reasonable terms or at all 
and have other adverse effects on us.

Uncertainty in the credit markets may negatively impact our ability to access additional debt financing or to 
refinance existing debt maturities on favorable terms (or at all), which may negatively affect our ability to make 
acquisitions or make distributions required to maintain our qualification as a REIT. A downturn in the credit markets 
may cause us to seek alternative sources of potentially less attractive financing, and may require us to adjust our 
business plans accordingly. In addition, these factors may make it more difficult for us to sell properties or may 
adversely affect the price we receive for properties that we do sell, as prospective buyers may experience increased 
costs of debt financing or difficulties in obtaining debt financing.  

We depend on external sources of capital that are outside of our control, which could adversely affect our ability 
to acquire or develop properties, satisfy our debt obligations and/or make distributions to shareholders.

We depend on external sources of capital to acquire properties, to satisfy our debt obligations and to make 
distributions to our shareholders required to maintain our qualification as a REIT, and these sources of capital may 
not be available on favorable terms, or at all. Our access to external sources of capital depends on a number of 
factors, including the market's perception of our growth potential and our current and potential future earnings and 
our ability to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If we are unable to obtain external 
sources of capital, we may not be able to acquire properties when strategic opportunities exist, satisfy our debt 
obligations or make cash distributions to our shareholders that would permit us to qualify as a REIT or avoid paying 
tax on all of our net taxable income.

Increases in interest rates may increase our interest expense and adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to 
service our indebtedness and make cash distributions to our shareholders, and our decision to hedge against 
interest rate risk might not be effective.

As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately $1.9 billion of debt outstanding, of which approximately 
$174.0 million, or 9.1%, is subject to variable interest rates (excluding variable-rate debt subject to interest rate 
swaps). Although the credit markets have recently experienced historic lows in interest rates, if interest rates rise, the 
interest rates on variable-rate debt that we may incur in the future could be higher than current levels, which could 
increase our financing costs and decrease our cash flow and our ability to pay cash distributions to our shareholders. 

Although we have historically sought, and may in the future seek, to manage our exposure to interest rate 
volatility by using interest rate hedging arrangements, these arrangements may not be effective. Developing an 
effective interest rate risk strategy is complex and no strategy can completely insulate us from risks associated with 
interest rate fluctuations. Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may adversely affect our financial 
condition, results of operations and ability to make cash distributions to our shareholders.

The terms and covenants relating to our indebtedness could adversely impact our economic performance.

Our credit facility, term loan facilities and senior unsecured notes contain (and any new or amended facility we 
may enter into from time to time will likely contain) customary affirmative and negative covenants, including 
financial covenants that, among other things, cap our total leverage and our unsecured debt. In the event that we fail 
to satisfy our covenants, we would be in default under our debt agreements and may be required to repay such debt 
with capital from other sources. Under such circumstances, other sources of debt or equity capital may not be 
available to us, or may be available only on unattractive terms. Moreover, the presence of such covenants could 
cause us to operate our business with a view toward compliance with such covenants, which might not produce 
optimal returns for shareholders. 

The expected discontinuance of the London interbank offered rate ("LIBOR") and transition to alternative 
reference rates may adversely impact our borrowings and interest rate hedging. 

In July 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates the LIBOR administrator, ICE Benchmark 
Administration Limited ("IBA") announced that it would cease to compel banks to participate in setting LIBOR as a 
benchmark by the end of 2021 and. that market participants cannot rely on LIBOR being published after 2021. On 
December 4, 2020, the IBA published a consultation on its intention to cease the publication of LIBOR for the most 
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commonly used U.S. dollar LIBOR tenors after June 30, 2023 and for all other tenors after December 31, 2021.  
U.S. bank regulators are, however, encouraging banks to cease entering into new financial contracts that use LIBOR 
as a reference rate as soon as practicable and in any event by December 31, 2021. Accordingly, it appears likely that 
LIBOR will be discontinued or modified by December 31, 2021 or June 30, 2023, depending on the currency and 
tenor.

 The Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of large U.S. financial 
institutions convened by the U.S. Federal Reserve Board and the New York Federal Reserve, has recommended the 
Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") as a more robust reference rate alternative to U.S. dollar LIBOR. 
SOFR is observed and backward looking, which stands in contrast with LIBOR under the current methodology, 
which is an estimated forward-looking rate and relies, to some degree, on the expert judgment of submitting panel 
members. Given that SOFR is a secured rate backed by government securities, it will be a rate that does not take into 
account bank credit risk (as is the case with LIBOR). SOFR is therefore likely to be lower than U.S. dollar LIBOR. 
To approximate economic equivalence to LIBOR, SOFR can be compounded over a relevant term and a spread 
adjustment may be added. Market practices related to SOFR calculation conventions continue to develop and may 
vary, and inconsistent calculation conventions may develop among financial products.

Many of our debt agreements and our interest rate swap agreements are linked to LIBOR, including our credit 
facility and term loan facilities. Before the transition dates described above, we may need to amend such agreements 
that utilize LIBOR as a factor in determining the interest rate based on SOFR or another new standard that is 
established, if any. However, these efforts may not be successful in mitigating the legal, tax and financial risk from 
changing the reference rate in our legacy agreements. Furthermore, the transition away from LIBOR may adversely 
impact our ability to manage and hedge exposures to fluctuations in interest rates using derivative instruments. 
There is no guarantee that a transition from LIBOR to an alternative will not result in financial market disruptions, 
significant increases in benchmark rates, or borrowing costs to borrowers, any of which could have an adverse effect 
on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and the market price of our common shares.

Risks Related to Our Qualification as a REIT

Our failure to remain qualified as a REIT would subject us to U.S. federal income tax and applicable state and 
local taxes, which would reduce the amount of operating cash flow to our shareholders.

We have elected and we believe that we have qualified to be taxed as a REIT commencing with our taxable year 
ended December 31, 2015. We have not requested, and do not intend to request a ruling from the Internal Revenue 
Service ("IRS"), that we qualify as a REIT. Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and 
complex Code provisions and Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder for which there are limited judicial and 
administrative interpretations. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet, on an ongoing basis through actual operating 
results, various tests regarding the nature and diversification of our assets and our income, the ownership of our 
outstanding shares and the amount of our distributions. Our ability to satisfy these asset tests depends upon our 
analysis of the characterization and fair market values of our assets, some of which are not susceptible to a precise 
determination, and for which we will not obtain independent appraisals. Moreover, new legislation, court decisions 
or administrative guidance may, in each case possibly with retroactive effect, make it more difficult or impossible 
for us to qualify as a REIT. Thus, while we believe that we have been organized and operated and we intend to 
operate so that we will continue to qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, 
the ongoing importance of factual determinations and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances, no 
assurance can be given that we have qualified or will so qualify for any particular year. These considerations also 
might restrict the types of assets that we can acquire or services that we can provide in the future.

We own and may in the future acquire direct or indirect interests in entities that have elected or will elect to be 
treated as REITs under the Code (each a "Subsidiary REIT").  If a Subsidiary REIT were to fail to qualify as a REIT, 
then (i) that Subsidiary REIT would become subject to U.S. federal income tax, (ii) shares in such Subsidiary REIT 
would cease to be qualifying assets for purposes of the asset tests applicable to REITs, and (iii) it is possible that we 
would fail certain of the tests applicable to REITs, in which event we would fail to qualify as a REIT unless we 
qualify for certain statutory relief provisions.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, 
we would be required to pay U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates, and 
distributions to our shareholders would not be deductible by us in determining our taxable income. In such a case, 
we might need to borrow money, sell assets, or reduce or even cease making distributions in order to pay our taxes. 

Table of Contents

26



Our payment of income tax would reduce significantly the amount of operating cash flow to our shareholders. 
Furthermore, if we fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we no longer would be required to make 
distributions to our shareholders. In addition, unless we were eligible for certain statutory relief provisions, we could 
not re-elect to be taxed as a REIT until the fifth calendar year following the year in which we failed to qualify.

Even if we qualify as a REIT, we may face other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow.

Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain U.S. federal, state and local taxes on our 
income and assets, including taxes on any undistributed income, state or local income and property and transfer 
taxes, including real property transfer taxes. In addition, we could, in certain circumstances, be required to pay an 
excise or penalty tax (which could be significant in amount) in order to utilize one or more relief provisions under 
the Code to maintain our qualification as a REIT. Any of these taxes would decrease operating cash flow to our 
shareholders.

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our shareholders each calendar year at least 90% of our net 
taxable income (excluding net capital gain). To the extent that we satisfy the 90% distribution requirement, but 
distribute less than 100% of our net taxable income (including net capital gain), we would be subject to U.S. federal 
corporate income tax on our undistributed net taxable income. In addition, we will incur a 4% non-deductible excise 
tax on the amount, if any, by which our distributions in any calendar year are less than a minimum amount specified 
under U.S. federal income tax laws. Although we intend to distribute our net taxable income to our shareholders in a 
manner that would avoid this 4% tax, there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so, due to timing 
differences between our actual receipt of cash and the inclusion of items in our income for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes, the effect of non-deductible capital expenditures, or the creation of reserves or required debt or 
amortization payments.

In addition, we will be subject to a 100% tax on any income from sales or other dispositions of property (other 
than property treated as foreclosure property under the Code) that is held as inventory or primarily for sale to 
customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business by a REIT, either directly or indirectly through certain pass-
through subsidiaries (a "prohibited transaction"). In order to meet the REIT qualification requirements, or to avoid 
the imposition of the penalty tax on prohibited transactions, we may hold some of our assets or provide certain 
services to our tenants through one or more TRSs, which generally will be subject to U.S. federal, state and local 
corporate taxes. In addition, if a REIT lends money to a TRS, the TRS may be unable to deduct all or a portion of 
the interest paid to the REIT, which could increase the tax liability of the TRS. In addition, the Code imposes a 
100% tax on certain transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm's length basis. 
We intend to structure transactions with any TRS on terms that we believe are arm's length to avoid incurring the 
100% excise tax described above. There can be no assurances, however, that we will be able to avoid application of 
the 100% tax. Furthermore, if we acquire appreciated assets from a corporation that is or has been a subchapter C 
corporation in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis of such assets in our hands is less than the fair market 
value of the assets, determined at the time we acquired such assets, and if we subsequently dispose of any such 
assets during the 5-year period following the acquisition of the assets from the C corporation, we will be subject to 
tax at the highest corporate tax rates on any gain from the disposition of such assets to the extent of the excess of the 
fair market value of the assets on the date that we acquired such assets over the basis of such assets on such date, 
which we refer to as built-in gains. Payment of these taxes generally could materially and adversely affect our 
income, cash flow, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and prospects, and could adversely affect the 
value of our common shares and our ability to make distributions to our shareholders.

Complying with the REIT requirements may cause us to forgo and/or liquidate otherwise attractive investments, 
and in some situations, to maintain our REIT qualification, we may be forced to borrow funds during 
unfavorable market conditions.

To qualify as a REIT, we must ensure that at least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year, excluding 
certain amounts, is derived from certain real property-related sources, and at least 95% of our gross income for each 
taxable year, excluding certain amounts, is derived from certain real property-related sources and passive income 
such as dividends and interest. In addition, we must ensure that, at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of 
the value of our total assets consists of cash, cash items, U.S. government securities and qualified real estate assets. 
The remainder of our investment in securities generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting 
securities of any one issuer (other than U.S. government securities, securities of corporations that are treated as 
TRSs and qualified real estate assets) or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one 
issuer (other than government securities, securities of corporations that are treated as TRSs and qualified real estate 
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assets). In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our assets can consist of the securities of any one 
issuer (other than U.S. government securities, securities of corporations that are treated as TRSs and qualified real 
estate assets), no more than 20% of the value of our total assets can be represented by securities of one or more 
TRSs and no more than 25% of the value of our assets can consist of debt instruments issued by publicly offered 
REITs that are not otherwise secured by real property. If we fail to comply with these asset requirements at the end 
of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for 
certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences.

To meet these tests, we may be required to take or forgo taking actions that we would otherwise consider 
advantageous. For instance, in order to satisfy the gross income or asset tests applicable to REITs under the Code, 
we may be required to forgo investments that we otherwise would make, and we may be required to liquidate from 
our portfolio otherwise attractive investments. In addition, we may be required to make distributions to shareholders 
at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution. As a result, we may need 
to borrow funds to meet the REIT distribution requirements even if the then prevailing market conditions are not 
favorable for these borrowings. Our access to third-party sources of capital depends on a number of factors, 
including the market's perception of our growth potential, our current debt levels, the per share trading price of our 
common shares, and our current and potential future earnings. We cannot assure you that we will have access to 
such capital on favorable terms at the desired times, or at all, which may cause us to curtail our investment activities 
and/or to dispose of assets at inopportune times. These actions could reduce our income and amounts available for 
distribution to our shareholders. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our investment 
performance.

If our operating partnership is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we will cease to 
qualify as a REIT.

We believe our operating partnership qualifies as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and 
accordingly generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its income. Instead, each of its partners, 
including us, will be required to pay tax on its allocable share of our operating partnership's income. No assurance 
can be provided, however, that the IRS will not challenge our operating partnership's status as a partnership for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes, or that a court would not sustain such a challenge. If the IRS were successful in treating 
our operating partnership as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would fail to meet the gross 
income tests and certain of the asset tests applicable to REITs, we would cease to qualify as a REIT, and both we 
and our operating partnership would become subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax. The payment by our 
operating partnership of income tax would reduce significantly the amount of cash available to our operating 
partnership to satisfy obligations to make principal and interest payments on its debt and to make distribution to its 
partners, including us.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax 
liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our assets and operations. Under these 
provisions, any income that we generate from transactions intended to hedge our interest rate risk will be excluded 
from gross income for purposes of the REIT 75% and 95% gross income tests if (i) the instrument (a) hedges interest 
rate risk on liabilities used to carry or acquire real estate assets or (b) hedges an instrument described in clause (a) 
for a period following the extinguishment of the liability or the disposition of the asset that was previously hedged 
by the hedged instrument, and (ii) the relevant instrument is properly identified under applicable Treasury 
regulations. Income from hedging transactions that does not meet these requirements will generally constitute non-
qualifying income for purposes of both the REIT 75% and 95% gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we 
may have to limit our use of hedging techniques that might otherwise be advantageous or implement those hedges 
through a TRS. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities because our TRS would be subject to tax on 
gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear, 
and we generally would not benefit from losses in our TRS, although, subject to limitation, such losses may be 
carried forward to offset future taxable income of the TRS.
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The ability of our board of trustees to revoke our REIT election without shareholder approval may cause adverse 
consequences to our shareholders.

Our declaration of trust provides that the board of trustees may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT 
election, without the approval of our shareholders, if the board determines that it is no longer in our best interest to 
attempt to, or continue to, qualify as a REIT. If we cease to qualify as a REIT, we would become subject to U.S. 
federal income tax on our net taxable income and we generally would no longer be required to distribute any of our 
net taxable income to our shareholders, which may have adverse consequences on our total return to our 
shareholders.

Legislative or regulatory tax changes related to REITs could materially and adversely affect our business.

At any time, the U.S. federal income tax laws or regulations governing REITs or the administrative 
interpretations of those laws or regulations may be changed, possibly with retroactive effect. We cannot predict if or 
when any new U.S. federal income tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation, or any amendment to any 
existing U.S. federal income tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation, will be adopted, promulgated or 
become effective or whether any such law, regulation or interpretation may take effect retroactively. We and our 
shareholders could be adversely affected by any such change in, or any new, U.S. federal income tax law, regulation 
or administrative interpretation.

Risks Related to Our Common Shares and Preferred Shares

Common shares and preferred shares eligible for future sale may have adverse effects on our share price.

Subject to applicable law and the rules of any stock exchange on which our shares may be listed or traded, our 
board, without common shareholder approval, may authorize us to issue additional authorized and unissued common 
shares and preferred shares on the terms and for the consideration it deems appropriate and may amend our 
declaration of trust to increase the total number of shares, or the number of shares of any class or series, that we are 
authorized to issue. In addition, our operating partnership may issue OP units, which are redeemable for cash or, at 
our option exchangeable on a one-for-one basis into common shares after an agreed period of time and certain other 
conditions, preferred units of limited partnership interest, which are redeemable for cash or, at our option 
exchangeable on a one-for-one basis into our 6.000% Series A cumulative redeemable preferred shares of beneficial 
interest ("Series A Preferred Shares") and subordinated performance units, which are only convertible into OP units 
beginning two years following the initial issuance of the applicable series and then (i) at the holder's election only 
upon the achievement of certain performance thresholds relating to the properties to which such subordinated 
performance units relate or (ii) at our election upon a retirement event of a PRO that holds such subordinated 
performance units or upon certain qualifying terminations.  

Notwithstanding the two-year lock out period on conversions of subordinated performance units into OP units, 
if such subordinated performance units were convertible into OP units as of December 31, 2020, each subordinated 
performance unit would on average hypothetically convert into 1.23 OP units, or into an aggregate of approximately 
16.4 million OP units. These amounts are based on historical financial information for the trailing twelve months 
ended December 31, 2020. The hypothetical conversion is calculated by dividing the average cash available for 
distribution, or CAD, per subordinated performance unit by 110% of the CAD per OP unit over the same period. We 
anticipate that as our CAD grows over time, the conversion ratio will also grow, including to levels that may exceed 
this amount. The actual number of OP units into which such subordinated performance units will become 
convertible may vary significantly and will depend upon the applicable conversion penalty and the actual CAD to 
the OP units and the actual CAD to the converted subordinated performance units in the one-year period ending 
prior to conversion. We have also granted registration rights to those persons who will be eligible to receive 
common shares issuable upon exchange of OP units and preferred shares issuable upon exchange preferred units 
issued in our contribution transactions.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of our common or preferred shares or the availability of 
shares for future sales, on the market price of our common or preferred shares. The market price of our common 
shares may decline significantly when the restrictions on resale by certain of our shareholders lapse. Sales of 
substantial amounts of common or preferred shares or the perception that such sales could occur may adversely 
affect the prevailing market price for our common shares.
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We cannot assure our ability to pay dividends in the future.

Historically, we have paid quarterly common share dividends to our shareholders and quarterly distributions to 
our operating partnership unitholders, and we intend to continue to pay such dividends and distributions in amounts 
such that all or substantially all of our net taxable income in each year is distributed, which, along with other factors, 
should enable us to continue to qualify for the tax benefits accorded to a REIT under the Code. We have not 
established a minimum dividends payment level, and all future distributions will be made at the discretion of our 
board. Our ability to pay dividends will depend upon, among other factors: 

• the operational and financial performance of our properties; 

• capital expenditures with respect to existing and newly acquired properties; 

• general and administrative expenses associated with our operation as a publicly-held REIT;

• maintenance of our REIT qualification;

• the amount of, and the interest rates on, our debt and the ability to refinance our debt;

• the absence of significant expenditures relating to environmental and other regulatory matters; and 

• other risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Certain of these matters are beyond our control and any significant difference between our expectations and 
actual results could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow and our ability to make distributions to 
shareholders.

Future offerings of debt or equity securities, which may rank senior to our common shares, may adversely affect 
the market price of our common shares.

If we decide to issue debt securities in the future, which would rank senior to our common shares, it is likely 
that they will be governed by an indenture or other instrument containing covenants restricting our operating 
flexibility. Additionally, any equity securities or convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future 
may have rights, preferences and privileges more favorable than those of our common shares and may result in 
dilution to owners of such shares. We and, indirectly, our shareholders will bear the cost of issuing and servicing 
such securities. Because our decision to issue debt or equity securities in any future offering will depend on market 
conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our 
future offerings. Thus, holders of our common shares will bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market 
price of our shares and diluting the value of their common share holdings in us.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in 
conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in Item 8. "Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data" as well as Item 1. "Business," Item 1A. "Risk Factors," and Item 2. "Properties," respectively, 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview 

National Storage Affiliates Trust is a fully integrated, self-administered and self-managed real estate investment 
trust organized in the state of Maryland on May 16, 2013. We have elected and we believe that we have qualified to 
be taxed as a REIT commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2015. We serve as the sole general 
partner of our operating partnership, a Delaware limited partnership formed on February 13, 2013 to conduct our 
business, which is focused on the ownership, operation, and acquisition of self storage properties located within the 
top 100 MSAs throughout the United States.

COVID-19

We continue to closely monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all aspects of our business. The 
outbreak of COVID-19 in many countries, including the United States, has adversely impacted economic activity. 
As cases of COVID-19 have continued to increase, most states and municipalities have reacted by instituting, 
extending or reinstating quarantines, mandating business and school closures, requiring restrictions on travel, 
"shelter-in-place" and/or "stay-at-home" orders, and imposing restrictions on the types of businesses that may 
continue to operate. These containment measures generally do not apply to businesses, like ours, which are 
designated as "essential," but may apply to certain of our tenants, employees, vendors, lenders and joint venture 
partners. 

As of the date of this report, our stores continue to operate and we are in compliance with federal, state and 
local COVID-19 guidelines and mandates.  In response to the pandemic, we have increased the level and frequency 
of cleaning and sanitation of our self storage facilities and enacted recommended social distancing guidelines. Many 
of our stores feature online rental capabilities whereby a customer can complete the entire rental process online and 
receive an access code to the storage facility. For the remainder of our stores that do not yet benefit from the online 
rental feature, the combination of call center and email communication eliminates the need for any physical contact 
between customers and employees.

Due to the pandemic, we experienced a moderate slowdown in overall business activity during the second 
quarter of 2020. However, we observed sustained improvement in our property operating results during the third and 
fourth quarters of 2020. We continue to take proactive measures to maintain the strength of our business and manage 
the impact of COVID-19 on our operations and liquidity, including the following:

• We resumed rental rate increases for in-place tenants at the vast majority of our stores during the third quarter of 
2020;

• We are continuing to diligently manage operating expenses, including store-level personnel costs, marketing 
and repairs and maintenance expenses. We also incurred lower corporate travel costs during the year ended 
December 31, 2020 compared to expectations at the beginning of the year;

• We continue to closely monitor our liquidity position. As of December 31, 2020, we had the capacity to borrow 
remaining revolving line of credit commitments of $320.3 million with less than $5 million of debt maturing 
through 2022;

• On October 22, 2020, we issued $150.0 million of 2.99% senior unsecured notes due August 5, 2030 and 
$100.0 million of 3.09% senior unsecured notes due August 5, 2032 in a private placement;

• We completed an underwritten public offering of 4,900,000 common shares of beneficial interest under forward 
sale agreements at a public offering price of $33.15 per share (the "forward offering"). On December 30, 2020 
we settled a portion of the forward offering by physically delivering 1,850,510 common shares to the forward 
purchasers for net proceeds of approximately $60.0 million;

• We remain committed to acquiring properties at appropriate risk-adjusted returns. We believe our acquisition 
opportunities through our captive pipeline and relationship-based third-party deals sourced by our PROs will 
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continue to be a differentiating factor for us to prudently deploy capital, including through the issuance of OP 
equity. 

The above discussion is intended to provide shareholders with certain information regarding the impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on our business and management’s efforts to respond to those impacts. We are unable to 
predict the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business for the year ended December 31, 2021 and thereafter. 
We will continue to monitor its effects and will adjust our operations as necessary. As a result of the rapid 
development, fluidity and uncertainty surrounding this situation, we expect that such information will change, 
potentially significantly, going forward and may not be indicative of the actual impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021 and future 
periods. See "Risk Factors" under Item 1A.

Our Structure

Our structure promotes operator accountability as subordinated performance units issued to our PROs in 
exchange for the contribution of their properties are entitled to distributions only after those properties satisfy 
minimum performance thresholds. In the event of a material reduction in operating cash flow, distributions on our 
subordinated performance units will be reduced before or disproportionately to distributions on our common shares 
held by our common shareholders. In addition, we expect our PROs will generally co-invest subordinated equity in 
the form of subordinated performance units in each acquisition that they source, and the value of these subordinated 
performance units will fluctuate with the performance of their managed portfolios. Therefore, our PROs are 
incentivized to select acquisitions that are expected to exceed minimum performance thresholds, thereby increasing 
the value of their subordinated equity stake. We expect that our shareholders will benefit from the higher levels of 
property performance that our PROs are incentivized to deliver. 

Our PROs 

We had ten PROs as of December 31, 2020: Northwest, Optivest, Guardian, Move It, Storage Solutions, Hide 
Away, Personal Mini, Southern, Moove In and Blue Sky. We seek to further expand our platform by continuing to 
recruit additional established self storage operators, while integrating our operations through the implementation of 
centralized initiatives, including management information systems, revenue enhancement, and cost optimization 
programs. Our national platform allows us to capture cost savings by eliminating redundancies and utilizing 
economies of scale across the property management platforms of our PROs while also providing greater access to 
lower-cost capital. 

Our Property Management Platform

Through our property management platform, we direct, manage and control the day-to-day operations and 
affairs of certain consolidated properties and our unconsolidated real estate ventures under our iStorage and 
SecurCare brands. As of December 31, 2020, our property management platform managed and controlled 282 of our 
consolidated properties and 177 of our unconsolidated real estate venture properties.

We earn certain customary fees for managing and operating the properties in the unconsolidated real estate 
ventures and we facilitate tenant insurance and/or tenant warranty protection programs for tenants at these properties 
in exchange for half of all proceeds from such programs. 

Our Consolidated Properties 

We seek to own properties that are well located in high quality sub-markets with highly accessible street access 
and attractive supply and demand characteristics, providing our properties with strong and stable cash flows that are 
less sensitive to the fluctuations of the general economy. Many of these markets have multiple barriers to entry 
against increased supply, including zoning restrictions against new construction and new construction costs that we 
believe are higher than our properties' fair market value. 

As of December 31, 2020, we owned a geographically diversified portfolio of 644 self storage properties, 
located in 33 states and Puerto Rico, comprising approximately 39.3 million rentable square feet, configured in 
approximately 309,000 storage units. Of these properties, 276 were acquired by us from our PROs, 367 were 
acquired by us from third-party sellers and one was acquired by us from the 2016 Joint Venture.
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Our Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures

We seek to opportunistically partner with institutional funds and other institutional investors to acquire 
attractive portfolios utilizing a promoted return structure. We believe there is significant opportunity for continued 
external growth by partnering with institutional investors seeking to deploy capital in the self storage industry. 

2018 Joint Venture

As of December 31, 2020, our 2018 Joint Venture, in which we have a 25% interest, owned and operated a 
portfolio of 103 properties containing approximately 7.8 million rentable square feet, configured in approximately 
64,000 storage units and located across 17 states. 

2016 Joint Venture

As of December 31, 2020, our 2016 Joint Venture, in which we have a 25% ownership interest, owned and 
operated a portfolio of 74 properties containing approximately 4.9 million rentable square feet, configured in 
approximately 40,000 storage units and located across 13 states. 

Results of Operations 

When reviewing our results of operations it is important to consider the timing of acquisition activity. We 
acquired 77 self storage properties during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 69 self storage properties during 
the year ended December 31, 2019. As a result of these and other factors, we do not believe that our historical results 
of operations discussed and analyzed below are comparable or necessarily indicative of our future results of 
operations or cash flows. 

To help analyze the operating performance of our self storage properties, we also discuss and analyze operating 
results relating to our same store portfolio. Our same store portfolio is defined as those properties owned and 
operated since the first day of the earliest year presented, excluding any properties sold, expected to be sold or 
subject to significant changes such as expansions or casualty events which cause the portfolio's year-over-year 
operating results to no longer be comparable. 

The following discussion and analysis of the results of our operations and financial condition for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019 should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. The discussion and analysis of the results of our 
operations and financial condition for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2018, can be found in Part II, "Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, which was filed with the 
SEC on February 26, 2020.

Certain figures, such as interest rates and other percentages, included in this section have been rounded for ease 
of presentation. Percentage figures included in this section have not in all cases been calculated on the basis of such 
rounded figures but on the basis of such amounts prior to rounding. For this reason, percentage amounts in this 
section may vary slightly from those obtained by performing the same calculations using the figures in our 
consolidated financial statements or in the associated text. Certain other amounts that appear in this section may 
similarly not sum due to rounding.

Year Ended December 31, 2020 compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

Net income was $79.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $66.0 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $13.5 million. The increase was primarily due to an increase in net 
operating income ("NOI") resulting from self storage properties acquired during 2019 and 2020 and a decrease in 
GAAP losses from the Company's unconsolidated real estate ventures partially offset by increases in depreciation 
and amortization, interest expense, non-operating expense, acquisition costs and a decrease in gains from the sale of 
self storage properties. For a description of NOI, see "Non-GAAP Financial measures – NOI".

Overview

 As of December 31, 2020, our same store portfolio consisted of 500 self storage properties. See "---Results of 
Operations" above for the definition of our same store portfolio. The following table illustrates the changes in rental 
revenue, other property-related revenue, management fees and other revenue, property operating expenses, and other 
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is calculated based on the average of the month-end occupancy immediately preceding the period presented and the 
month-end occupancies included in the respective period presented.

Rental Revenue

Rental revenue increased by $39.8 million, or 11.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2019. The increase in rental revenue was due to a $35.0 million increase in non-same store 
rental revenue which was primarily attributable to incremental rental revenue of $20.4 million from 77 self storage 
properties acquired during 2020, and $15.3 million from 69 self storage properties acquired during 2019. Same store 
portfolio rental revenues increased $4.8 million, or 1.5%, due to a 0.2% increase, from $12.12 to $12.15, in 
annualized same store rental revenue (including fees and net of any discounts and uncollectible customer amounts) 
divided by average occupied square feet ("average annualized rental revenue per occupied square foot"), driven 
primarily by increased contractual lease rates for in-place tenants and an increase in average occupancy from 88.6% 
for the year ended December 31, 2019 to 89.6% for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

Other Property-Related Revenue

Other property-related revenue represents ancillary income from our self storage properties, such as tenant 
insurance-related access fees and sales of storage supplies. Other property-related revenue increased by $2.2 million, 
or 18.1%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This increase 
primarily resulted from a $1.4 million increase in non-same store other property-related revenue which was 
primarily attributable to incremental other property-related revenue of $0.9 million from 77 self storage properties 
acquired during 2020, and $0.6 million from 69 self storage properties acquired during 2019.

Management Fees and Other Revenue

Management fees and other revenue, which are primarily related to managing and operating the unconsolidated 
real estate ventures, were $23.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $20.7 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $2.3 million or 11.1%. This increase was primarily attributable to 
incremental tenant insurance fees and dividends from an investment in a tenant reinsurance company made during 
2019.

Property Operating Expenses

Property operating expenses were $123.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to $110.3 
million for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $13.2 million, or 11.9%. The increase in property 
operating expenses resulted from a $12.6 million increase in non-same store property operating expenses that was 
primarily attributable to incremental property operating expenses of $7.8 million from 77 self storage properties 
acquired during 2020, and $4.9 million from 69 self storage properties acquired during 2019.

General and Administrative Expenses 

General and administrative expenses decreased $0.4 million, or 0.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This decrease was attributable to decreases in supervisory and 
administrative fees charged by our PROs of $3.6 million primarily as a result of the cessation of payments to 
SecurCare following the merger and internalization of the management platform of SecurCare, partially offset by 
increases in costs related to our property management platform of $2.6 million due to the internalization of the 
management platform of SecurCare and an increase in store count.

Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation and amortization increased $12.1 million, or 11.5%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This increase was primarily attributable to incremental depreciation 
expense related to the 77 self storage properties acquired during 2020, partially offset by a decrease in amortization 
of customer in-place leases from $11.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to $9.0 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2020. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense increased $6.1 million, or 10.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2019. The increase in interest expense was primarily attributable to additional borrowings 
consisting of $155.0 million of additional term loan borrowings under the Company's credit facility in July 2019, 
$100.0 million of borrowings under the 2029 Term Loan Facility in April 2019, the issuance of the $150.0 million 
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senior unsecured notes in a private placement in August 2019 and higher outstanding borrowings under the 
Revolver.

Equity In Earnings (Losses) Of Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures

Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated real estate ventures represents our share of earnings and losses 
incurred through our 25% ownership interests in the 2018 Joint Venture and the 2016 Joint Venture. During the year 
ended December 31, 2020, we recorded $0.3 million of equity in earnings from our unconsolidated real estate 
ventures compared to $5.0 million of losses for the year ended December 31, 2019. This was primarily the result of 
incremental losses from our 2018 Joint Venture during the year ended December 31, 2019 driven by real estate 
depreciation and amortization of customer in-place leases following the acquisition of the Initial 2018 Joint Venture 
Portfolio in September 2018.

Gain On Sale of Self Storage Properties

Gain on sale of self storage properties was $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. During the year 
ended December 31, 2019, we sold one self storage property to an unrelated third party for gross proceeds of $6.5 
million. 

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests 

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, we allocate U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles ("GAAP") income (loss) utilizing the HLBV method, in which we allocate income or loss 
based on the change in each unitholders' claim on the net assets of our operating partnership at period end after 
adjusting for any distributions or contributions made during such period.

Due to the stated liquidation priorities and because the HLBV method incorporates non-cash items such as 
depreciation expense, in any given period, income or loss may be allocated disproportionately to noncontrolling 
interests. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests was $30.9 million for the year ended December 31, 
2020, compared to $62.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates 

Our financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with GAAP. The 
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we 
evaluate our estimates and assumptions, including those that impact our most critical accounting policies. We base 
our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. We believe the following are our most 
critical accounting policies. 

Principles of Consolidation and Presentation of Noncontrolling Interests

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of our operating partnership and its controlled 
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidation of 
entities.

The limited partner ownership interests in our operating partnership that are held by owners other than us are 
referred to as noncontrolling interests. Noncontrolling interests also include ownership interests in DownREIT 
partnerships held by entities other than our operating partnership. Noncontrolling interests in a subsidiary are 
generally reported as a separate component of equity in our consolidated balance sheets. In our statements of 
operations, the revenues, expenses and net income or loss related to noncontrolling interests in our operating 
partnership are included in the consolidated amounts, with net income or loss attributable to the noncontrolling 
interests deducted separately to arrive at the net income or loss solely attributable to us.

When we obtain an economic interest in an entity, we evaluate the entity to determine if the entity is deemed a 
variable interest entity ("VIE"), and if we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary, in accordance with authoritative 
guidance issued on the consolidation of VIEs. When an entity is not deemed to be a VIE, we consider the provisions 
of additional guidance to determine whether the general partner controls a limited partnership or similar entity when 
the limited partners have certain rights. We consolidate all entities that are VIEs and of which the Company is 
deemed to be the primary beneficiary. 
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Self Storage Properties and Customer In-Place Leases

Self storage properties are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
When self storage properties are acquired, the purchase price is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimated fair values. The purchase price is allocated to the individual 
properties based on the fair value determined using an income approach or a cash flow analysis using appropriate 
risk adjusted capitalization rates, which take into account the relative size, age, and location of the individual 
properties along with current and projected occupancy and relative rental rates or appraised values, if available. 
Tangible assets are allocated to land, buildings and related improvements, and furniture and equipment. 

In allocating the purchase price for a self storage property acquisition, we determine whether the acquisition 
includes intangible assets. We allocate a portion of the purchase price to an intangible asset attributed to the value of 
customer in-place leases. Because the majority of tenant leases are on a month-to-month basis, this intangible asset 
represents the estimated value of the leases in effect on the acquisition date. This intangible asset is amortized to 
expense using the straight-line method over 12 months, the estimated average remaining rental period for the leases. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

FFO and Core FFO 

Funds from operations, or FFO, is a widely used performance measure for real estate companies and is provided 
here as a supplemental measure of our operating performance. The December 2018 Nareit Funds From Operations 
White Paper - 2018 Restatement, which we refer to as the White Paper, defines FFO as net income (as determined 
under GAAP), excluding: real estate depreciation and amortization, gains and losses from the sale of certain real 
estate assets, gains and losses from change in control, mark-to-market changes in value recognized on equity 
securities, impairment write-downs of certain real estate assets and impairment of investments in entities when it is 
directly attributable to decreases in the value of depreciable real estate held by the entity and after items to record 
unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures on the same basis. Distributions declared on subordinated 
performance units and DownREIT subordinated performance units represent our allocation of FFO to noncontrolling 
interests held by subordinated performance unitholders and DownREIT subordinated performance unitholders. For 
purposes of calculating FFO attributable to common shareholders, OP unitholders, and LTIP unitholders, we 
exclude distributions declared on subordinated performance units, DownREIT subordinated performance units, 
preferred shares and preferred units. We define Core FFO as FFO, as further adjusted to eliminate the impact of 
certain items that we do not consider indicative of our core operating performance. These further adjustments consist 
of acquisition costs, organizational and offering costs, gains on debt forgiveness, gains (losses) on early 
extinguishment of debt, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.

Management uses FFO and Core FFO as key performance indicators in evaluating the operations of our 
properties. Given the nature of our business as a real estate owner and operator, we consider FFO and Core FFO as 
key supplemental measures of our operating performance that are not specifically defined by GAAP. We believe 
that FFO and Core FFO are useful to management and investors as a starting point in measuring our operational 
performance because FFO and Core FFO exclude various items included in net income (loss) that do not relate to or 
are not indicative of our operating performance such as gains (or losses) from sales of self storage properties and 
depreciation, which can make periodic and peer analyses of operating performance more difficult. Our computation 
of FFO and Core FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs or real estate companies.

FFO and Core FFO should be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for, other measures of financial 
performance reported in accordance with GAAP, such as total revenues, operating income and net income (loss). 
FFO and Core FFO do not represent cash generated from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP 
and are not a measure of liquidity or an indicator of our ability to make cash distributions. We believe that to further 
understand our performance, FFO and Core FFO should be compared with our reported net income (loss) and 
considered in addition to cash flows computed in accordance with GAAP, as presented in our consolidated financial 
statements.
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to continue to meet our liquidity needs, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, could be affected 
by various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. We believe 
that, as a publicly-traded REIT, we will have access to multiple sources of capital to fund our long-term liquidity 
requirements, including the incurrence of additional debt and the issuance of debt and additional equity securities. 
However, we cannot assure you that this will be the case.

Cash Flows

At December 31, 2020, we had $18.7 million in cash and cash equivalents and $3.0 million of restricted cash, a 
decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $1.8 million and a decrease in restricted cash of $0.7 million from 
December 31, 2019. Restricted cash primarily consists of escrowed funds deposited with financial institutions for 
real estate taxes, insurance, and other reserves for capital improvements in accordance with our loan agreements. 
The following discussion relates to changes in cash due to operating, investing, and financing activities, which are 
presented in our consolidated statements of cash flows included in Item 8 of this report.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by our operating activities was $220.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared 
to $196.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $24.0 million. Our operating cash flow 
increased primarily due to 69 self storage properties acquired during the year ended December 31, 2019 that 
generated cash flow for the entire year ended December 31, 2020 and 77 self storage properties that were acquired 
during the year ended December 31, 2020. These increases were partially offset by higher cash payments for  
interest expense. 

Investing Activities 

Cash used in investing activities was $509.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to $393.0 
million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The primary uses of cash for the year ended December 31, 2020 
were for our acquisition of 77 self storage properties for cash consideration of $496.5 million, deposits for potential 
acquisitions of $1.1 million, capital expenditures of $16.4 million and contributions to unconsolidated real estate 
ventures of $4.4 million partially offset by $7.6 million of proceeds from the sale of equity securities and $1.5 
million of distributions from unconsolidated real estate ventures. The primary uses of cash for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 were for our acquisition of 69 self storage properties for cash consideration of $371.1 million, 
the acquisition of equity securities for $12.7 million, deposits for potential acquisitions of $4.4 million, capital 
expenditures of $20.6 million and the acquisition of the interest in a reinsurance company and related cash flows of 
$6.6 million, partially offset by distributions from unconsolidated real estate ventures of $11.5 million, $6.3 million 
of proceeds from the sale of one self storage property and $5.4 million of proceeds from the sale of equity securities. 

Capital expenditures totaled $16.4 million, $20.6 million and $19.0 million during the years ended 
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 respectively. We generally fund post-acquisition capital additions from cash 
provided by operating activities.

We categorize our capital expenditures broadly into three primary categories:

• recurring capital expenditures, which represent the portion of capital expenditures that are deemed 
to replace the consumed portion of acquired capital assets and extend their useful life;

• value enhancing capital expenditures, which represent the portion of capital expenditures that are made to 
enhance the revenue and value of an asset from its original purchase condition; and

• acquisitions capital expenditures, which represent the portion of capital expenditures capitalized during 
the current period that were identified and underwritten prior to a property's acquisition.
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During September 2020, we completed an underwritten public offering of 4,500,000 common shares under 
forward sale agreements at a public offering price of $33.15 per share. The underwriters were granted a 30-day 
option to purchase up to an additional 675,000 common shares at the same price, which they partially exercised for 
an additional 400,000 common shares on October 6, 2020. On December 30, 2020, the Company settled a portion of 
the forward offering by physically delivering 1,850,510 common shares to the forward purchasers for net proceeds 
of approximately $60.0 million. As of December 31, 2020, 3,049,490 shares remained outstanding under the 
forward sale agreements. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, after receiving notices of redemption from certain OP unitholders, 
we elected to issue 892,070 common shares to such holders in exchange for 892,070 OP units in satisfaction of the 
operating partnership's redemption obligations.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 28,467 common shares in exchange for $1.0 
million of principal payment reimbursements received during the year ended December 31, 2020 related to 
mortgages assumed in connection with the acquisition of self storage properties from PROs during the year ended 
December 31, 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, after receiving notices of redemption from certain Series A-1 
preferred unitholders, we elected to issue 5,600 Series A preferred shares to such holders in exchange for 5,600 
Series A-1 preferred units in satisfaction of the operating partnership's redemption obligations.

Issuance of OP Equity

In connection with the 77 properties acquired during the year ended December 31, 2020, we issued $37.2 
million of OP equity (consisting of 755,007 OP units, 28,894 LTIP units and 303,528 subordinated performance 
units). In addition, we issued 28,892 LTIP units to consultants that will vest upon the completion of expansion 
projects.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, during the year ended December 31, 
2020, the Company issued 445,701 OP units upon the conversion of 332,738 subordinated performance units and 
246,156 OP units upon the conversion of an equivalent number of LTIP units.

Dividends and Distributions

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company paid $90.1 million of distributions to common 
shareholders, $13.1 million of distributions to preferred shareholders and distributed $73.8 million to noncontrolling 
interests.

On February 25, 2021, our board of trustees declared a cash dividend and distribution, respectively, of $0.35 per 
common share and OP unit to shareholders and OP unitholders of record as of March 15, 2021. On February 25, 
2021, our board of trustees also declared cash distributions of $0.375 per Series A Preferred Share and Series A-1 
preferred unit to shareholders and unitholders of record as of March 15, 2021. In addition, we expect to declare a 
cash distribution in the first quarter of 2021 to our subordinated performance unitholders of record as of March 15, 
2021.  Such dividends and distributions are expected to be paid on March 31, 2021.

Cash Distributions from our Operating Partnership

Under the LP Agreement of our operating partnership, to the extent that we, as the general partner of our 
operating partnership, determine to make distributions to the partners of our operating partnership out of the 
operating cash flow or capital transaction proceeds generated by a real property portfolio managed by one of our 
PROs, the holders of the series of subordinated performance units that relate to such portfolio are entitled to share in 
such distributions. Under the LP Agreement of our operating partnership, operating cash flow with respect to a 
portfolio of properties managed by one of our PROs is generally an amount determined by us, as general partner of 
our operating partnership, equal to the excess of property revenues over property related expenses from that 
portfolio. In general, property revenue from the portfolio includes: 

(i) all receipts, including rents and other operating revenues; 

(ii) any incentive, financing, break-up and other fees paid to us by third parties; 

(iii) amounts released from previously set aside reserves; and 

(iv) any other amounts received by us, which we allocate to the particular portfolio of properties. 
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In general, property-related expenses include all direct expenses related to the operation of the properties in that 
portfolio, including real property taxes, insurance, property-level general and administrative expenses, employee 
costs, utilities, property marketing expense, property maintenance and property reserves and other expenses incurred 
at the property level. In addition, other expenses incurred by our operating partnership will also be allocated by us, 
as general partner, to the property portfolio and will be included in the property-related expenses of that portfolio. 
Examples of such other expenses include: 

(i) corporate-level general and administrative expenses; 

(ii) out-of-pocket costs, expenses and fees of our operating partnership, whether or not capitalized; 

(iii) the costs and expenses of organizing and operating our operating partnership; 

(iv) amounts paid or due in respect of any loan or other indebtedness of our operating partnership during such 
period; 

(v) extraordinary expenses of our operating partnership not previously or otherwise deducted under item (ii) 
above; 

(vi) any third-party costs and expenses associated with identifying, analyzing, and presenting a proposed 
property to us and/or our operating partnership; and 

(vii)reserves to meet anticipated operating expenditures, debt service or other liabilities, as determined by us. 

To the extent that we, as the general partner of our operating partnership, determine to make distributions to the 
partners of our operating partnership out of the operating cash flow of a real property portfolio managed by one of 
our PROs, operating cash flow from a property portfolio is required to be allocated to OP unitholders and to the 
holders of series of subordinated performance units that relate to such property portfolio as follows: 

First, an amount is allocated to OP unitholders in order to provide OP unitholders (together with any prior 
allocations of capital transaction proceeds) with a cumulative preferred allocation on the unreturned capital 
contributions attributed to the OP units in respect of such property portfolio. The preferred allocation for all of our 
existing portfolios is 6%. As of December 31, 2020, our operating partnership had an aggregate of $1,811.6 million 
of unreturned capital contributions with respect to common shareholders and OP unitholders, with respect to the 
various property portfolios.

Second, an amount is allocated to the holders of the series of subordinated performance units relating to such 
property portfolio in order to provide such holders with an allocation (together with prior distributions of capital 
transaction proceeds) on their unreturned capital contributions. Although the subordinated allocation for the 
subordinated performance units is non-cumulative from period to period, if the operating cash flow from a property 
portfolio related to a series of subordinated performance units is sufficient, in the judgment of the general partner 
(with the approval of a majority of our independent trustees), to fund distributions to the holders of such series of 
subordinated performance units, but we, as the general partner of our operating partnership, decline to make 
distributions to such holders, the amount available but not paid as distributions will be added to the subordinated 
allocation corresponding to such series of subordinated performance units. The subordinated allocation for the 
outstanding subordinated performance units is 6%. As of December 31, 2020, an aggregate of $129.6 million of 
unreturned capital contributions has been allocated to the various series of subordinated performance units.

Thereafter, any additional operating cash flow is allocated to OP unitholders and the applicable series of 
subordinated performance units equally. 

Following the allocation described above, we as the general partner of our operating partnership, will generally 
cause our operating partnership to distribute the amounts allocated to the relevant series of subordinated 
performance units to the holders of such series of subordinated performance units. We, as the general partner, may 
cause our operating partnership to distribute the amounts allocated to OP unitholders or may cause our operating 
partnership to retain such amounts to be used by our operating partnership for any purpose. Any operating cash flow 
that is attributable to amounts retained by our operating partnership pursuant to the preceding sentence will generally 
be available to be allocated as an additional capital contribution to the various property portfolios. 

The foregoing description of the allocation of operating cash flow between the OP unitholders and subordinated 
performance unitholders is used for purposes of determining distributions to holders of subordinated performance 
units but does not necessarily represent the operating cash flow that will be distributed to OP unitholders (or paid as 
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dividends to holders of our common shares). Any distribution of operating cash flow allocated to the OP unitholders 
will be made at our discretion (and paid as dividends to holders of our common shares at the discretion of our board 
of trustees).

Under the LP Agreement of our operating partnership, capital transactions are transactions that are outside the 
ordinary course of our operating partnership's business, involve the sale, exchange, other disposition, or refinancing 
of any property, and are designated as capital transactions by us, as the general partner. To the extent the general 
partner determines to distribute capital transaction proceeds, the proceeds from capital transactions involving a 
particular property portfolio are required to be allocated to OP unitholders and to the series of subordinated 
performance units that relate to such property portfolio as follows: 

First, an amount determined by us, as the general partner, of such capital transaction proceeds is allocated to OP 
unitholders in order to provide OP unitholders (together with any prior allocations of operating cash flow) with a 
cumulative preferred allocation on the unreturned capital contributions attributed to the OP unitholders in respect of 
such property portfolio that relate to such capital transaction plus an additional amount equal to such unreturned 
capital contributions. 

Second, an amount determined by us, as the general partner, is allocated to the holders of the series of 
subordinated performance units relating to such property portfolio in order to provide such holders with a non-
cumulative subordinated allocation on the unreturned capital contributions made by such holders in respect of such 
property portfolio that relate to such capital transaction plus an additional amount equal to such unreturned capital 
contributions. 

The preferred allocation and subordinated allocation with respect to capital transaction proceeds for each 
portfolio is equal to the preferred allocation and subordinated allocation for distributions of operating cash flow with 
respect to that portfolio. 

Thereafter, any additional capital transaction proceeds are allocated to OP unitholders and the applicable series 
of subordinated performance units equally. 

Following the allocation described above, we, as the general partner of our operating partnership, will generally 
cause our operating partnership to distribute the amounts allocated to the relevant series of subordinated 
performance units to the holders of such series of subordinated performance units. We, as general partner of our 
operating partnership, may cause our operating partnership to distribute the amounts allocated to the OP unitholders 
or may cause our operating partnership to retain such amounts to be used by our operating partnership for any 
purpose. Any capital transaction proceeds that are attributable to amounts retained by our operating partnership 
pursuant to the preceding sentence will generally be available to be allocated as an additional capital contribution to 
the various property portfolios. 

The foregoing allocation of capital transaction proceeds between the OP unitholders and subordinated 
performance unitholders is used for purposes of determining distributions to holders of subordinated performance 
units but does not necessarily represent the capital transaction proceeds that will be distributed to OP unitholders (or 
paid as dividends to holders of our common shares). Any distribution of capital transaction proceeds allocated to the 
OP unitholders will be made at our discretion (and paid as dividends to holders of our common shares at the 
discretion of our board of trustees). 

Our OP units are redeemable for cash or, at our option exchangeable on a one-for-one basis into common shares 
after an agreed period of time and certain other conditions. Our subordinated performance units are only convertible 
into OP units following a two year lock-out period and then (i) at the holder's election only upon the achievement of 
certain performance thresholds relating to the properties to which such subordinated performance units relate or 
(ii) at our election upon a retirement event of a PRO that holds such subordinated performance units or upon certain 
qualifying terminations. 

Notwithstanding the two-year lock out period on conversions of subordinated performance units into OP units, 
if such subordinated performance units were convertible into OP units as of December 31, 2020, each subordinated 
performance unit would on average hypothetically convert into 1.23 OP units, or into an aggregate of approximately 
16.4 million OP units. These amounts are based on historical financial information for the trailing twelve months 
ended December 31, 2020. The hypothetical conversion is calculated by dividing the average cash available for 
distribution, or CAD, per subordinated performance unit by 110% of the CAD per OP unit over the same period. We 
anticipate that as our CAD grows over time, the conversion ratio will also grow, including to levels that may exceed 
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this amount. The actual number of OP units into which such subordinated performance units will become 
convertible may vary significantly and will depend upon the applicable conversion penalty and the actual CAD to 
the OP units and the actual CAD to the converted subordinated performance units in the one-year period ending 
prior to conversion. We have also granted registration rights to those persons who will be eligible to receive 
common shares issuable upon exchange of OP units issued in our formation transactions and certain contribution 
transactions.

Allocation of Capital Contributions 

        We, as the general partner of our operating partnership, in our discretion, have the right to increase or decrease, 
as appropriate, the amount of capital contributions allocated to our operating partnership in general and to each 
series of subordinated performance units to reflect capital expenditures made by our operating partnership in respect 
of each portfolio, the sale or refinancing of all or a portion of the properties comprising the portfolio, the distribution 
of capital transaction proceeds by our operating partnership, the retention by our operating partnership of cash for 
working capital purposes and other events impacting the amount of capital contributions allocated to the holders. In 
addition, to avoid conflicts of interests, any decision by us to increase or decrease allocations of capital contributions 
must also be approved by a majority of our independent trustees.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Except as disclosed in the notes to our financial statements, as of December 31, 2020, we did not have any 
relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured 
finance or special purposes entities, which typically are established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet 
arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. Further, except as disclosed in the notes to our 
financial statements, as of December 31, 2020, we have not guaranteed any obligations of unconsolidated entities 
nor made any commitments to provide funding to any such entities that creates any material exposure to any 
financing, liquidity, market or credit risk.

Segment 

We manage our business as one reportable segment consisting of investments in self storage properties located 
in the United States. Although we operate in several markets, these operations have been aggregated into one 
reportable segment based on the similar economic characteristics among all markets.

Seasonality 

The self storage business is subject to minor seasonal fluctuations. A greater portion of revenues and profits are 
realized from May through September. Historically, our highest level of occupancy has typically been in July, while 
our lowest level of occupancy has typically been in February. Results for any quarter may not be indicative of the 
results that may be achieved for the full fiscal year.

Inflation

Inflation in the United States has been relatively low in recent years and did not have a material impact on our 
results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Although the impact of inflation has 
been relatively insignificant in recent years, it remains a factor in the U.S. economy and may increase the cost of 
acquiring or replacing self storage properties and related improvements, as well as real estate property taxes, 
employee salaries, wages and benefits, utilities, and other expenses. Because our tenant leases are month-to-month, 
we may be able to rapidly adjust our rental rates to minimize the adverse impact of any inflation which could 
mitigate our exposure to increases in costs and expenses resulting from inflation.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk refers to the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices and interest rates. Our future 
income, cash flows, and fair values of financial instruments are dependent upon prevailing market interest rates. The 
primary market risk to which we believe we are exposed is interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to 
many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political 
considerations, and other factors beyond our control. We use interest rate swaps to moderate our exposure to interest 
rate risk by effectively converting the interest on variable rate debt to a fixed rate. We make limited use of other 
derivative financial instruments and we do not use them for trading or other speculative purposes.
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As of December 31, 2020, we had $174.0 million of debt subject to variable interest rates (excluding variable-
rate debt subject to interest rate swaps). If one-month LIBOR were to increase or decrease by 100 basis points, the 
increase or decrease in interest expense on the variable-rate debt (excluding variable-rate debt subject to interest rate 
swaps) would decrease or increase future earnings and cash flows by approximately $1.7 million annually.

Interest rate risk amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on our 
financial instruments. These analyses do not consider the effect of any change in overall economic activity that 
could occur. Further, in the event of a change of that magnitude, we may take actions to further mitigate our 
exposure to the change. However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their 
possible effects, these analyses assume no changes in our financial structure.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The independent registered public accounting firm's reports, consolidated financial statements and schedule 
listed in the accompanying index are filed as part of this report and incorporated herein by this reference. See "Index 
to Financial Statements" on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

A review and evaluation was performed by our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (the 
"CEO") and Chief Financial Officer (the "CFO"), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure 
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of 
the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on that review and evaluation, the CEO 
and CFO have concluded that our current disclosure controls and procedures, as designed and implemented, were 
effective.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that it will detect or uncover failures within the Company to disclose material 
information otherwise required to be set forth in our periodic reports. 

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under 
the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and principal 
financial officers and effected by our board of trustees, audit committee, management and other personnel to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of our management and trustees; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2020. In making this assessment, our management used criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 Framework).
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Based on this assessment, our management believes that, as of December 31, 2020, our internal control over 
financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter 
ended December 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information regarding our trustees, executive officers and certain other matters required by Item 401 of 
Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement relating to our annual meeting 
of shareholders (the "Proxy Statement"), to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2020.

The information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act required by Item 405 of 
Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days 
after December 31, 2020.

The information regarding our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics required by Item 406 of Regulation S-K is 
incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after 
December 31, 2020.

The information regarding certain matters pertaining to our corporate governance required by Item 407(c)(3), 
(d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC 
within 120 days after December 31, 2020.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information regarding executive compensation and other compensation related matters required by Items 
402 and 407(e)(4) and (e)(5) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be 
filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2020.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder 
Matters

The tables on equity compensation plan information and beneficial ownership of the Company required by 
Items 201(d) and 403 of Regulation S-K are incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with 
the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2020.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information regarding transactions with related persons, promoters and certain control persons and trustee 
independence required by Items 404 and 407(a) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy 
Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2020.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information concerning principal accounting fees and services and the Audit Committee's pre-approval 
policies and procedures required by Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed 
with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2020.
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10.7 First Amendment to Partnership Unit Designation of Series HA Class B OP Units of NSA OP, LP  
(Exhibit 10.8 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with SEC on February 28, 2017, is 
incorporated herein by this reference)

10.8 Partnership Unit Designation of Series PM Class B OP Units of NSA OP, LP (Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 4, 2017, is incorporated herein by this 
reference)

10.9 Partnership Unit Designation of Series MI Class B OP Units of NSA OP, LP (Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 7, 2017, is incorporated herein by 
this reference)

10.10 Partnership Unit Designation of Series A-1 Preferred Units of NSA OP, LP dated as of January 5, 
2018 (Exhibit 10.12 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on February 27, 2018, is 
incorporated herein by this reference)

10.11 Partnership Unit Designation of Series SO Class B OP Units of NSA OP, LP (Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 3, 2019, is incorporated herein by this 
reference)

10.12 Partnership Unit Designation of Series MO Class B OP Units of NSA OP, LP (Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 3, 2019, is incorporated herein by this 
reference)

10.13* Partnership Unit Designation of Series BL Class B OP Units of NSA OP, LP
10.14 Sixty-First Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of 

NSA OP, LP (Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 11, 2017, is incorporated 
herein by this reference)

10.15 Form of Second Amended and Restated DownREIT Partnership Agreement (including a schedule of 
existing DownREIT limited partnership agreements and limited liability company agreements) 
(Exhibit 10.7 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 10, 2015, is 
incorporated herein by this reference)

10.16 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "Keybank Credit Agreement") dated as of July 
29, 2019 by and among NSA OP, LP, as Borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and 
KeyBank National Association, as Administrative Agent, and joined in for certain purposes by certain 
Subsidiaries of the Borrower and National Storage Affiliates Trust, with Keybanc Capital Markets 
Inc., and PNC Capital Markets LLC, as Co-Bookrunners and Co-Lead Arrangers, PNC Bank, National 
Association, as Syndication Agent, U.S. Bank National Association and BMO Capital Markets Corp. 
as Co-Lead Arrangers and Co-Documentation Agents, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC as Co-Lead 
Arranger, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Co-Documentation Agent, and CitiBank, N.A., 
as Co-Lead Arranger and Co-Documentation Agent for the Revolving Credit Facility (Exhibit 10.1 to 
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 1, 2019, is incorporated herein 
by this reference)

10.17 National Storage Affiliates Trust Equity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q, filed with the SEC on June 5, 2015, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.18 NSA OP, LP, 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form 
S-11/A, filed with SEC on April 1, 2015, is incorporated herein by this reference).

10.19 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, by and among National Storage Affiliates 
Trust and the parties listed on Schedule I thereto (Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, 
filed with the SEC on June 5, 2015, is incorporated herein by reference)

10.20 Registration Rights Agreement, by and among National Storage Affiliates Trust and the parties listed 
on Schedule 1 thereto (Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 
4, 2018, is incorporated by this reference)

10.21 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2020, by and between 
National Storage Affiliates Trust and Arlen D. Nordhagen (Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 
8-K filed with the SEC on April 6, 2020, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.22 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2020, by and between 
National Storage Affiliates Trust and Tamara D. Fischer (Exhibit 10.4 to the Current Report on Form 
8-K filed with the SEC on April 6, 2020, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.23 Employment Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2020, by and between National Storage Affiliates Trust 
and David Cramer (Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 6, 
2020, is incorporated herein by this reference)
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10.24 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2020, by and between 
National Storage Affiliates Trust and Brandon S. Togashi (Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form 
8-K filed with the SEC on April 6, 2020, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.25 Letter Agreement dated as of April 2, 2020, by and between National Storage Affiliates Trust and 
Arlen D. Nordhagen. (Exhibit 10.6 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 6, 
2020, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.26 Letter Agreement dated as of April 2, 2020, by and between National Storage Affiliates Trust and 
David Cramer. (Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 6, 2020, 
is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.27 Form of Amended and Restated Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement (Exhibit 10.17 to the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 10, 2016, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.28 Form of Amended and Restated Restricted Share Award Agreement (Exhibit 10.18 to the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 10, 2016, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.29 Form of LTIP Unit Award Agreement to Trustees under the NSA OP, LP, 2013 Long-Term Incentive 
Plan (Exhibit 10.5 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A, filed with the SEC on April 1, 2015, 
is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.30 Form of LTIP Unit Award Agreement for Executive Officers (Exhibit 10.28 to the Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on February 27, 2018, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.31 Form of Contribution Agreement among each contributor named therein, NSA OP, LP and any 
indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of NSA OP, LP named therein (Exhibit 10.13 to the Registration 
Statement on Form S-11/A, filed with the SEC on April 1, 2015, is incorporated herein by this 
reference)

10.32 Form of Purchase and Sale Agreement among each seller named therein, National Storage Affiliates 
Trust and NSA OP, LP (Exhibit 10.14 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A, filed with the 
SEC on April 1, 2015, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.33 Form of Indemnification Agreement (Exhibit 10.7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A, filed 
with the SEC on April 1, 2015, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.34 Facilities Portfolio Management Agreement, dated April 28, 2015, by and among (i) NSA OP, LP, (ii) 
the property owners listed therein, (iii) Guardian Storage Centers, LLC, a California limited liability 
company d/b/a StorAmerica Management, and (iv) John Minar and David Lamb, each an individual 
(Exhibit 10.6 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on June 5, 2015, is 
incorporated herein by this reference)

10.35 Facilities Portfolio Management Agreement, dated April 28, 2015, by and among (i) NSA OP, LP, (ii) 
the property owners listed therein, (iii) Kevin Howard Real Estate, Inc., an Oregon corporation, and 
(iv) Kevin Howard, an individual (Exhibit 10.7 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the 
SEC on June 5, 2015, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.36 Facilities Portfolio Management Agreement, dated April 28, 2015, by and among (i) NSA OP, LP, (ii) 
the property owners listed therein, (iv) Optivest Properties, LLC, a California limited liability 
company, and (iv) Warren Allen, an individual (Exhibit 10.8 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, 
filed with the SEC on June 5, 2015, is incorporated herein by this reference)

10.37 Sales Agreement dated February 27, 2019, by and among (i) National Storage Affiliates Trust, (ii) 
NSA OP, LP and (iii) the Agents listed therein (Exhibit 1.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
March 1, 2019, is incorporated herein by this reference)

21.1* List of subsidiaries of National Storage Affiliates Trust
23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP for National Storage Affiliates Trust
24.1* Power of Attorney (included on signature page)
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File 
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
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101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
* Filed herewith.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report 
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
National Storage Affiliates Trust

/s/ TAMARA D. FISCHER trustee, president and chief executive officer February 26, 2021
Tamara D. Fischer (principal executive officer)

/s/ BRANDON S. TOGASHI chief financial officer February 26, 2021
Brandon S. Togashi (principal accounting and financial officer)

/s/ ARLEN D. NORDHAGEN executive chairman of the board of trustees February 26, 2021
Arlen D. Nordhagen

/s/ GEORGE L. CHAPMAN trustee February 26, 2021
George L. Chapman

/s/ PAUL W. HYLBERT, JR. trustee February 26, 2021
Paul W. Hylbert, Jr.

/s/ CHAD L. MEISINGER trustee February 26, 2021
Chad L. Meisinger

/s/ STEVEN G. OSGOOD trustee February 26, 2021
Steven G. Osgood

/s/ DOMINIC M. PALAZZO trustee February 26, 2021
Dominic M. Palazzo

/s/ REBECCA L. STEINFORT trustee February 26, 2021
Rebecca L. Steinfort

/s/ MARK VAN MOURICK trustee February 26, 2021
Mark Van Mourick

/s/ J. TIMOTHY WARREN trustee February 26, 2021
J. Timothy Warren

/s/ CHARLES F. WU trustee February 26, 2021
Charles F. Wu
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Trustees  
National Storage Affiliates Trust:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of National Storage Affiliates Trust and subsidiaries 
(the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive 
income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended December 31, 
2020, and the related notes, and the financial statement schedule, Schedule III – Real Estate and Accumulated 
Depreciation (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 
and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended 
December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 26, 2021 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting 
firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with 
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing 
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated 
financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) 
relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our 
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgment. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter 
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by 
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Evaluation of purchase price allocation for self storage property acquisitions

As discussed in Notes 2 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, during 2020, the Company acquired 
$543.3 million of self storage properties that were recorded as asset acquisitions. The purchase price in an 
asset acquisition is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on 
their relative fair value. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed primarily comprise land, buildings and 
related improvements, customer in-place leases, furniture and equipment, and assumed mortgage loans.

We identified the evaluation of purchase price allocation of self storage property acquisitions as a critical 
audit matter. This is due to the subjective and complex auditor judgment that was required to evaluate the 
Company’s estimated fair value of land, buildings, and improvements. In particular, there was a high 
degree of auditor judgment required to evaluate the comparable sales information for land assets and costs 
that would be incurred to replace building and improvement assets. 
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated 
the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’s 
process to estimate fair value, including controls related to developing estimated fair values of land, 
buildings, and improvements. We compared and evaluated estimated fair value of land, buildings, and 
improvements against purchase price allocations for similar land, buildings, and improvements acquired by 
the Company. With the assistance of valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, we 
evaluated the estimated fair value of land by comparing the Company’s estimates to independently 
developed ranges using publicly available market data of recent land sales. We evaluated the Company’s 
estimated costs of replacing buildings and improvements. We compared the estimated costs to market data, 
including appraisal guides used to estimate the depreciated value of similar self storage structures.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

Denver, Colorado 
February 26, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Trustees  
National Storage Affiliates Trust:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

We have audited National Storage Affiliates Trust and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related 
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for each of 
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes, and the financial statement 
schedule, Schedule III – Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation (collectively, the consolidated financial 
statements), and our report dated February 26, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated 
financial statements.

Basis for Opinion 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting 
firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with 
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit 
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that 
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Denver, Colorado 
February 26, 2021 
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

National Storage Affiliates Trust was organized in the state of Maryland on May 16, 2013 and is a fully 
integrated, self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust focused on the self storage sector. As 
used herein, "NSA," the "Company," "we," "our," and "us" refers to National Storage Affiliates Trust and its 
consolidated subsidiaries, except where the context indicates otherwise. The Company has elected and believes that 
it has qualified to be taxed as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes ("REIT") 
commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 2015. 

Through its controlling interest as the sole general partner of NSA OP, LP (its "operating partnership"), a 
Delaware limited partnership formed on February 13, 2013, the Company is focused on the ownership, operation, 
and acquisition of self storage properties located within the top 100 MSAs in the United States. Pursuant to the 
Agreement of Limited Partnership (as amended, the "LP Agreement") of its operating partnership, the Company's 
operating partnership is authorized to issue preferred units, Class A Units ("OP units"), different series of Class B 
Units ("subordinated performance units"), and Long-Term Incentive Plan Units ("LTIP units"). The Company also 
owns certain of its self storage properties through other consolidated limited partnership subsidiaries of its operating 
partnership, which the Company refers to as "DownREIT partnerships." The DownREIT partnerships issue equity 
ownership interests that are intended to be economically equivalent to the Company's OP units ("DownREIT OP 
units") and subordinated performance units ("DownREIT subordinated performance units"). 

The Company owned 644 consolidated self storage properties in 33 states and Puerto Rico with approximately 
39.3 million rentable square feet (unaudited) in approximately 309,000 storage units as of December 31, 2020. 
These properties are managed with local operational focus and expertise by the Company and its participating 
regional operators ("PROs"). These PROs are Kevin Howard Real Estate Inc., d/b/a Northwest Self Storage and its 
controlled affiliates ("Northwest"), Optivest Properties LLC and its controlled affiliates ("Optivest"), Guardian 
Storage Centers LLC and its controlled affiliates ("Guardian"), Move It Self Storage and its controlled affiliates 
("Move It"), Arizona Mini Storage Management Company d/b/a Storage Solutions and its controlled affiliates 
("Storage Solutions"), Hide-Away Storage Services, Inc. and its controlled affiliates ("Hide-Away"), an affiliate of 
Shader Brothers Corporation d/b/a Personal Mini Storage ("Personal Mini"), Southern Storage Management 
Systems, Inc. d/b/a Southern Self Storage ("Southern"), affiliates of Investment Real Estate Management, LLC d/b/a 
Moove In Self Storage ("Moove In") and Blue Sky Self Storage, LLC ("Blue Sky").

On March 31, 2020, the Company closed on the mergers of SecurCare Self Storage, Inc. and its controlled 
affiliates ("SecurCare"), which prior to the merger and internalization was the Company's largest PRO, and DLAN 
Corporation ("DLAN") with and into wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. As a result of the mergers, 
SecurCare's property management platform and related intellectual property were internalized by the Company, and 
the Company no longer pays any supervisory and administrative fees or reimbursements to SecurCare. In addition, 
distributions on the series of subordinated performance units related to SecurCare's managed portfolio were 
discontinued. As part of the internalization, most of SecurCare's employees and other key persons were offered and 
provided employment by the Company and continue managing SecurCare's portfolio of properties as members of 
the Company's existing property management platform.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company also managed through its property management platform an additional 
portfolio of 177 properties owned by the Company's unconsolidated real estate ventures. These properties contain 
approximately 12.7 million rentable square feet, configured in approximately 104,000 storage units and located 
across 21 states. The Company owns a 25% equity interest in each of its unconsolidated real estate ventures.

As of December 31, 2020, in total, the Company operated and held ownership interests in 821 self storage 
properties located across 36 states and Puerto Rico with approximately 52.0 million rentable square feet in 
approximately 413,000 storage units.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").
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Principles of Consolidation

The Company's consolidated financial statements include the accounts of its operating partnership and its 
controlled subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the 
consolidation of entities. 

When the Company obtains an economic interest in an entity, the Company evaluates the entity to determine if 
the entity is deemed a variable interest entity ("VIE"), and if the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary, 
in accordance with authoritative guidance issued on the consolidation of VIEs. When an entity is not deemed to be a 
VIE, the Company considers the provisions of additional guidance to determine whether the general partner controls 
a limited partnership or similar entity when the limited partners have certain rights. The Company consolidates all 
entities that are VIEs and of which the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. The Company has 
determined that its operating partnership is a VIE. The sole significant asset of National Storage Affiliates Trust is 
its investment in its operating partnership, and consequently, substantially all of the Company's assets and liabilities 
represent those assets and liabilities of its operating partnership.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company's operating partnership was the primary beneficiary of, and therefore 
consolidated, 21 DownREIT partnerships that are considered VIEs, which owned 34 self storage properties. The net 
book value of the real estate owned by these VIEs was $225.1 million and $233.1 million as of December 31, 2020 
and December 31, 2019, respectively. For certain DownREIT partnerships which are subject to fixed rate mortgages 
payable, the carrying value of such fixed rate mortgages payable held by these VIEs was $100.7 million and $136.4 
million as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The creditors of the consolidated VIEs do 
not have recourse to the Company's general credit.

Noncontrolling Interests

All of the limited partner equity interests ("OP equity") in its operating partnership not held by the Company are 
reflected as noncontrolling interests. Noncontrolling interests also include ownership interests in DownREIT 
partnerships held by entities other than the Company's operating partnership. In the consolidated statements of 
operations, the Company allocates net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests to arrive at net income 
(loss) attributable to National Storage Affiliates Trust. 

For transactions that result in changes to the Company's ownership interest in its operating partnership, the 
carrying amount of noncontrolling interests is adjusted to reflect such changes. The difference between the fair value 
of the consideration received or paid and the amount by which the noncontrolling interests is adjusted is reflected as 
an adjustment to additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheets.

Self Storage Properties

Self storage properties are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
Major replacements and betterments, which improve or extend the life of an asset, are capitalized. Expenditures for 
ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred and are included in property operating expenses. 
Estimated depreciable lives of self storage properties are determined by considering the age and other indicators 
about the condition of the assets at the respective dates of acquisition, resulting in a range of estimated useful lives 
for assets within each category. All self storage property assets are depreciated using the straight-line method. 
Buildings and improvements are depreciated over estimated useful lives primarily between seven and 40 years; 
furniture and equipment are depreciated over estimated useful lives primarily between three and 10 years.

When a self storage property is acquired, the purchase price of the acquired self storage property is allocated to 
land, buildings and improvements, furniture and equipment, customer in-place leases, assumed real estate leasehold 
interests, and other assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on the estimated fair value of each component. 
When a portfolio of self storage properties is acquired, the purchase price is allocated to the individual self storage 
properties based on the fair value determined using an income approach with appropriate risk-adjusted capitalization 
rates, which take into account the relative size, age and location of the individual self storage properties.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly-liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less 
to be cash equivalents. From time to time, the Company maintains cash balances in financial institutions in excess of 
federally insured limits. The Company has never experienced a loss that resulted from exceeding federally insured 
limits.
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Restricted Cash

The Company's restricted cash consists of escrowed funds deposited with financial institutions for real estate 
taxes, insurance and other reserves for capital improvements in accordance with the Company's loan agreements.

Customer In-place Leases

In allocating the purchase price for a self storage property acquisition, the Company determines whether the 
acquisition includes intangible assets. The Company allocates a portion of the purchase price to an intangible asset 
attributed to the value of customer in-place leases. This intangible asset is amortized to expense using the straight-
line method over 12 months, the estimated average rental period for the leases. Substantially all of the leases in place 
at acquired properties are at market rates, as the leases are month-to-month contracts.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment when events and circumstances indicate that there 
may be impairment. When events or changes in circumstances indicate that the Company's long-lived assets may not 
be recoverable, the carrying value of these long-lived assets is compared to the undiscounted future net operating 
cash flows, plus a terminal value attributable to the assets. If an asset's carrying value is not considered recoverable, 
an impairment loss is recorded to the extent the net carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value. For the periods 
presented, no assets were determined to be impaired under this policy.

Costs of Raising Capital

Commissions, legal fees and other costs that are directly associated with equity offerings are capitalized as 
deferred offering costs, pending a determination of the success of the offering. Deferred offering costs related to 
successful offerings are charged to additional paid-in capital within equity in the period it is determined that the 
offering was successful. 

Debt issuance costs are amortized over the estimated life of the related debt using the straight-line method, 
which approximates the effective interest rate method. Amortization of debt issuance costs is included in interest 
expense in the accompanying statements of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Rental revenue

Rental revenue consists of space rentals and related fees. Management has determined that all of the Company's 
leases are operating leases. Substantially all leases may be terminated on a month-to-month basis and rental income 
is recognized ratably over the lease term using the straight-line method. Rents received in advance are deferred and 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the related lease term associated with the prepayment. Promotional discounts 
and other incentives are recognized as a reduction to rental income over the applicable lease term. 

Other property-related revenue

Other property-related revenue primarily consists of ancillary revenues such as tenant insurance and/or tenant 
warranty protection-related access fees and sales of storage supplies which are recognized in the period earned.

The Company and certain of the Company’s PROs have tenant insurance- and/or tenant warranty protection 
plan-related arrangements with insurance companies and the Company’s tenants. During the years ended 
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized $11.1 million, $9.1 million and $7.5 million, 
respectively, of tenant insurance and tenant warranty protection plan revenues.

The Company sells boxes, packing supplies, locks and other retail merchandise at its properties. During the 
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized retail sales of $1.8 million, $1.7 million 
and $1.5 million, respectively.

Management fees and other revenue

Management fees and other revenue consist of property management fees, platform fees, call center fees, 
acquisition fees, and a portion of tenant warranty protection or tenant insurance proceeds that the Company earns for 
managing and operating its unconsolidated real estate ventures. 

With respect to both the 2018 Joint Venture and the 2016 Joint Venture, the Company provides supervisory and 
administrative property management services, centralized call center services, and technology platform and revenue 
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management services to the properties in the unconsolidated real estate ventures. The property management fees are 
equal to 6% of monthly gross revenues and net sales revenues from the assets of the unconsolidated real estate 
ventures, and the platform fees are equal to $1,250 per month per unconsolidated real estate venture property. With 
respect to the 2016 Joint Venture only, the call center fees are equal to 1% of each of monthly gross revenues and 
net sales revenues from the 2016 Joint Venture properties. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 
2018, the Company recognized property management fees, call center fees and platform fees of $13.1 million, $12.8 
million and $7.8 million, respectively.

For acquisition fees, the Company provides sourcing, underwriting and administration services to the 
unconsolidated real estate ventures. The 2016 Joint Venture paid the Company a $4.1 million acquisition fee equal 
to 0.65% of the gross capitalization (including debt and equity) of the original 66-property 2016 Joint Venture 
portfolio (the "Initial 2016 JV Portfolio") in 2016, at the time of the Initial 2016 JV Portfolio acquisition. The 2018 
Joint Venture paid the Company a $4.0 million acquisition fee related to the initial acquisition of properties by the 
2018 Joint Venture (the "Initial 2018 JV Portfolio") during the year ended December 31, 2018, at the time of the 
Initial 2018 JV Portfolio acquisition. These fees are refundable to the unconsolidated real estate ventures, on a 
prorated basis, if the Company is removed as the managing member during the initial four year life of the 
unconsolidated real estate ventures and as such, the Company's performance obligation for these acquisition fees are 
satisfied over a four year period. Accordingly, the Company's performance obligation related to the Initial 2016 JV 
Portfolio was satisfied during the year ended December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company 
had deferred revenue related to the acquisition fees of $1.3 million and $2.8 million, respectively. 

The Company also earns acquisition fees for properties acquired by the unconsolidated real estate ventures 
subsequent to the Initial 2016 JV Portfolio and the Initial 2018 JV Portfolio. These fees are based on a percentage of 
the gross capitalization of the acquired assets determined by the members of the 2016 Joint Venture and the 2018 
Joint Venture, and are generally earned when the unconsolidated real estate ventures obtain title and control of an 
acquired property. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized acquisition 
fees of $1.7 million, $1.8 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

An affiliate of the Company facilitates tenant warranty protection or tenant insurance programs for tenants of 
the properties in the unconsolidated real estate ventures in exchange for 50% of all proceeds from such programs at 
each unconsolidated real estate venture property. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the 
Company recognized $6.3 million, $4.7 million and $2.4 million, respectively, of revenue related to these activities.

Advertising Costs

The Company incurs advertising costs primarily attributable to internet, directory and other advertising. 
Advertising costs are included in property operating expenses in the accompanying statements of operations. These 
costs are expensed in the period in which the cost is incurred. The Company incurred advertising costs of $5.8 
million, $5.2 million and $4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Acquisition Costs

The Company incurs title, legal and consulting fees, and other costs associated with the completion of 
acquisitions. The Company's self storage property acquisitions are accounted for as asset acquisitions, and 
accordingly, acquisition costs directly related to the self storage property acquisitions were capitalized as part of the 
basis of the acquired properties. Indirect acquisition costs remain included in acquisition costs in the accompanying 
statements of operations in the period in which they were incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected and believes it has qualified to be taxed as a REIT under sections 856 through 860 of 
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (the "Code") commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2015. To 
qualify as a REIT, among other things, the Company is required to distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable 
income to its shareholders and meet certain tests regarding the nature of its income and assets. As a REIT, the 
Company is not subject to federal income tax on the earnings distributed currently to its shareholders that it derives 
from its REIT qualifying activities. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, and is unable to 
avail itself of certain provisions set forth in the Code, all of the Company's taxable income would be subject to 
federal and state income taxes at regular corporate rates.

The Company will not be required to make distributions with respect to income derived from the activities 
conducted through subsidiaries that the Company elects to treat as taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRS") for federal 
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income tax purposes. Certain activities that the Company undertakes must be conducted by a TRS, such as 
performing non-customary services for its customers, facilitating sales by PROs of tenant insurance and holding 
assets that the Company is not permitted to hold directly. A TRS is subject to federal and state income taxes.

On June 25, 2014, the Company formed NSA TRS, LLC ("NSA TRS"), a Delaware limited liability company. 
The Company has elected to treat NSA TRS as a TRS, and consequently, NSA TRS is subject to U.S. federal and 
state corporate income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized to the extent of any differences 
between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. No material deferred tax assets and liabilities 
were recorded as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 
2020 and 2019. Future amounts of accrued interest and penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax positions will be 
recorded as a component of income tax expense. The Company does not expect that the amount of unrecognized tax 
benefits will change significantly in the next 12 months.

The Company's material taxing jurisdiction is the U.S. federal jurisdiction; the 2017 tax year is the earliest 
period that remains open to examination by these taxing jurisdictions. 

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of the Company's common shares 
of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share ("common shares"), outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings 
per share is calculated by further adjusting for the dilutive impact using the treasury stock method for any share 
options and unvested share equivalents outstanding during the period and the if-converted method for any 
convertible securities outstanding during the period.  

As more fully described below under "–Allocation of Net Income (Loss)", the Company allocates GAAP income 
(loss) utilizing the hypothetical liquidation at book value ("HLBV") method, which could result in net income (or 
net loss) attributable to National Storage Affiliates Trust during a period when the Company reports consolidated net 
loss (or net income), or net income (or net loss) attributable to National Storage Affiliates Trust in excess of the 
Company's consolidated net income (or net loss). The computations of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 
may be materially affected by these disproportionate income (loss) allocations, resulting in volatile fluctuations of 
basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share.

Equity-Based Awards

The measurement and recognition of compensation cost for all equity-based awards granted to officers, 
employees and consultants is based on estimated fair values. Compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the requisite service periods of each award with non-graded vesting. For awards granted which contain a 
graded vesting schedule and the only condition for vesting is a service condition, compensation cost is recognized as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period as if the award was, in substance, a single award. 
For awards granted for which vesting is subject to a performance condition, compensation cost is recognized over 
the requisite service period if and when the Company concludes it is probable that the performance condition will be 
achieved.

The estimated fair value of all equity-based awards issued to PROs and their affiliates in connection with self 
storage property acquisitions is included in the cost of the respective acquisitions. The estimated fair value of such 
awards is measured at the date the self storage properties are acquired, as this date represents satisfaction of the 
performance condition and coincides with the award vesting.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company carries all derivative financial instruments on the balance sheet at fair value. Fair value of 
derivatives is determined by reference to observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but 
corroborated by market data. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument depends on 
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship. The Company's use of 
derivative instruments has been limited to interest rate swap and cap agreements. The fair values of derivative 
instruments are included in other assets and accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying balance 
sheets. For derivative instruments not designated as cash flow hedges, the unrealized gains and losses are included in 
interest expense in the accompanying statements of operations. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the 
effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivatives is initially reported in accumulated other 
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comprehensive income (loss) in the Company's balance sheets and subsequently reclassified into earnings when the 
hedged transaction affects earnings.

The valuation of interest rate swap and cap agreements is determined using widely accepted valuation 
techniques including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis 
reflects the contractual terms of derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based 
inputs, including interest rate curves. The fair values of interest rate swaps are determined using the market standard 
methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash payments and the discounted expected variable cash 
receipts. The variable cash receipts are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from 
observable market interest rate forward curves. The Company may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to 
economically hedge certain of its risk, even though hedge accounting does not apply or the Company elects not to 
apply hedge accounting.

Fair Value Measurements

When measuring fair value of financial instruments that are required to be recorded or disclosed at fair value, 
the Company uses a three-tier measurement hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used to calculate fair value. These 
tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs 
other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as 
unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own 
assumptions.

Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures

The Company’s investments in its unconsolidated real estate ventures are recorded under the equity method of 
accounting in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Under the equity method, the Company’s 
investments in unconsolidated real estate ventures are stated at cost and adjusted for the Company’s share of net 
earnings or losses and reduced by distributions. Equity in earnings (losses) is recognized based on the Company’s 
ownership interest in the earnings (losses) of the unconsolidated real estate ventures. The Company follows the 
"nature of the distribution approach" for classification of distributions from its unconsolidated real estate ventures in 
its consolidated statements of cash flows. Under this approach, distributions are reported on the basis of the nature of 
the activity or activities that generated the distributions as either a return on investment, which are classified as 
operating cash flows, or a return of investment (e.g., proceeds from the unconsolidated real estate ventures' sale of 
assets) which are reported as investing cash flows.

Segment Reporting

The Company manages its business as one reportable segment consisting of investments in self storage 
properties located in the United States. Although the Company operates in several markets, these operations have 
been aggregated into one reportable segment based on the similar economic characteristics among all markets. 

Allocation of Net Income (Loss)

The distribution rights and priorities set forth in the operating partnership's LP Agreement differ from what is 
reflected by the underlying percentage ownership interests of the operating partnership's unitholders. Accordingly, 
the Company allocates GAAP income (loss) utilizing the HLBV method, in which the Company allocates income or 
loss based on the change in each unitholders’ claim on the net assets of its operating partnership at period end after 
adjusting for any distributions or contributions made during such period. The HLBV method is commonly applied to 
equity investments where cash distribution percentages vary at different points in time and are not directly linked to 
an equity holder’s ownership percentage. 

The HLBV method is a balance sheet-focused approach to income (loss) allocation. A calculation is prepared at 
each balance sheet date to determine the amount that unitholders would receive if the operating partnership were to 
liquidate all of its assets (at GAAP net book value) and distribute the resulting proceeds to its creditors and 
unitholders based on the contractually defined liquidation priorities. The difference between the calculated 
liquidation distribution amounts at the beginning and the end of the reporting period, after adjusting for capital 
contributions and distributions, is used to derive each unitholder's share of the income (loss) for the period. Due to 
the stated liquidation priorities and because the HLBV method incorporates non-cash items such as depreciation 
expense, in any given period, income or loss may be allocated disproportionately to unitholders as compared to their 
respective ownership percentage in the operating partnership, and net income (loss) attributable to National Storage 
Affiliates Trust could be more or less net income than actual cash distributions received and more or less income or 
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loss than what may be received in the event of an actual liquidation. Additionally, the HLBV method could result in 
net income (or net loss) attributable to National Storage Affiliates Trust during a period when the Company reports 
consolidated net loss (or net income), or net income (or net loss) attributable to National Storage Affiliates Trust in 
excess of the Company's consolidated net income (or net loss). The computations of basic and diluted earnings (loss) 
per share may be materially affected by these disproportionate income (loss) allocations, resulting in volatile 
fluctuations of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company has cash flow hedge derivative instruments that are measured at fair value with unrealized gains 
or losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) within equity, as discussed further in Note 14. Under the HLBV method of allocating 
income (loss) discussed above, a calculation is prepared at each balance sheet date by applying the HLBV method 
including, and excluding, the assets and liabilities resulting from the Company's cash flow hedge derivative 
instruments to determine comprehensive income (loss) attributable to National Storage Affiliates Trust. As a result 
of the distribution rights and priorities set forth in the operating partnership's LP Agreement, in any given period, 
other comprehensive income (loss) may be allocated disproportionately to unitholders as compared to their 
respective ownership percentage in the operating partnership and as compared to their respective allocation of net 
income (loss). 

Gain on sale of self storage properties

The Company recognizes gains from disposition of facilities only upon closing in accordance with the guidance 
on sales of nonfinancial assets. Profit on real estate sold is recognized upon closing when all, or substantially all, of 
the promised consideration has been received and is nonrefundable and the Company has transferred control of the 
facilities to the purchaser. 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the costs of business acquisitions in excess of the fair value of identifiable net assets 
acquired. The Company evaluates goodwill for potential impairment annually, or whenever impairment indicators 
are present. The Company determined that there was no impairment to goodwill during the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the consolidated financial statements and related notes have been reclassified to conform to 
the current year presentation. Such reclassifications do not impact the Company's previously reported financial 
position or net income (loss).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 
848). ASU 2020-04 contains practical expedients for reference rate reform related activities that impact debt, leases, 
derivatives and other contracts. The guidance in ASU 2020-04 is optional and may be elected over time as reference 
rate reform activities occur. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company elected to apply the hedge 
accounting expedients related to probability and the assessments of effectiveness for future LIBOR-indexed cash 
flows to assume that the index upon which future hedged transactions will be based matches the index on the 
corresponding derivatives. Application of these expedients preserves the presentation of derivatives consistent with 
past presentation. The Company continues to evaluate the impact of the guidance and may apply other elections as 
applicable as additional changes in the market occur. See Note 14 for additional detail about the Company's 
derivatives.
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3. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Shareholders' Equity

Internalization and Acquisition of PRO

As discussed in Note 1 and further below, on March 31, 2020, the Company closed on the previously 
announced mergers of SecurCare and DLAN with and into wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. In 
connection with the mergers, the Company issued 8,105,192 common shares to the owners of SecurCare and DLAN, 
which represented a 1% discount to an aggregate of 8,187,052 OP units that each of SecurCare and DLAN owned or 
was entitled to receive immediately prior to the mergers (after rounding up to the next whole number of common 
shares). Of the total number of common shares issued to the owners of SecurCare, 4,063,571 common shares were 
issued to Arlen Nordhagen, the Company's executive chairman and former chief executive officer, who owned 
approximately 53% of SecurCare's outstanding shares, and 1,858,737 common shares were issued to David Cramer, 
the Company's chief operating officer, who owned approximately 24% of SecurCare's outstanding shares. In 
connection with the mergers and the issuance of the Company's common shares to Mr. Nordhagen and Mr. Cramer, 
the Company formed a special committee of independent and disinterested trustees (the "Special Committee") to 
evaluate the merits and terms of the proposed transaction. In analyzing the proposed transaction, the Special 
Committee engaged an independent third party financial advisor to assist the Special Committee in analyzing and 
assessing the transaction, and to opine on the fairness to the Company of the consideration to be paid by the 
Company in the mergers. The Special Committee approved and recommended that the Company's board of trustees 
approve the proposed transaction. The transaction was approved unanimously by the disinterested trustees of the 
Company's board of trustees on February 19, 2020.

Forward Equity Offering

On September 22, 2020, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement, as well as certain forward sale 
agreements, with a syndicate of banks acting as underwriters, forward sellers, and/or forward purchasers in 
connection with an underwritten public offering of 4,500,000 common shares at a public offering price of $33.15 per 
share (the "forward offering"). The underwriters were granted a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 
675,000 common shares at the same price, which they partially exercised for an additional 400,000 common shares 
on October 6, 2020. Therefore, the forward sellers or their affiliates, at the Company's request, borrowed from third 
parties and sold to the underwriters an aggregate of 4,900,000 common shares, which the underwriters sold at an 
offering price of $33.15 per share, for proceeds of approximately $162.4 million. As a result of this forward 
construct, the Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of such shares at closing. The Company has 
determined that the forward sale agreements agreements are not considered to be derivative instruments under the 
guidance within ASC 815.

On December 30, 2020, the Company settled a portion of the forward offering by physically delivering 
1,850,510 common shares to the forward purchasers for net proceeds of approximately $60.0 million. As of 
December 31, 2020, 3,049,490 shares remained outstanding under the forward sale agreements. 

Series A Preferred Shares

The 6.000% cumulative redeemable preferred shares of beneficial interest ("Series A Preferred Shares") rank 
senior to the Company's common shares with respect to rights and rights upon its liquidation, dissolution or winding 
up. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares, which are payable quarterly in arrears, are cumulative from the date 
of original issuance in the amount of $1.50 per share each year. Generally, the Series A Preferred Shares become 
redeemable by the Company beginning in October 2022 for a cash redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus 
accrued but unpaid dividends. 

At the Market ("ATM") Program

On February 27, 2019, the Company entered into a sales agreement with certain sales agents, pursuant to which 
the Company may sell from time to time up to $250.0 million of the Company's common shares and 6.000% Series 
A Preferred Shares in sales deemed to be "at the market" offerings. The sales agreement contemplates that, in 
addition to the issuance and sale by the Company of offered shares to or through the sale agents, the Company may 
enter into separate forward sale agreements with any forward purchaser. Forward sale agreements, if any, will 
include only the Company's common shares and will not include any Series A Preferred Shares. If the Company 
enters into a forward sale agreement with any forward purchaser, such forward purchaser will attempt to borrow 
from third parties and sell, through the related agent, acting as sales agent for such forward purchaser (each, a 
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OP Units and DownREIT OP units

OP units in the Company's operating partnership are redeemable for cash or, at the Company's option, 
exchangeable for common shares on a one-for-one basis, and DownREIT OP units are redeemable for cash or, at the 
Company's option, exchangeable for OP units in its operating partnership on a one-for-one basis, subject to certain 
adjustments in each case. The holders of OP units are generally not entitled to elect redemption until one year after 
the issuance of the OP units. The holders of DownREIT OP units are generally not entitled to elect redemption until 
five years after the date of the contributor's initial contribution. 

The decrease in OP units outstanding from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 was due to the 
redemption of 892,070 OP units for common shares, the exchange of 368,500 DownREIT OP units in redemption of 
an equivalent number of outstanding OP units, which were subsequently retired by the operating partnership and the 
exchange of 47,328 OP units for an equivalent number of subordinated performance units offset by the following: 
445,701 OP units issued upon the conversion of 332,738 subordinated performance units (as discussed further 
below), 755,007 OP units issued in connection with the acquisition of self storage properties and 246,156 LTIP units 
which were converted into an equivalent number of OP units. In addition, in connection with the completion of the 
SecurCare and DLAN mergers, the Company's operating partnership retired 710,462 OP Units.

The increase in DownREIT OP units outstanding from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 was due to 
the exchange of 368,500 DownREIT OP units held by the operating partnership in redemption of an equivalent 
number of outstanding OP Units, which were subsequently retired by the operating partnership, and the issuance of 
115,888 DownREIT OP units related to the conversion of 34,511 DownREIT subordinated performance units (as 
discussed further below) partially offset by the contribution of 407,731 DownREIT OP units (which were previously 
included in the above table because they were not held by the Company) to the operating partnership in connection 
with the SecurCare and DLAN mergers.

Subordinated Performance Units and DownREIT Subordinated Performance Units

 Subordinated performance units may also, under certain circumstances, be convertible into OP units which are 
exchangeable for common shares as described above, and DownREIT subordinated performance units may, under 
certain circumstances, be exchangeable for subordinated performance units on a one-for-one basis. Subordinated 
performance units are only convertible into OP units after a two year lock-out period and then generally (i) at the 
holder’s election only upon the achievement of certain performance thresholds relating to the properties to which 
such subordinated performance units relate or (ii) at the Company's election upon a retirement event of a PRO that 
holds such subordinated performance units or upon certain qualifying terminations. The holders of DownREIT 
subordinated performance units are generally not entitled to elect redemption until at least five years after the date of 
the contributor's initial contribution. 

Following such lock-out period, a holder of subordinated performance units in the Company's operating 
partnership may elect a voluntary conversion one time each year on or prior to December 1st to convert a pre-
determined portion of such subordinated performance units into OP units in the Company's operating partnership, 
with such conversion effective January 1st of the following year, with each subordinated performance unit being 
converted into the number of OP units determined by dividing the average cash available for distribution, or CAD, 
per unit on the series of specific subordinated performance units over the one-year period prior to conversion 
by 110% of the CAD per unit on the OP units determined over the same period. CAD per unit on the series of 
specific subordinated performance units and OP units is determined by the Company based generally upon the 
application of the provisions of the LP Agreement applicable to the distributions of operating cash flow and capital 
transactions proceeds.

The decrease in subordinated performance units outstanding from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 
was due to the retirement of 2,001,441 subordinated performance units in connection with the SecurCare merger and 
the voluntary conversion of 332,738 subordinated performance units into 445,701 OP units, partially offset by the 
issuance of 303,528 subordinated performance units for co-investment by the Company's PROs in connection with 
the acquisition of self storage properties and 47,328 subordinated performance units issued in exchange for an 
equivalent number of OP units.

The decrease in DownREIT subordinated performance units outstanding from December 31, 2019 to 
December 31, 2020 was due to the conversion of 34,511 DownREIT subordinated performance units into 
115,888 DownREIT OP units.
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Credit Facility

On July 29, 2019, the operating partnership, as borrower, the Company, and certain of the operating 
partnership's subsidiaries, as subsidiary guarantors, entered into a second amended and restated credit agreement 
with a syndicated group of lenders, which extended the maturities, enhanced the terms in line with the current 
market and increased the total borrowing capacity under the Company's unsecured credit facility by $255.0 million 
for a total of $1.275 billion (the "credit facility"). The credit facility consists of the following components: (i) a 
revolving line of credit (the "Revolver") which provides for a total borrowing commitment up to $500.0 million, 
under which the Company may borrow, repay and re-borrow amounts, (ii) a $125.0 million tranche A term loan 
facility (the "Term Loan A"), (iii) a $250.0 million tranche B term loan facility (the "Term Loan B"), (iv) a $225.0 
million tranche C term loan facility (the "Term Loan C"), and (v) a $175.0 million tranche D term loan facility (the 
"Term Loan D"). The Company has an expansion option under the credit facility, which if exercised in full, would 
provide for a total borrowing capacity under the credit facility of $1.750 billion.

 The Revolver matures in January 2024; provided that the Company may elect to extend the maturity to July 
2024 by paying an extension fee of 0.075% of the total borrowing commitment thereunder at the time of extension 
and meeting other customary conditions with respect to compliance. The Term Loan A matures in January 2023, the 
Term Loan B matures in July 2024, the Term Loan C matures in January 2025 and the Term Loan D matures in July 
2026. The credit facility is not subject to any scheduled reduction or amortization payments prior to maturity. 

Interest rates applicable to loans under the credit facility are determined based on a 1, 2, 3 or 6 month LIBOR 
period (as elected by the Company at the beginning of any applicable interest period) plus an applicable margin or a 
base rate, determined by the greatest of the Key Bank prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50% or one month 
LIBOR plus 1.00%, plus an applicable margin. The applicable margins for the credit facility are leverage based and 
range from 1.15% to 2.20% for LIBOR loans and 0.15% to 1.20% for base rate loans; provided that after such time 
as the Company achieves an investment grade rating as defined in the credit facility, the Company may elect (but is 
not required to elect) (a "credit rating pricing election") that the credit facility be subject to applicable margins 
ranging from 0.78% to 2.25% for LIBOR loans and 0.00% to 1.25% for base rate loans. The Company is also 
required to pay usage based fees ranging from 0.15% to 0.20% with respect to the unused portion of the Revolver; 
provided that if the Company makes a credit rating pricing election under the credit facility, the Company will be 
required to pay rating based fees ranging from 0.125% to 0.300% with respect to the entire Revolver in lieu of any 
usage based fees. 

On July 29, 2019, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements which together with the Company's 
existing interest rate swap agreements, fix the interest rates through maturity for the Term Loan A, Term Loan B, 
Term Loan C and Term Loan D. As of December 31, 2020, the Term Loan A, Term Loan B, Term Loan C and 
Term Loan D had effective interest rates of 3.74%, 2.91%, 2.80% and 3.57%, respectively.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $5.7 million and would have 
had the capacity to borrow remaining Revolver commitments of $320.3 million while remaining in compliance with 
the credit facility's financial covenants described in the following paragraph.

The Company is required to comply with the following financial covenants under the credit facility:

• Maximum total leverage ratio not to exceed 60%, provided, however, the Company is permitted to maintain 
a ratio of up to 65% up to two (2) consecutive fiscal quarters immediately following the quarter in which a 
material acquisition (as defined in the credit facility) occurs

• Minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.5x
• Maximum unsecured debt to unencumbered asset value ratio not to exceed 60%, provided, however, the 

Company shall be permitted to maintain a ratio of up to 65% up to two (2) consecutive fiscal quarters 
immediately following the quarter in which a material acquisition (as defined in the credit facility) occurs

• Unencumbered adjusted net operating income to unsecured interest expense of at least 2.0x
On July 29, 2019, the financial covenants and certain other terms of the 2023 Term Loan Facility, 2028 Term 

Loan Facility and 2029 Term Loan Facility were amended to make such terms substantially similar to those in the 
credit facility.

In addition, the terms of the credit facility contain customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among 
other things, limit the Company's ability to make distributions or certain investments, incur debt, incur liens and 
enter into certain transactions. At December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all such covenants.
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2023 Term Loan Facility

On June 30, 2016, the Company entered into a credit agreement with a syndicated group of lenders to make 
available a term loan facility that matures in June 2023 (the "2023 Term Loan Facility") in an aggregate amount of 
$100.0 million. On June 5, 2018, the Company's operating partnership and the Company entered into the Second 
Amendment (the "Second Amendment") to the Credit Agreement, whereby the Company's operating partnership, 
among other things, partially exercised its existing $100.0 million expansion option in an aggregate amount equal to 
$75.0 million, increasing the aggregate amount outstanding under the 2023 Term Loan Facility to $175.0 million. 
The Company also increased the remaining expansion option by $200.0 million, for a total expansion option of 
$225.0 million. If the remaining expansion option is exercised in full, the total expansion option would provide for a 
total borrowing capacity under the 2023 Term Loan Facility in an aggregate amount of $400.0 million.

 The entire outstanding principal amount of, and all accrued but unpaid interest, is due on the maturity date. 
Interest rates applicable to loans under the 2023 Term Loan Facility are payable during such periods as such loans 
are LIBOR loans, at the applicable LIBOR based on a 1, 2, 3 or 6 month LIBOR period (as elected by the Company 
at the beginning of any applicable interest period) plus an applicable margin, and during the period that such loans 
are base rate loans, at the base rate under the 2023 Term Loan Facility in effect from time to time plus an applicable 
margin. The base rate under the 2023 Term Loan Facility is equal to the greatest of the Capital One prime rate, the 
federal funds rate plus 0.50% or one month LIBOR plus 1.00%. The applicable margin for the 2023 Term Loan 
Facility is leverage-based and ranges from 1.30% to 1.70% for LIBOR loans and 0.30% to 0.70% for base rate 
loans; provided that after such time as the Company achieves an investment grade rating from at least two rating 
agencies, the Company may elect (but is not required to elect) that the 2023 Term Loan Facility is subject to the 
rating based on applicable margins ranging from 0.90% to 1.75% for LIBOR Loans and 0.00% to 0.75% for base 
rate loans. 

The Company is required to comply with the same financial covenants under the 2023 Term Loan Facility as it 
is with the credit facility. In addition, the terms of the 2023 Term Loan Facility contain customary affirmative and 
negative covenants that, among other things, limit the Company's ability to make distributions or certain 
investments, incur debt, incur liens and enter into certain transactions. 

2028 Term Loan Facility

On December 21, 2018, the Company entered into a credit agreement with Huntington National Bank to make 
available a term loan facility that matures in December 2028 (the "2028 Term Loan Facility") in an aggregate 
amount of $75.0 million. The entire outstanding principal amount of, and all accrued but unpaid interest, is due on 
the maturity date.  The Company has an expansion option under the 2028 Term Loan Facility, which, if exercised in 
full, would provide for a total 2028 Term Loan Facility in an aggregate amount of $125.0 million.

Interest rates applicable to loans under the 2028 Term Loan Facility are payable during such periods as such 
loans are LIBOR loans, at the applicable LIBOR based on a 1, 2, 3 or 6 month LIBOR period (as elected by the 
Company at the beginning of any applicable interest period) plus an applicable margin, and during the period that 
such loans are base rate loans, at the base rate under the 2028 Term Loan Facility in effect from time to time plus an 
applicable margin. The base rate under the 2028 Term Loan Facility is equal to the greatest of the Huntington 
National Bank prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50% or one month LIBOR plus 1.00%. The applicable 
margin for the 2028 Term Loan Facility is leverage-based and ranges from 1.80% to 2.35% for LIBOR loans and 
0.80% to 1.35% for base rate loans; provided that after such time as the Company achieves an investment grade 
rating from at least two rating agencies, the Company may elect (but is not required to elect) that the 2028 Term 
Loan Facility is subject to the rating based on applicable margins ranging from 1.40% to 2.25% for LIBOR Loans 
and 0.40% to 1.25% for base rate loans. 

The Company is required to comply with the same financial covenants under the 2028 Term Loan Facility as it 
is with the credit facility and the 2023 Term Loan Facility. In addition, the terms of the 2028 Term Loan Facility 
contain customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit the Company's ability to make 
distributions or certain investments, incur debt, incur liens and enter into certain transactions. 

2029 Term Loan Facility

On April 24, 2019, the Company entered into a credit agreement with BMO Harris Bank N.A. to make available 
an unsecured term loan facility that matures in April 2029 (the "2029 Term Loan Facility") in an aggregate amount 
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of $100.0 million. The entire outstanding principal amount of, and all accrued but unpaid interest, is due on the 
maturity date. 

Interest rates applicable to loans under the 2029 Term Loan Facility are payable during such periods as such 
loans are LIBOR loans, at the applicable LIBOR based on a 1, 2, 3 or 6 month LIBOR period (as elected by the 
Company at the beginning of any applicable interest period) plus an applicable margin, and during the period that 
such loans are base rate loans, at the base rate under the 2029 Term Loan Facility in effect from time to time plus an 
applicable margin. The base rate under the 2029 Term Loan Facility is equal to the greatest of the BMO Harris Bank 
prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50% or one month LIBOR plus 1.00%. The applicable margin for the 2029 
Term Loan Facility is leverage-based and ranges from 1.85% to 2.30% for LIBOR loans and 0.85% to 1.30% for 
base rate loans; provided that after such time as the Company achieves an investment grade rating from at least two 
rating agencies, the Company may elect (but is not required to elect) that the 2029 Term Loan Facility be subject to 
rating-based margins ranging from 1.40% to 2.25% for LIBOR Loans and 0.40% to 1.25% for base rate loans. 

On April 24, 2019, the Company also entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of 
$100.0 million that matures in April 2029 fixing the interest rate of the 2029 Term Loan Facility at an effective 
interest rate of 4.27%.

The Company is required to comply with the same financial covenants under the 2029 Term Loan Facility as it 
is with the credit facility, 2023 Term Loan Facility and the 2028 Term Loan Facility. In addition, the terms of the 
2029 Term Loan Facility contain customary affirmative and negative covenants that are consistent with those 
contained in the 2023 Term Loan Facility and 2028 Term Loan Facility, and, among other things, limit the 
Company's ability to make distributions, make certain investments, incur debt, incur liens and enter into certain 
transactions. 

2029 And 2031 Senior Unsecured Notes

On August 30, 2019, the operating partnership issued $100.0 million of 3.98% senior unsecured notes due 
August 30, 2029 (the "2029 Notes") and $50.0 million of 4.08% senior unsecured notes due August 30, 2031 (the 
"2031 Notes") in a private placement to certain institutional accredited investors. The senior unsecured notes are 
governed by a Note Purchase Agreement, dated July 30, 2019 (the "2019 Note Purchase Agreement"), by and 
among the operating partnership as issuer, the Company, and the purchasers of senior unsecured notes.

Interest is payable semiannually, on August 30th and February 28th of each year, commencing on February 28, 
2020. The 2029 Notes and 2031 Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and will be jointly and 
severally guaranteed by certain of the Company's subsidiaries, as subsidiary guarantors, upon issuance.  The 2029 
Notes and 2031 Notes rank pari passu with the credit facility, the 2023 Term Loan Facility, 2028 Term Loan 
Facility, 2029 Term Loan Facility, 2030 Notes and 2032 Notes (defined below). The 2019 Note Purchase 
Agreement contains financial covenants that are substantially similar to those described under the heading "Credit 
Facility" above. In addition, the terms of the 2019 Note Purchase Agreement contain customary affirmative and 
negative covenants that, among other things, limit the Company's ability to make distributions or certain 
investments, incur debt, incur liens and enter into certain transactions. At December 31, 2020, the Company was in 
compliance with all such covenants.

2030 And 2032 Senior Unsecured Notes

On October 22, 2020, the operating partnership issued $150.0 million of 2.99% senior unsecured notes due 
August 5, 2030 (the "2030 Notes") and $100.0 million of 3.09% senior unsecured notes due August 5, 2032 (the 
"2032 Notes") in a private placement to certain institutional investors. The senior unsecured notes are governed by a 
Note Purchase Agreement dated August 4, 2020 (the "2020 Note Purchase Agreement"), by and among the 
operating partnership as issuer, the Company, and the purchasers of the senior unsecured notes. 

Interest is payable semiannually, on August 30th and February 28th of each year, commencing on February 28, 
2021. The senior unsecured notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and are jointly and severally 
guaranteed by certain of the Company's subsidiaries, as subsidiary guarantors. The senior unsecured notes rank pari 
passu with the credit facility, 2023 Term Loan Facility, 2028 Term Loan Facility, 2029 Term Loan Facility, 2029 
Notes and 2031 Notes. The 2020 Note Purchase Agreement contains financial covenants that are substantially 
similar to those of the Company's credit facility. In addition, the terms of the 2020 Note Purchase Agreement contain 
customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit the Company's ability to make 
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As discussed in Note 2, the Company allocates GAAP income (loss) utilizing the HLBV method, in which the 
Company allocates income or loss based on the change in each unitholders' claim on the net assets of its operating 
partnership at period end after adjusting for any distributions or contributions made during such period. Due to the 
stated liquidation priorities and because the HLBV method incorporates non-cash items such as depreciation 
expense, in any given period, income or loss may be allocated disproportionately to National Storage Affiliates Trust 
and noncontrolling interests, resulting in volatile fluctuations of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share. 

Outstanding equity interests of the Company's operating partnership and DownREIT partnerships are 
considered potential common shares for purposes of calculating diluted earnings (loss) per share as the unitholders 
may, through the exercise of redemption rights, obtain common shares, subject to various restrictions. Basic 
earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by further adjusting for the dilutive impact using the treasury stock 
method for unvested LTIP units subject to a service condition outstanding during the period and the if-converted 
method for any convertible securities outstanding during the period.

Generally, following certain lock-out periods, OP units in the Company's operating partnership are redeemable 
for cash or, at the Company's option, exchangeable for common shares on a one-for-one basis, subject to certain 
adjustments and DownREIT OP units are redeemable for cash or, at the Company's option, exchangeable for OP 
units in its operating partnership on a one-for-one basis, subject to certain adjustments in each case. 

LTIP units may also, under certain circumstances, be convertible into OP units on a one-for-one basis, which 
are then exchangeable for common shares as described above. Vested LTIP units and unvested LTIP units that vest 
based on a service condition are allocated income or loss in a similar manner as OP units. Unvested LTIP units 
subject to a service condition are evaluated for dilution using the treasury stock method. For the year ended 
December 31, 2020, 420,280 unvested LTIP units that vest based on a service condition are excluded from the 
calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share as they are not dilutive to earnings (loss) per share. For the year 
ended December 31, 2020, 252,894 unvested LTIP units that vest upon the future acquisition of properties are 
excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share because the contingency for the units to vest has 
not been attained as of the end of the reported period.

 Subordinated performance units may also, under certain circumstances, be convertible into OP units which are 
exchangeable for common shares as described above, and DownREIT subordinated performance units may, under 
certain circumstances, be exchangeable for subordinated performance units on a one-for-one basis. Subordinated 
performance units are only convertible into OP units, after a two year lock-out period and then generally (i) at the 
holder’s election only upon the achievement of certain performance thresholds relating to the properties to which 
such subordinated performance units relate or (ii) at the Company's election upon a retirement event of a PRO that 
holds such subordinated performance units or upon certain qualifying terminations. Although subordinated 
performance units may only be convertible after a two year lock-out period, the Company assumes a hypothetical 
conversion of each subordinated performance unit (including each DownREIT subordinated performance unit) into 
OP units (with subsequently assumed redemption into common shares) for the purposes of calculating diluted 
weighted average common shares. This hypothetical conversion is calculated using historical financial information, 
and as a result, is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations, cash flows or financial position of the 
Company upon expiration of the two-year lock out period on conversions.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, potential common shares totaling 48.2 million, 54.2 
million and 50.6 million, respectively, related to OP units, DownREIT OP units, subordinated performance units,  
DownREIT subordinated performance units and vested LTIP units have been excluded from the calculation of 
diluted earnings (loss) per share as they are not dilutive to earnings (loss) per share.

Participating securities, which consist of unvested restricted common shares, receive dividends equal to those 
received by common shares. The effect of participating securities for the periods presented above is calculated using 
the two-class method of allocating distributed and undistributed earnings.

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Supervisory and Administrative Fees

For the self storage properties that are managed by the PROs, the Company has entered into asset management 
agreements with the PROs to provide leasing, operating, supervisory and administrative services. The asset 
management agreements generally provide for fees ranging from 5% to 6% of gross revenue for the managed self 
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storage properties. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred $16.4 million, 
$20.0 million and $16.9 million, respectively, for supervisory and administrative fees to the PROs. Such fees are 
included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying statements of operations. 

Payroll Services

For the self storage properties that are managed by the PROs, the employees responsible for operation of the 
self storage properties are generally employees of the PROs who charge the Company for the costs associated with 
the respective employees. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred $25.9 
million, $32.0 million and $29.5 million, respectively, for payroll and related costs reimbursable to these PROs. 
Such costs are included in property operating expenses in the accompanying statements of operations.

Due Diligence Costs

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred $0.5 million, $0.7 million 
and $0.4 million, respectively, of expenses payable to certain PROs related to self storage property acquisitions 
sourced by the PROs. These expenses, which are based on the volume of transactions sourced by the PROs, are 
intended to reimburse the PROs for due diligence costs incurred in the sourcing and underwriting process. For the 
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 these due diligence costs are capitalized as part of the basis of the 
acquired self storage properties.

Notes Receivable 

 In connection with the acquisition of 16 self storage properties from PROs during the year ended December 31, 
2014, the Company assumed certain mortgages that provided for interest at above-market rates. The sellers of the 
self storage properties agreed to reimburse the Company for the difference between the fair value and the contractual 
value of the assumed mortgages which amounted to $5.2 million. Due to the structure of the transaction, the amount 
owed to the Company was considered a receivable for the issuance of equity and was recorded as an offset against 
equity. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company received above-market interest 
reimbursements from the sellers totaling $1.0 million and $1.3 million, respectively. 

In addition, in exchange for $1.0 million and $1.3 million of principal payment reimbursements received related 
to these assumed mortgages during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company issued 28,467 and 
37,770 common shares to the sellers during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Self Storage Property Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company acquired one self storage property for $7.5 million 
from an entity that was partially owned by Arlen Nordhagen, the Company's executive chairman and former chief 
executive officer, and David Cramer, the Company's chief operating officer. Of the total consideration paid, Mr. 
Nordhagen's and Mr. Cramer's interest was approximately 58,376 OP Units with a value of $1.5 million and 29,689 
OP Units with a value $0.7 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company acquired one self storage property for $8.3 million 
from a company in which an entity controlled by J. Timothy Warren, a trustee of the Company, was an investor. Mr. 
Warren's adult children held an ownership interest in such entity. Of the total consideration paid, the interest of Mr. 
Warren's children was approximately 16,620 OP Units with a value of $0.5 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 11,100 subordinated performance units to an 
affiliate of Personal Mini (the Company's executive chairman and former chief executive officer, Arlen D. 
Nordhagen, has a noncontrolling minority ownership interest in this affiliate of Personal Mini), for $0.4 million of 
co-investment related to the acquisition of a self storage property from an unrelated third party.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company acquired one self storage property from the 2016 Joint 
Venture for $4.1 million.

Acquisition of Interest in Reinsurance Company and Related Cash Flows

On June 1, 2019, the Company, as acquiror, and Ground Up Development LLC ("Ground Up"), an affiliate of 
SecurCare and of the Company's executive chairman and former chief executive officer, Arlen D. Nordhagen, 
entered into a Contribution and Purchase Agreement (the "Ground Up Contribution Agreement") whereby the 
Company acquired Ground Up’s ownership interest (approximately 5.5%) in SBOA TI Reinsurance Ltd. (the 
"Reinsurance Company"), a Cayman Islands exempted company. The Reinsurance Company provides reinsurance 
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for a self storage tenant insurance program issued by a licensed insurance company, whereby tenants of the 
Company's self storage facilities and tenants of other operators participating in the program can purchase insurance 
to cover damage or destruction to their personal property while stored at such facilities. The Company will now be 
entitled to receive its share of distributions of any profits generated by the Reinsurance Company, depending on 
actual losses incurred by the program. As part of the transaction, the Company also acquired the rights to the access 
fees previously earned by Ground Up associated with the tenant insurance-related arrangements. For the Company's 
properties managed by SecurCare, in addition to the tenant insurance revenues the Company received directly from 
the program insurer, the Company also receives these additional access fees. 

The consideration paid for the interest in the Reinsurance Company was $15.1 million, which consisted of $6.6 
million of cash and 285,512 OP units totaling $8.5 million. Of the total consideration transferred, Arlen D. 
Nordhagen received $2.2 million of cash and 95,170 OP Units totaling approximately $2.8 million. The Ground Up 
Contribution Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Company 
and Ground Up.

The Company allocated the total purchase price to the estimated fair value of the assets acquired, consisting of 
$0.5 million of equity interest in the Reinsurance Company and $14.6 million as an intangible related to the acquired 
access fees and rights to control the tenant insurance-related arrangements. These assets are reported in other assets, 
net in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The intangible asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over 25 
years, which approximates the weighted average remaining useful life of the SecurCare-managed properties, and is 
recorded in depreciation and amortization expense in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedings 

The Company is subject to litigation, claims, and assessments that may arise in the ordinary course of its 
business activities. Such matters include contractual matters, employment related issues, and regulatory proceedings. 
Although occasional adverse decisions or settlements may occur, the Company believes that the final disposition of 
such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations, or 
liquidity. 

13. LEASES 

The Company determines if a contractual arrangement is a lease at inception. As a lessee, the Company has 
non-cancelable lease agreements for real estate and its corporate office space that are classified as operating leases. 
The Company's operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and operating lease 
liabilities in its consolidated balance sheets. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at 
commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As the Company's operating 
leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company used its incremental borrowing rate based on the information 
available at commencement date in determining the discount rate for the present value of the lease payments. To the 
extent that the lease agreements provide for fixed increases throughout the term of the lease, the Company 
recognizes lease expense on a straight-line basis over the expected lease terms.

Real Estate Leasehold Interests 

The Company has eight properties that are subject to non-cancelable leasehold interest agreements with 
remaining lease terms ranging from 14 to 72 years, inclusive of extension options that the Company anticipates 
exercising. Rent expense under these leasehold interest agreements is included in property operating expenses in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and amounted to $1.8 million, $1.6 million and $1.6 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Office Leases 

The Company has entered into non-cancelable lease agreements for its corporate office space with remaining 
lease terms ranging from two to eight years. Rent expense related to these office leases is included in general and 
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and amounted to $0.4 million, 
$0.3 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Fair Value Disclosures

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities and equity securities reflected in the balance sheets at December 31, 2020 and 2019, approximate 
fair value due to the short term nature of these financial assets and liabilities. The carrying value of variable rate debt 
financing reflected in the balance sheets at December 31, 2020 and 2019 approximates fair value as the changes in 
their associated interest rates reflect the current market and credit risk is similar to when the loans were originally 
obtained. 

The fair values of fixed rate mortgages were estimated using the discounted estimated future cash payments to 
be made on such debt; the discount rates used approximated current market rates for loans, or groups of loans, with 
similar maturities and credit quality (categorized within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy). The combined principal 
balance of the Company's fixed rate mortgages payable was approximately $223.6 million as of December 31, 2020 
with a fair value of approximately $249.7 million. In determining the fair value, the Company estimated a weighted 
average market interest rate of approximately 2.12%, compared to the weighted average contractual interest rate of 
4.69%. The combined principal balance of the Company's fixed rate mortgages was approximately $264.3 million as 
of December 31, 2019 with a fair value of approximately $280.9 million. In determining the fair value as of 
December 31, 2019, the Company estimated a weighted average market interest rate of approximately 3.28%, 
compared to the weighted average contractual interest rate of 4.81%. 

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Self Storage Property Acquisitions

In January and February 2021, the Company acquired 13 self storage properties for approximately $84.5 
million. Consideration for these acquisitions included approximately $78.1 million of net cash, the assumption of 
$0.6 million of other working capital liabilities and OP equity of approximately $5.8 million (consisting of the 
issuance of 126,867 OP Units and 31,119 subordinated performance units). In connection with these acquisitions, 
the Company reimbursed the PROs for approximately $0.2 million of due diligence costs related to the self storage 
properties sourced by the PROs.

Subordinated Performance Unit To OP Unit Conversions 

Subordinated performance units are convertible into OP units after a two year lock-out period and then 
generally (i) at the holder’s election only upon the achievement of certain performance thresholds relating to the 
properties to which such subordinated performance units relate (a "voluntary conversion") or (ii) at the Company's 
election upon a retirement event of a PRO that holds such subordinated performance units or upon certain qualifying 
terminations. 

Following such lock-out period, a holder of subordinated performance units in the Company's operating 
partnership may elect a voluntary conversion one time each year prior to December 1st to convert a pre-determined 
portion of such subordinated performance units into OP units in the Company's operating partnership, with such 
conversion effective January 1st of the following year with each subordinated performance unit being converted into 
the number of OP units determined by dividing the average cash available for distribution, or CAD, per unit on the 
series of specific subordinated performance units over the one-year period prior to conversion by 110% of the CAD 
per unit on the OP units determined over the same period. CAD per unit on the series of specific subordinated 
performance units and OP units is determined by the Company based generally upon the application of the 
provisions of the operating partnership agreement applicable to the distributions of operating cash flow and capital 
transactions proceeds.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company received notices requesting the conversion of 32,741 
subordinated performance units. Effective January 1, 2021, the Company issued 63,033 OP units in satisfaction of 
such conversion requests.
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Dear Fellow Shareholders,
2020 was certainly a year of grief for both our nation 
and the world as we saw countless lives lost to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. But once again the self storage 
sector and our company demonstrated resilience in 
the face of economic disruption. The strength of our 
team and our differentiated Participating Regional 
Operator (PRO) structure proved beneficial in both 
mitigating the downside pressure on earnings in 2020 
and delivering a strong recovery in the fourth quarter 
of the year. We finished 2020 with solid internal 
growth in the fourth quarter in addition to having 
our busiest quarter ever in terms of wholly-owned 
acquisitions. Further, we continued our track record 
of increasing our common stock dividend twice per 
year, to a level representing 84% growth since our 
IPO in April 2015.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

ARLEN NORDHAGEN
Executive Chairman

TAMARA FISCHER
Chief Executive Officer

NATIONAL STORAGE AFFILIATES

In 2020, we invested over $550 million in the acquisition of self storage properties 
and welcomed a new PRO, Blue Sky Self Storage, to the NSA family. We also 
delivered sector-leading double-digit growth in core FFO per share, in part due to 
the successful internalization of our largest PRO, SecurCare. These strong results 
drove an 11.7% total return for NSA shares in 2020, greatly outpacing total 
returns of the MSCI US REIT index (RMZ), which declined 7.6%. 

Our momentum in the fourth quarter has continued into 2021 as occupancy 
remains near all-time highs, and our revenue management strategies continue 
to drive results. We believe the current migration trends to sunbelt, suburban 
and secondary markets—what we call the “Triple S Migration”—will continue 
for the foreseeable future, which provides a nice tailwind to our portfolio 
fundamentals, given our significant exposure to these markets.  

With 2020 marking our five-year anniversary as a public company, it is worth 
highlighting our fundamental outperformance since our IPO compared to our 
publicly traded storage peers. Most notably, during that time, NSA has delivered 
the highest total shareholder return, core FFO per share growth and same store 
NOI growth of our public self storage REIT peers. And we are confident that we 
can continue to deliver excellent results for the foreseeable future.

We are encouraged by the trends currently driving growth in self storage 
demand, including: work from home, learn from home, a booming housing 
market and pandemic-driven business needs. We think these drivers will 
continue to fuel self storage demand throughout the year. Further, 2021 is 
shaping up to be a favorable year for external growth as there is a healthy 
volume of properties coming to market.

Here is what you can expect from us in 2021:

• Continued robust external growth via our multi-faceted acquisition strategy, 
facilitated by our ten PRO acquisition teams in addition to our corporate 
acquisition team;

• Further evolution of our technology platform to drive efficiencies and 
revenue maximization;

• Maintenance of a conservative balance sheet and access to multiple 
sources of capital to support external growth; and

• Continued corporate responsibility, environmental stewardship, social 
responsibility and shareholder driven corporate governance policies.  

Our dedication to our core values of Integrity, Accountability, Humility and 
Compassion forms the foundation of how we operate as a company.   
We look forward to continuing our service as prudent stewards of your  
capital, while keeping the interests of all stakeholders in mind.

In closing, we thank our team members nationwide for their dedication  
and perseverance through a challenging year, our PROs for their leadership, 
our Board of Trustees for their valued counsel and you, our investors, for your 
continued support.

1 Since NSA’s IPO on April 23, 2015 through December 31, 2020.
2Storage Sector Peer Average represents the simple average of CUBE, EXR, LSI and PSA.
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1  Assumes $100.00 invested on December 31, 2015, with dividends reinvested. The Performance Graph will 
not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing by NSA under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that NSA specifically 
incorporates the same by reference. 

2  The table above contains a non-GAAP financial measure, Core FFO per share, which is defined in our most recent Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Core FFO per share is presented 
because our management believes it helps investors understand our business, performance and ability to earn and 
distribute cash to our shareholders by providing perspectives not immediately apparent from earnings per share (loss). 
It is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties. The presentation of Core FFO per 
share herein is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information 
prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative measure of liquidity. 
In addition, our definition and method of calculating this measure may be different from those used by other companies, 
and, accordingly, may not be comparable to similar measures as defined and calculated by other companies that do not 
use the same methodology as us. Reconciliations of Core FFO per share to its most directly comparable GAAP measure 
for the three months ended March 31 in each annual period from 2016 through 2020 and the three months ended June 
30, September 30 and December 31 in each annual period from 2015 through 2020 are publicly available on the SEC’s 
website as Exhibit 99.1 on Current Reports on Form 8-K pursuant to Item 2.02, which NSA has furnished to the SEC for 
each applicable quarter end referenced above.

DIVERSITY & INCLUSION
Approximately 58% of our over 
900 employees are women and 
approximately 28% self identified as 
racially or ethnically diverse.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Our ESG steering committee was 
formed in 2019 and reports to the 
CNCG committee of the Board.  
We remain committed to enhancing 
the diversity of our Board of Trustees 
— 27% of our trustees are diverse 
based on gender or race.

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT
NSA provides effective, efficient,  
and engaging learning solutions that 
help our employees train for today, 
learn for tomorrow, and develop for 
the future.

ENERGY SAVINGS
We have completed LED lighting 
retrofit projects at more than 500 
of our properties since October 
2018, with estimated annual energy 
savings of more than 11 million 
kilowatt-hours.

CHARITY INITIATIVES
NSA donates $1 per rental at 
participating stores to Feeding 
America, a nationwide network of 
food banks that feeds more than 40 
million people through food pantries 
and meal programs in communities 
across the U.S. and leads the nation 
in the fight against hunger.

P
R

O
P

ER
TI

ES

200
100

2020

821
742

675

515
448

277
219

137100

2019201820172016201520142013FORMATION

300
400
500
600
700
800
900

1,000

OVER 700% GROWTH SINCE FORMATION

CAPTIVE PIPELINE 3RD PARTY ACQUISITIONS NEW PROS

STRATEGIC JOINT VENTURES

NATIONAL STORAGE AFFILIATES TRUST S&P 500

MSCI US REITNAREIT ALL EQUITY REIT INDEX

RUSSEL 2000

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



More
Growth
in Store

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

8400 East Prentice Avenue, 9th Floor 
Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111

(720) 630-2600  

NATIONALSTORAGEAFFILIATES.COM

Please recycle after reading.

NSA
LISTED

NYSE
FSC LOGO

N
A

T
IO

N
A

L
 S

T
O

R
A

G
E

 A
F

F
IL

IA
T

E
S

   |   A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

2
0


	tx25x38pf_WEB.pdf
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Table of Contents






	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Forward Looking Statements






	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART I
	Item 1. Business







	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART I
	Item 1A. Risk Factors







	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART I
	Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments







	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART II
	Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Overview








	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART II
	Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Results of Operations








	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART II
	Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Critical Acccounting Policies and Estimates








	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART II
	Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Non-GAAP Financial Measures








	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART II
	Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk







	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART II
	Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
	Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
	Item 9A. Controls and Procedures







	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART II
	Item 9B. Other Information

	PART III
	Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
	Item 11. Executive Compensation
	Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
	Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
	Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

	PART IV






	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
	Item 16. Form 10-K Summary








	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
	Index to Financial Statements
	Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm








	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS
	2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES









	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	3. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS









	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS









	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
	13. LEASES









	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS









	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Blank Page






	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Blank Page






	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Bookmarks
	Blank Page










